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INTRODUCTION ’

In recent yesrs many historians such as Bolten, Rippy, Kemny, Chepmenm,
Bandelier, t0 name a few, have recognised ths contribution of the padres to
colonial development im Spanish North America. The work of the Society of
Jesus in the various republics of Scuth America has been the theme of several
South American historians, including Vargas Ugarte, Restrepo, Turlong,
Navarro and Leite. The attention of these authors has been focused largely
upon the educational and missionary developments duwring the seventeenth and
eighteenth centuries.

It is the purpose of this study to present s clear account of the
organization and the expansion of the ivork of the Society of Jesus in the
viceroyalty of Peru during the sixteenth century, to the time of the division
of the vast province. The traditional approach to Jesult history in Spanish
America has stressed the Florida episode al a stepping stone to the founda-
tions of New 8pain and of Peru. In deviating from this 1nterpriotation, the
writer has devoted twp chapters to place the episocde of Florida in ite propﬁ'
alignment, and to indicate the influence of the Brazilian and Portugu‘ei.
provinces upon the expansion of J’esuﬂs activities into Spanish Amoricg, This
study has noted the work of many individuals, such as Barcena, Martfnes and
Samaniego, whose biographies would afford worthwhile contributions to the

field of colonial history.
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CHAPTER Y
BRAZILIAN BACKGROUNDS ‘

Many writers have assumed or have stated that the widespread activities
of the Bociety of Jesus in the Americas began to all practical purposes in
Florida in 1566, in Peru in 1568, ani in New Spaim ir 1572, The vanguard of
the Jesuits, according to this same approach, was the group of missionaries
sent to Florida in two uctiony, one led by Father Pedro Martines in 1566,
and the other led by Father Juan Bautista de Segura a year later. It is
also é.uumd and stated that the Spanish fathers were the inaugurators of
these entrances into the New World. These notions, howewer, stand in need
of considerable revision, for the story of the worldwide evangelization
projects of the Jesuits begins in Portugal, and their missionary and educa-
tional beginnings in this hemisphere were made not in the Spanish poneuionﬁ
but in Brazil. BSeventeen years defore Martinez set foot on Florida the
first Jesuits arrived at Bahia, now Salvacior, Brazil. Actually twenty five
years of missionary experience in India and seventeen years in Brazil lay
behind the Jesuits before their Florida enterprise was begun. The story of
all this may be briefly surveyed and certain facts hitherto unrelated may
thus be brought into a better perspective and aligmment.

The Society of Jesus was given official papal approval as a m
religious order on September 27, 1540, Already Ignatius Loyola, the founder]
had adopted the plan of dispatching members of his Company to foreign

1 _
fields. The main objects of the missionaries?! endeavors were to be con-

1 Jercme V. Jacobsen, "Jesuit Foundations in Portugal and Brazil,™ Mid-




versions of the Mohammedans to the Catholic Faith. King John TII of
Portugal was instrumental in altering these plans. On August 23, 1539, he
had asked, through his smbassador to Rome, both Pope Paul III and Ignatius
for members of this new Order who might be sent to his overseas possessions
in Indis. What influence this request had upon the Pope's decision to
approve the new Order is not immediately clsar, but the weight of the word
of John III at Rome was not small. Actually, before the Order was approved
by the Pope, Bimon Rodrigues and Francis Xavier had been sent by Ignatius to|
Lisbon in answer to the king's request. Father 8imon Rodrigues arrived there
in March, 1540, and Father Francis Xavier reported at the Portuguess court
in April.

Por & year the two Jesuits preached in Portugal with zeal and force.
Then Jobn, changing his original plan, sent Xavier to India, April 7, 1541,
and kespt the younger Rodrigues in Lisbon. By his labors and miracles in the
orient, Xavier becams 8t. Francis Xsvier. Rodrigues, disappointed at not‘
going to India, began & very notable carser. On Jamary 5, 1542, he had
opened the first Jesuit house in Portugal. By May there were seventeen
young men studying to become Jesuits. On Juns 13, Rodrigues with twelve of
these beginners arrived at Coimbra and there established the Colegio de
Jesus of the University of Coimbra. This became the most important training
center for Jesults who later went to the Americas. Of the seventeen '
students housed here in June of 1543, two were from Castile, two from Francy,
three from Italy, three Portuguese, and the remainder from other nations.
By 1544 there were seventy. Rodrigues was the spiritual, literary and

scientific guide of these young men, since he had been named superior of
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all Jesuits in Porgugal. When this college became the official Arts Cellege

of the University of Coimbrs in 1553, there were 318 members in 4he Province
of Portugal, many of whom were in the mission fields of Indis, China, Japan,
and Brasil.

Most significant of a mumber of activities of Rodrigues and the Portu~
guese Jesuits had been the spread of trainees of Coimdbra to Spain, Simon
Rodrigues actually appears responsible for the beginnings of the Province of
Castile and that of Aragon. He suggested the step to Ignatius. In 1544 he
sent seven Jesuits trained by hiu;self from Coimbra t0 open the Collsge of
Valencia, which was the beginning of the Jesuit Province of Aragon. If thess
hai been imbued with the spirit of Simon Rodrigues they assuredly felt the
mission urge. Philip I of Spain at first was opposed and indifferent to
Jesuit begimnings in Spain. Rodrigues asked John IIY of Portugal to recommend
them. John did so, to tns effect that in 1547 Prince Philip permitted the
erection of the Province of Castile and the subsequent activities of the
Jesuits in Spain. Clearly the new Spamish provinces of the Society, which
wers soon to send men to the Americas, owed much to Portugal.

These facts, deriving from the writings of the Portuguese historians,
have not as yet become familiar to readers of the history of the Company,
probably bocauu‘they have been published chiefly in the Portugusse language.
Nor bas the influence of Coimbra, well imown among historians, been suffi-
ciently brought to the attention of English readers, either as regards the
constitutional formation of the Jesuit Order or as regards its missionary
and educational influsnces. One may read a long time in the Spanish accounts|

without coming across any indication of the inspiration received from

Portugal. Ons reason for this may be a certain nationalistic tendency on the
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part of the later Spanish writers. A more logical reason may well lie in the
fact that, as far as the Jesuits were concerned, no national lings had been
dramn between Spain and Portugal in the early years of the Society. This
latter reason gains force in view of the ;amingn against and condemmation of
any particular love of one's own country. To Ignatins there were no
Spaniards, French, Portuguese or Italian - all were bound by the common rules
of the Society, all were in a universal brotherhood which transcended and
even oObliterated national doundaries.

Both Spanish and Portuguese Jasuits had been gofng out of Lisbon to
follow the footsteps of the great Xavier. Requests were coming from various
places, 80 much 30 that Father Antonio Araos, writing to Ignatius from Madrid
April 24, 1549, says that there was a request for men from Mexico and then
adds, "... if we were to go to all the places to which we are asked we would
have more houses than ocholasticn."‘ The Portuguess possessions seemed to
have first call, and of these the great lure for the gealous Jesuits was
India and the Moluccas in the orient. King John III witnessed the fulfill-
ment of his dosire to have the gospel spread in his overseas possessions. He
was finally forced to turn his attention to his bedraggled colony of Brazil.

Simon Rodriguss had been urging the court to send missionaries to the newest

3 "All must beware of that feeling through which those of one nation are
wont to think or speak unfavorably of another; rather they must both think
well of and bear in our Lord peculiar love for those of other countries.”
Regulas Societatis Jesu, Common Rules, 28, and Summary of Constitutions,
no. 43.

4 Monuments Historis Societatis Jesu, Epistolae Mixtas, Madrid, 1908, I,
357-358.




Portuguese colony, and, in fact, had himself received permission to embark
with twelve anuipaniom for that land in 1548. The corrupondmc: containing
the many invitations to the Jesuits to come to the Amoﬂcu is interesting
but it has been utilized in English only as far as the Spanish Jesuits are
concerned, without mention of the direct and indirect pressure which the
Portugnese fathers and nobles brought to bear upon Ignatius to send men to
the foreign missions.

The story of the miseion of the Jesuits to Brazil nsed be studied only
for purposes of getting the chronological order of the missionary and educa~
tional advance into the Americas and how their work in Brazil induced the
Spanish provinces to send men. In general, the kings of Portugal made every
effort to facilitate the svaugalisation of the Brazilian lands and backed the
Company of Jesus wholeheartedly, which was rather in contrast to the attitudeq
of the kings of Spain.

Thomé de Sousa arrived at Bahia on March 29, 1548. Wigh him was Father
Manuel da Nobregs and five companions, the first Jesuits on American lc»n.5
Almost immediately this famed superior bos;n to write letters back to Portu-
gal asking for aid and new helpers and describing the field in America as
wonderful for those imbued with missionary zeal. These letters and those of
the other Jesuits are the first of the Jesuit "Relations™ of the Americas,
the forerumners of this type of appeal brought into such prominence by;’nuhcn
G. Thwaites. Like other letters from Xavier in the orient, they warokﬁrud
by the fathers and brothers in Portugal and, as has been stated, many of
thoss then in residence in Portugal wers of Spanish origin, who later

$cJerome V.Jacobsen, "Wibrega of Brasil,* Mid-America, (July, 1943), XXIV,
1651-187.




returned to their own country and provinces after having imbibed the
missionary spirit at Coimbra. In fact, the first Spanish Jesuit, father to
arrive in America came with Nobrega's original bani. This was Juan de
Aspilcueta Navarro. Navarro, born ianto the noble house of Aspilcusta in
Navarre, was related to both Ignatius LOyola and Francis Xavier, and was g
nephew of the noted Dr. Martim Aspilcueta who held chairs of Theology &
Coimbra and at Salamanca. Certainly with this fm:l.,ly prestige and with
these relationships Father Navarro would have been known in both Spain and
Portugal, and his departure for Brazil would have bben an event. He was
constantly mentioned in the various letters sent from the fathers in Brazil
to the Jesuits in Portugal and Rome. His own letters advertized the needs
of Brasil and its possibilities, and there are evidences to show that they
were transleted from Cugﬂim into other languages. They were addressed to
the brothers in general. B8Still, those that went to Coimbra were in
Castilian, where there were stuiying some Spanish Jesuits. In the tradition
of the Society, letters from far lands and letters of general interest are
passed from hand t0 hand or at times are posted for gensral reading or even
read in the refectories, and this fact which cannot be pinned down by docu~

mentation has much to do with the spread of knowledige from membder t0 member é

™~

and house to house and province to province in the history of the Jesuits.

6 Cartas Jesuiticas, II, Cartas Avulsas, Rio de Janeiro, 1931, 54, for sn
account of Navarro, and 164 for his obituary. In this volume of documents

there are three letters of Navarro, pages 49, 69, 146; these are in
Portuguese translated from a printed edition in Italian, which in turn
were translated into Italian from the original Castilian Spanish. Another
letter of his is found in Serafim Leite, Novas Cartas Jesuiticas, Rio

de Janeiro, 1940, 154,




It had much t0 40 with developing an esprit de corps and breaking down
national barriers, since interests, in this case miuionu"y and Brasil,
became common to all members. Famed José de Anchiets, a Canary Islander,
was then in training at Coimbra, as was Antonio Blasques, & Castilian. Poth
of these went t0 Brazil with the Jesuit expedition of 1853. Two other
Spaniards went with the 1563 expedition. In other words, five of the first
thirty Jesuits going to the New World before the Florida expedition were of
Spanish origin. Clearly, knowledge of America as a likely outlet for
missionary zeal radiated from Brazilian Jesult missionaries to Portugal,
Spain and Rome. It will be interesting to see how kmowledge of Peru arrived
at Jesuit headguarters by the same route.

The Jesuits alded in the foundation of the new capital of Brazil at
Bahia in 1549 Once this city was founded their missionary spread began.
Nébrega was director of the activities, missionary, appraiser of Brazil's
possibilities and pioneer explorer. His letters back to Portugal, begging
for men, for clothing, and for a bishep, who arrived in 1553, wers at first,
enthusiastic. His later letters are realistic. They had a cumlative effect
on the seal of the Portuguese and they inspired the Spanish Jesuite to enter
the mission fields, ani the progress toward holding and developing Brasil
may have had its influence upon Philip II.

The general tenor of his letters to Simon Rodrigues and to his brethern
in Portugal presems a very significent oontrast. On the ons hand Nobrega
describes the ignorance, superstition, idolatry, concubinage and camibalism
prevalent among the natives of the coast, dut offers a more enticing though
vagus picture of peoples beyond the coasts in the vast unknown




sneste Thus he writes of Brasil and its “... thousand leaguss of coast, all
porulated by pecple who go sbout mude, both men snd women, except in seme
places very distant from where we are, where the women are clothed in the
manner of Gypsies, in cotton cloth, as the land is coldor,-.."a Without
definite information about the hinterland, the ever alluring sert¥o, Nébregs
was presenting the challenge which the unexplared areds offered to him, and
in an indefinite manner, had reference to the tribes of Peru and Paraguay.
The names of these places wers just becoming familiar in 1549. Straight
west of Bahia lay the land originally granted to l’ramuco Pizarro under the
nane of Nueva Cutina.g 8traight west of southern Brazil beyond the Line
of Demarcation lay the grants originally made to Diego de Almagro and Pedro
de Mendoza. The former of these was called Nuevo Toledo, and the latter Rfo
de la Plata, and the dividing line between these two was 36°31°36°, which
fell at the confluence of the Paraguay and. Pilcomayo Rivers. Twenty miles
below this confluence the city of Asuncién had been founded in 1536, at the
very top of the Ric de la Plata grant. The original grants of Pigarro and
Almagro had been merged after the deaths of the two conquerors and by 1549

7 Wobrega to Ignatius, 520 Vicente, March 25, 1555, Berafim Leite, ed.,
Novas Cartas Jesuiticas, 540 Pamle, 1940, 58. N&'broga to Miguel de Torres,
September 3, 1567, Bahia, Ibid., 68-89. "ors told Ignatius that Nébrega
intended to ask the governor's permission to go to Paraguay. Gr& to
Ignatius, Piratingngu, April 7, 1587, Ibid., 183,

8 Valle Cabral, ed., Cartas do B;u;l, ngu Jesujiticaes, Rio de Jmiro,
1931, I, 97.

9 cmt !m 4. C. Wilgus, The Develorment of Hispanic America, New York
1841, 106,
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the Kingdom of Peru was divided into two parts, each under its own governcr,

L 2

Lower Peru with Lima as the capital, and Upper Peru with Cusco the seat of
government. These were temporary arrangements until 1561 when the Vice-
royalty of Peru was established. Paraguay had its own governors, though it
was joined with the Viceroyalty of Peru in an indefinite way. Hence No/broga.
in referring to far away peoples, had in mind the uniefined Paraguay and Peru
lands and their clothed inhabdbitants.

A more immediate means of learning about the peoples of the south and
west was at hand. There were in the vicinity of Bahia some Indians who had
been Christianized. They quickly aroused the curiosity of the Jesuits. The
Iniians said that they had been brought to the north from a land far to the
south, as captives. Their story and their kmowledge of Christian things and
their docility arcused Nobrega to action. These Indians were Carijés, or
Guaran{, and their land was Paraguay. XNobrega wrote of them?:

The tribes are of different castes, some
being called Goyantes and others Carijés.
This is a tribe better than any on this
coast. Not many years ago two Castilian
friars were among them teaching, and they
took so well to the doctrine that they now
have houses of recollection for the women
a8 well as friaries and other [ houses ] for
. mene And this continmed for a long time,
until the devil led a boat of robbers there,
and they captured many of these (Carijés].
We are working to restore the captives, and "
we have some ready to be taken to their omn £
land, with whom will go one of our fathers. 10
This was writtem in late 1549 or early 1550, some fourteen ysars after

the foundation of Asuncién. Apparently, the early friars had instructed

10 Cabral, I, 98.
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well in the center of the Guaran{ lands. But the gquestion of the Yboat of
robbers® needs some investigation. It is difficult to see how %he boat
could have made itw way up the Plata-Parana waterway on any raid. No
Spanish boat would bave attempted such an act against & Spanish tom. Nor
would a Portuguese band of raiders come that far by the rivers. The other
possibility is that ths boat of robbers set cut with their prey from the
southern coast of Brasil and they were in all probability Portuguese or
French. 8¢111 there remains the question: How did they get the Guaran{
who lived so far inland?! The answer is that they either went inland by
same road, or, the Guaran{ came to the coast and were there captured.

Now, the Guaran{ knew and used & jungle road which wound its way from
Asuncion to the coast, and this road has considerable import as an approach
to Peru from the east. The road with its various dbranches was a pre-
Colombian, transcontinental route used by the Indians of various tribdes,
and by it a traveler could make his way from southera Brazil to I-iml.n
There were arparently two termini of this road on the Atlantic side, one at
8&0 Vicente and one at the Isle of Santa Catherina. From Sio Vicente the
road led through Piratininga, now Si&o Panlo, to Sorocaba, to Botucatu, thnxq
crossed the series of rivers to Tibagl, then to Ivai and Piquiri. Between
these latter two places and midway between the rivers bearing their nsmes

the road branched, one way leading south to the Iguagu River and the “otber

11 Serafim Leite, Histéris da Companhis de Jesus no Brasil, Lisboen, 1938,

I, 333-334; Alfredo R. Martins, "Caminhos Historicos do Parand,"
Cincoentenario da Estrada de Yerro do Parania, Curitadba, 1935, 25.
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continuing westward to the confluence of the Iguagu and the Parani. Just
gouth of this confluence the way was west to Asuncién. The road.from Santa
Catharina led inland in a northwesterly direction until it came to Iguagu,
whose direction it followed to junctions with the other read.

Nobrega set to work t0 undo the injustice to the Guaran{., When Thomé
de Sousa had it pointed out to him that it was against the law to hold
natives in slavery and when it became clear to him that these Guaran{ had
been taken captive in Spanish lands or from Spanish lands and were now
actually in the possession of Portuguese, he ordered them released and
returned to their homes. This command quite suited the purposes of Nd rogb..
which was t0 investigate ¢bhmpletely the possibilities of missions to the
southe Twelve Guaranf were therefore put aboard a boat going to 830 Vicente,
and these were under the care of Father Leonardo Nunes. This missionayy
pioneer arrived in S0 Vicente in 1550, and has become known as the earliest
®ipostle of the State of Si@o Paulo," and the "flying father™ because of his
many journeys and labors. He it was who pointed the way to Paraguay, and
indicated the better possibilities for evangelization in the south of Braszil.
He may be said to bave been the first Jesuit on the *transcontinental high-
way" toward Peru. There is no telling how far westward these Portuguese
might bave carried their missions if the road had not suddenly been blocked
to them. I

By 1551 Father Nunes had completed his chapel at 8ao Vicente and was
ready to sally forth into the hinterland. He made the Journey with four

12
interpreters. Nunes wrote a report ¢f this journey and hie findings to

12 Serafim Leite, "Jesuitas do Brasil na Pundaclio da Missao do Paragusy,"“

Archivum Historicum Societatis Jesus, Jan-June, 1937, 1-2, which article
later was published as a chapter in Histéria da Compahnia de Jesus no




(Nebregs after his six or seven months of travel. " The letter reveals severa)
important findings about Paraguay and Peru and leads to other m‘portant
conclusions.

There were Castilians in S3o Vicente, the Portugusse coastal town.
These had come by land from Peru and Paraguay. They complained of Spaniards
oppressing the natives, and Nunes observed that the Spaniards in Paraguay
were a source of scandal t0 the natives. They needed help. There were
ten priests in the land, nine of whom were of no account, since they had
practically given up their calling. There was & dire need for priests for
the Spaniards and missionaries for the Indians, who longed to become
Christians. The Christian Indians were very fervent and edifying, and the
others were of the highest promise. The Castilians wanted the fathers to
come with them, lest everybody go to perdition. Nunes offered plans for
going t0 Paraguay.

From the letter it is clear that nobody seamed to bother much about
the laws separating Spanish and Portuguese dominions and the roads between
the two colonies were open and good. Nor 'wu there much knowledge about
the extent of the Guaran{ and Paraguay lanis, nor any definite boundaries
set. It was not even clear where Paraguay ended and Peru began or where
Brazil ended and Paraguay began. The frontiers seemed open t0 missionaties
of either Spain or Portugal, and they ueﬁad the only remedy for the ?.}1.
of both colonies. )

Nobrega arrived in S& Vicente from Bahia in 1553 full of a resolve to

13 According to Leite, Histdria, I, 333, Nunes began his trip in 1551. The
letter of Nunes to Nobrega is dated June 29, 1552. For a discussion of
the problem of this dete and for the letter itself see Leite, Novas
Cartas Jesuiticas, Si&c Paule, 1940, 133.




go to Pa.ugw.n ‘Invitations were added to those already given., In late
May, 15563, one of the founders of Asuncién, Antonio Rodrigues, aspmeared in
83o Vicente, wishing to take back with him some of the Jeluits.ls On June
13, 15563, the German soldier, Ulrich Schmidel and the Spanish Captain Rui
D{as Melgarejo, came into the town with the request that the Jesuits retwn
with them to their cities in G'uair‘.ls Under these circumstances the
Jesults were willing and anxious to spread their missions inland.

But reasons of state intervened to keep the Portuguese Jesuits from
going to Paragusy or beyond to the Peruvian territory. Thome de Sousa had
brought the fathor- to care for the spiritual needs of Brazil, where there
was plenty of work for them and plenty of roome. Asuncidn was over the line
in Spanish territory, and hence not to be intruded upon. If the Jesuits
left the coastal settlements, the people might follow with sad results for
the Brazil colony. Under these conditions he prohidbited the Jesuits from
going beyond the Line of Dmrcation;r"

This in no wise stopped the Spanish settlers from advertising thetr
need of Jesuit fathers and advertising the land of Paraguay and Peru in
Furope. Captain Juan de Salazar sent letters from Paraguay asking for
Jesuits, These got to Philip II in 1554. Rumors began to spread in doth
the Spanish and Portuguese courts that their respective subjects in the
Braszil-Paraguay area were not only fraternizing but were infiltrating into

forbidden lands., Nébrega wrote to Ignatius about going west to Paraguay,

14 Leits, Histéria, I, 335.
15 Ibid., I, 335-336.

16 Ibid., I, 335.

17 Ipid., I, 3a7.
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put Ignatius then nearing the end of his 1life, simply said that if he were
to go he would have to ask permission from the Spanish court. King John III
of Portugal ordered Duarte da Costa, the new governor-general of Brazil,

4o forbid Jesuits going to Paraguay, July 23, 1564, These lebbers mal
prohibitions certainly aroused interest in Spain and Portugal for in both
places armadas were gotten up filled with settlers to go to the region. The
King of Spain was favorable to the idea of Jesuits, though not fram Portugal,
going to his lands.

The foregoing account seems sufficient for the purposs of showing that
interest in the south and western parts of South America as a suitable
missionary field for the Jesuits was aroused and stimulated by the Portu-
guese fathers and was conveyed to the Spanish members of .tho Society in bdoth
Portugal and Spain. The Paraguay story does not end here. Father Leite
in the cha.ptor'wo have been citing, continues that story and presents all
the evidence to show that Ndbrega and his successors contimously maintained
their interest in the west and alded in the establishment of the famed
Parsaguay reductions.

It 18 interesting to note that the first rector of the Jesuit College
of Coimbra was a native of Valencia, Diego Mirém, who became Provincial of
Portugal in 1552 and was the Assistant to the General from 1565 to 1573.

The first Visitador to the Province of Portugal was alsc a Spania.rd.,A;Qr.
Miguel de Torres, who had been trainad at Coimbra; he conducted his |
visitation of the Jesuit houses in Portugal in 1552 and 1553. And the famed

18 Ibid., I, 337-343,
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Commissarius, St. Francis Borgia, was in Portugal fram 1564 to 1561. Hence

pach of the direction of mission work during the early years of the Society
was from Portugal.ao

Wnile the Jesuits in Brazil did not initiate the activities of the
Society in Peru, it was through their efforts that the question of expansion

into the New World, in Spanish America, was first taken into consideration.

19 Franeisco Rodriguss, 4 Companhig de Jesus en Portugal e nas Missaoges,
and ed., Porto, 1935, 14, 19. This is a compendium of facts and tables
concerning the Portugusse provinces and missions.

20 The dates of the arrival of Jesuits in foreign fields from Portugal are

as follows:
1542 India 1560 Monomatapa i
1546 Moluccas 16656 Macao ’
1549 Japan 1579 Mongolia
1549 Brasil 158 China
1657 ©Ethiopis 1598 Pegu and Bengal




CHAPTER II
THE FLORIDA APPROACH '

The purposs of this chapter will be to put the episode of the Florida
missionary work of the Jesuits in its proper perspective in relation to the
gensral field bf the Americas and in relation to the particular provinces
of New Spair and Peru. It will be seen that Tlorida was no stepping stone
to the great developments of education and missions in the latter two areas
but was rather an event which retarded their beginnings. v

The writers on the coming of the Jesuits to Florida state openly or
leave readers under the impression that Florida was the beginning of
missionary work in the Americas, that the Jesuits failed there, and that as
a result they sought better fields in the more civilized parts of Spanish
America. The efforta of the Jesults in the barren Florida and the martyr-
doms, in this interpretation, were supposed to have proved a decided stimu-
lus to the fathers in Spain to get to tho—Americu. No part of this inter-
pretation can be substantiated by the facts, and there is sufficient
documentation t0 upset the whole tradition.

As to stimilus for the Jesuits of Europe to go to missionary fields
abroad, we see that Spanish Jesuits were quite well stimulated by 8plni!h
cemradu going to India, Japan and Brazil under the sponsorship of Portugul.
Long before Florida was thought of as a field, 1nv1tationl had come from
many parts of the Americas. Waat actually diverted the Jesuits to Florida
was the glid tongue and business ambition of Pedro Menéndes de Avilés, as
will be shown later. The Jesuits did not fail in Florida, but rather
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returned to their early plan and went elsewhers.

The reason for this interpretation lies in the volume of Féther Fran-
cisco de Florentia, published in 1692.1 The reason for deserting this inter~
pretation can be found in the volumes of Father Anirés Péres de Rivas.
Pérez de Rivas had completed his long work in manuscript in Mexico before
1650, He does not mention Florida either as a stepping stome for the
Jesuits to New Spain or as an incident in the history of the Province of
New Spain. In his biographical sketch of Father Juan Bogol,z who had been
in Florida, he mmti@ the Florida affair but only as part of the life of
Rogel. His remark at the end of this description is significant:"Then
Father Rogel went by order of the Father Vice-Provincial to Havana and from
there passed to this our province where he livod....."s The distinctions are
quite clear. Pérez de Rivas did not consider Florida or the Vice-Province
as part of the history of New Spain. Father Plorentia, using Rivas,
glamorized the episode.

Father Franeisco Javier Alegre, writing his Historis de la Provincia
de Nusva Espafa at the time of the suppression of the Society, begins his
three volumes with the Florids episode, using it a&s an approach to the
North American scens of Jesuit activities. He is the first to hint at the
scheme of Menéndes in bringing the fathsrs to Florida, although his treat-

ment of the character of the Adelantado is altogethsr too uncriticals’

1 Francisco de Florencia, Histdria de Provincia de 1a C de Jesd
de Nusvs Espafia, Mexico, 1692.
2 Andrés Parez de Rivas, Cordnica y Histéria Religiosa de la Provincia de
fifa de Jesus de Mexic va ¥ , Mexice, 1692, II, 212-213
3 Ibid., II, 213. | T
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Bearing these points in mind it will be well now to proceed with &
chronological account 8€ the advance of the fathers of the Spanigh prodinces
jnto the Americas. The invitations from the Americas to the Jesuits are
recordo.d in Florentia and in Alegre. The noted Bishop of Michoacén, Vaxco
de Quiroga, the Augustinian, Father Francisco del Torral, Bishop of Yucatan,
Father Diego de Chave, second Bigshop of Michoac&n, Friar Agustin de la |
Corufia, Bishop of Popayén, $he Dominican Alonso de Montifar, and such
prominent laymen as the Visitador Valdorr‘am and the Marqués del Yalle,
Martin Cortés, sought the padres for their lands .4 Lack of manpower prevented
a response to these requests. Moreover, other religious orders, Franciscans,
Dominicans and Augustinians were already in New Spain. Peru however, was &
newly opened land.

St. Francis Borgia discussed plans for establishing the Society in
Peru with the recently approinted Yicoroy; D. Andrés Hurtado de Mendoza, in
1555.5 Borgia instructed Miguel Torres, the Provincial in Andalucia, to
appoint men for this undertaking. He wrote to Loyola: "In Cordoba I gave
Father Provincial Torres directions concerning an expedition to Perue...

Those who should be sent to Peru, in my opinion, are Fontova, who is

4 Pares de Rivas, I, 10-14; Florentia, ch. i; Pelix Zu'billaga, La Norida:

a Mision gggggicg (1566-1672) y 1a Colonizaci¢n Espafiola, Rome, 1941,
I 208-209; Monuments Higtorice Societatis Jesu, Sanctus Franciscus
:B.grg;l_g, quartus gandjae dux et Societatis Jesus Prmgs;g%l Goneralgg
Tertius, Madrid, 1908, (Hsreafter cited as Borgia Letters), III, 785
786
5 Pablo Pantelh, :

- : y y £ ’ 33&
Ios docmsntgl griginalu dgl Arch:lvg General de Indias, Madrid. 1918,
I, 85; Borgia to Michaeli Turriano, C6rdoda, February 21-27 1555 Borgi_g
g;;grn, III, 192-197.




stationsd at Valencia, and Suares, who is in Salsmanca." According to these

directions given Torres, the expedition to Peru had bdeen agrlod"upon defin-
itely, for Borgis stated: "The mission ... that has been granted to the
viceroy of Peru[ Mendosa ]should be under your jurisdiction. Among Suares,
Fontova and Mingajon, the two who seem most devout in the service of God
should be selected.™ Fathers Gaspar de Asevedo and Marcos Antonio Pontovs
met Mendozs in August, 1555, at Seville, prepared to accompany him to Peru.
Borgia appeared pleased with this new venture. "Those who have been #@mirtag
patched to Psru are already professed," he reported, "and they go at a very
opportune time, for this land is now subdued and there are afflicted ones
who may be relieved. Those at Seville, my father, are exceptionally texper-
ate for which reason I have selected them for Granada and for Poru."'? A
technical error on the part of Mendosa, however, prevented tml departure.
Borgia explained the change of plans to Loyola, writing:

I appointed three who prepared to depart
(for Perul and they went to Sevillé last
August, and at the time of his embarkation,
spoke with the viceroy who said he was
prepared to provide for the religious who
were ready to accompany him, and that he
had sent to Valladolid for a license in
order that they could sall with him, and
would in all probability obtain permission;
they sent word to me immediately asking

me t0 secure a license from the Council,
otce I replied that since the viceroy

did not have the license already, I did
not wish t0 procure it...and that they
could simply leave the viceroy and return
to those places where I previcusly assigned
thene One Father Gaspar F de Asevedo]
returned to Burgos and is rector there;

6 Borgia Letters, III, 192,
7 Borgia to Loyola, Sertimances, August 23, 1555, Borgia Letters, III, 238,




and the second, Mtro. [Marco Antonie)
Pontova went to Murcia; and thus the
departure was prevented for our howr Pe
has not yet come. 8
Again in 1559 it seemed probable that Borgia would dispatch a few
members of the Society to Peru. According to his letter 'to Lafnes, the
Conde de Nieva had requested both the king and himself for Jesuits to work
in Pem.9 Borgia favored sending four priests and two lay brothers, and
suggested for provincial Father Rodrigues "who has acted until now as
rector in the college Valladolid, a man learned in theology, and an exem-
plary religious, who has given a fine example in all matters of obedience
and who is exceptionally competent in adminiotrating."mn the same time he
suggested "Father Portillo, rector of the house of probation at Simancas,
Who ee. 18 10 loss qualified than Dr. Rodrigues and who has a remarkable
talent for preaching," and Father Maestro Martines “who preaches well and
works with fervor and spirit." He recommended that the fourth member of thou
expedition be either Father Gupar de Fuente or Father Bautista de Segura.
This cipodition too, failed to materialize, although we do not know exactly
why o |
Petitions for members of the Society continued. Augustin de Coruiia who
was concecrated Bishop of Popayén in October, 1564, urged Borgia to send
men t0 his diocese, and at the same time the Bishop spoke of the dire need
of Jesuits in New Spain and in Peru. With optimistic anticipation, Ooruia.

had secured a royal license permitting him to take twenty four Jesults to

8 Borgia to Loyola, Ascalone, February 35, 1556, Borgis Letters, III, 2865,

9 Borgia to Laines, Caeliscoleto, June 9-16, 1859, Borgia Letters, III,
494-503 .

10 Ibig., III, 785-786.
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Popeyan, provided that Borgia would approve the plam. Borgia replied that

he appreciated Coruiials efforts but all plans for the establishgyent of new
provinces or missions would have to be zig-tpomd until the election of a
General which was t0 be held that year.

At this point negotiations for Jesuit expansion into the areas of New
Spain and Peru were camplicated by the Florida project promoted by Pedro
Menéndez de Avilés. The story of the French expeditions to Mlorida and of
Spain's counterattack has been told.ls The need for protection of the silver
fleets passing from the Americas to Spain by way of the Florida coasts was
critical.u Jean Rtbaut‘ of Dieppe left Havro»l‘obrwy 16, 1562, and, after
two and a half months, established his colony at Ghn.rlufort.mninboth of
England was interested also in this French expedition.

Already, in September, 1881, Philip II discouraged by this same
Ménindw, had ammounced his intentions of abandoning uttuupﬁl at defonsive
expansion in Florida. Mendéndez, an experienced navigator and corsair huntep
had accumulated a considerable fortune in his ventures. In 1549, after he
defeated Jean Alfonse and his son, Charles V granted Menéndes and his
descendants a commission to fight corssairs and allowed him the spoils that

16
he might capture. In 1554 he was appointed Captain General of the fleet

11 Borgia to Corufia, Rome, May 12, 1566, Ibid., III, 796. 4

12 Ibjd., III, 796. In 1568 when Borgia was elected General there wers
eight Jesuit yprovinces, 130 establishments, and 3,500 members in the
Society. L.Schmitt, Bynopsis Historise Societatis Jesu, Ratisbone, 1914,
Column 57.

13 Woodbury Lowery, The Sranish Settlements within the Present Limits of the

United States: Florida, 1562-1574, New York, 1905.
14 In the years 1564, 1567, and 1568 about $30,500,000 was shipped to Spain.

Ibid., 6. See "Registered Gold and Silver Imported into Spain from the
Woest Indies, 1560-1569," Ibid., 387-389.

15 Ibid., 30, 37, 49.

16 Ibid., 123,
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by the king, contrary to the wish of the Casa de Contratacién which had nom-
17
jnated Tello de Gusman for the post. Upon bis return from the dmericas in

but they were declared innocent by the Council of Indies. TFrom 1557 to
1560 he was engaged primarily in pursuing pirates on the coast of Spain and
Nanders. In Jamary, 1560, Menéndes commanded an armada to New Spain.
Although he had been instructed to remain in New Spain no more than fifty
days he failed to return to Seville before July, 1561, after remaining in
New Spain for hn months. Apparently he saw no prospects for Florida and so
informed the king. This expedition was followed by two more trips to New
19

although the precise charges against him are somewhat confused. Menéndes
was released after serving twenty months time, and paying a fine of 1,000
ducats, half of which was remitted by the k:lng.zo Meanwhile Philip II had
reversed his policy with regard to Florida, and had decided upon active
measures t0 expell the French intruders. He issued orders to this effect,
and placed a Don Hernando de Manrigue de Rojas in command of an expedition
in May, 1564. Manrique returned to Havana the following June, having dis-
covered only the remains of a deserted French colony.zl

The second French expedition led by Rivé de Laudonniére and equipped by
Coligny, sailed April 22, 1564, and landed at St. Johns June 12th.22 iy

Laudonniére erected Fort Caroline and here established his colony of 200

17 Ivid., 123.

18 Tbid., 127.

19 Tbid., 134-135, 137.
20 Ipid., 138.

21 Told., 46-48.

22 Tbid., 78-87, 89-92.

1556 both he and his brother were accused of nefarious dealings by the Casa,
18

Spain. In 1563 he was imprisoned upon order of the Casa for dubiocus ddslings
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including 150 soldiers and four women. Since no pastor accompanied this
colony it can scarcely seem that this was primarily intended as & haven for
the Hugacnoﬁ. Laudomniére’s lot was unbappy, for he was beset with mutinous
soldiers who made piratical raids upon the Spanish fleet, and with the diffi-
culties encountered with the fickle Florida natives. The third French
expedition with 300 colonists under Jean Ribaut arrived at Florida during
the latter part of August, 1665, shortly after John Hawking, the notorims
English pirate, had visited melonniéro.zalt was clear that these French
intrusions were part of Coligny's scheme to prey upon the Spanish wealth in
the Americas.

These facts are significant for indicating motives for the occupation
of Florida. On the other hand, it should not be forgotten that attempts had
been made to evangelize by the Dominican fathers led by Fray Luis Cancer de
Barbastro. Murthermore, the Luna expedition, like all previous attempts to
occupy the land, had falled by 1561. To all sppearances Florida and its
Indians was of no use t0 anybody. Menéndez advised the king to this effect
in 1561. But for reasons best known to himself he suddenly changed his
mind. From his past record we might guess that the reason for the change
was the presence of pirates in and around the Florida waters, and for years
past the Adelantadg had been accumulating a fortune by capturing pirates.
When it is lmown why Menéndez had been sentenced to jail, much light will
be thrown on his character.

Philip II granted Menéndez a contract March 20, 1565, which placed him
in complete control of the Floéida onterprisa.uma Adelantadots purpose in

23 Ibid., 95.

24 Herbert E. Bolton, The Spanish Borderlands, New Haven, 1921, 14; Text of
contract, 140-141; Lowery, 142-146.
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seeking this grant may be gleaned frém a glance at his contract. Briefly,
Menénies was to bring 500 colonists, 4meluding 100 soldiers, 100*sailors,
and 100 laborers and farmers to establish at least two settlements in l'loridnL
His group was to include four Jesuits and ten to twelve réligim of any
order he should choose. He was to explore the gulf coast of Florida and the
coast from the Keys to Newfoundland. The primary and most immediate obliga-
tion was the expulsion of the French. He assumed the financial responsibil-
ity for the expedition investing the equivalent of almost $2,000,000. This
jncluded his own funds and money which he had borrowed. In return, Menéndes
was granted exclusive control of the commerce between Florida and the

clossest sections of the West Indies, and an exemption from import and export
duties for & limited period. This indicates the business aspect of the
venture. He was appointed captain-general of his fleet for six years, aad
given the title of Adelantado of Tlorida, a title to be held by his decend-
ants in perpetuity. Ail spoils captured from pirates by his men for a
period of five years were to be his. In addition to this, he was allowed

a grant of land twenty-five leagues square, as well as a fish and pearl
fishery which he could establish wherever he saw fit. His annual salary of
3,000 ducats was to be collected from the rents and'produco of the colonists,
As jdelantado he could assign repartimientos to his settlers.

In anslyzing this contract l.everal points are significant. nrsé"of
all, Menéndez invested all of his own funds and borrowsd heavily to finsnce
the undertaking. Comsequently the enterprize must be regarded as a business
venture, and as such must be made to pay dividends. The most plausible and

immediate hope for remuneration lay in the possibility of lucrative raids

upon the French pirates and others who might lurk around the Florida coast.
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He could in his position call anyone who came near the shores a pirate.

Once doing so, he was free to take whatever the intruder owned. “It was to
the Adglgggo"s advantage to exploit the Florida soil, and in this he could
recsive valuable assistance from the missionaries who might convert the
Indians, pacifying them sufficiently that they might prove capable of yro-
ducing profits for Menéndez through their labor. He had exclusive authority
in Florida, with both settlers and clergy under his control.

It seems very probable that Mensndez was aware of the progress in Brazil
when he undertook this Florida venture. The successful boginningl of Thome
de Sousa and the governors of Brazil, who acted not as entr‘opremuro bt as
employees of the govermment of Portugal, may have stimmlated the Adelantado's
ambitions. For there too, the French in the 15608 attempted to establilsh
& foothold, and it might be added they were expelled in 1567 with the aid of
Indians trained by the Jesuits., The progress of the padres among the Bra~
ziliuﬁ Indians gave a stability to the colony which fostered its economic as
well as its educational and spiritual progress. It is possidle that Men $ndesp
insistent requests for Jesuits were prompted by his business sense primarily,
rather than an interest in the spiritual welfare of the inhabitants of
Florida. Certainly his subsequent failure to afford sufficient protection
and assistance for the missionaries indicates little zeal on his part fpr
the conversion of the natives. X
Having obtained royal permission to bring Jesuits to Florida, Mén&doz

25
required the consent of Borgia, whom he knew. In his efforts to obtain

25 Some of the members of the Council of Indies were opposed to the sending
of Jesuits to Florida even though Philip II approved. Alegrs, I, 5.
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Borgials cooperation, Menéndez painted an attractive and equally inaccurate
picture of Florida as a mission field, descriding the territory ap:

in the vicinity of New Spain and the
northwest part is very close to Tartaria,
China, and Makuco; and this land of

Florida may be part of the land adjoin-

ing Tartaria and China «... These lands

and provinces are vast and the people

here are groping blindly for the faith.
This is a land of comfortable tempera-

ture and altitude. 28

He added that his license to take the fathers with him would be official in
three months although he hoped to obtain a special privilege in this regard
and have the Jesuits accompany him sooner.

Borgia was interasted in the statement regarding the proximity of norid#
to the Par East where the Society had already commenced notable miuienl.w
As Vicar-General he agreed to send three men to l‘lorid.u'.zalhthor Jerénimo
Portillo was to be superior of the group which would include either Father
Juan Bautista de Segura, Father Pedro Martinez and Father Juan Rogel or
Father Pefia de Salamanca. ’

Meanwhile, in September of 1565, Menéndes directed the notorious
massacre of the Frenclmen whom Ribaut left in ncridu.ag This slaughter was
not merely a battle betwsen Catholic end Huguenot, for, as Lowery puts it,
*,..when seventeen years later, measures were under way in England for $hei -
sanding of a Roman Catholic colony to Florida, Philipts ambassador, Mendoza,
informed the leaders that in the event of such an undertaking Ythey would at

once have their hsads cut off as was done t0 the French who went with Jean

26 Menéndez to Borgia, March, 1565, Borgia Letters, III, 162,
27 Ivad., III, 783. |

38 Borgia to Rector at Madrid, May 12, 1565, Ibid., III, 798.
29 Lowery, 172<184.
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Ribaut.!" 30’1‘11- massacre was, moreover, part of the task of MenSndez and OnJ
from which he might derive some financial return. Men#ndez conjinued his
punt for Frenchmen anf any other intruders he might discover in the vicinity.
At the ssme time he hoped to align the fickle natives to assist him in his
pursuit. In the latter respect he thought it wise and expedient to “marry™
a sister of the cacigne Carlos, although he bad a wife in Spain (whom, by
the way, he had not ssen for ten yeaxs).slPrelumbly the bigamy was part of
Menéndez! plan t0 make a go of his business venture. The Jesuit writers
keop a strange silence concerning this affair, in fact too much silence to
leave us unsuspicious. But from what follows it is clear that they had
finally appraised Menéndez and the nature of his undertaking.

Menéndez repeated his requests for Jesuits. Philip IT issued a royal
cedulg to Borgia, March 3, 1566, to the effect that twenty four members of
the Society should be selected for missionary work in America, although he
did not stipulate that all of these be directed to norida.sz It seems
evident that Borgia was not deluded by the Adelantado's professions of zeal
on behalf of the infidel natives. Indeed he was spprehensive of the entire
setup. Hse expressed his doubts in a letter to Father Aracz writing that it
was his hope that missionary pursuits be primarily for the service of God
and not for the aggrandizement of the king or of any individual,. %

With his requests reenforced by royal orders, Menéndez succeeded in

having Fathers Pedro Martinez, Juan Rogel and brother Francisco Villarreal
34
sail for Florida in April, 1566. The story of the arrival of the Jesuits

30 Ibid., 206-207.

31 Ibid., 237-238.

32Borgia Letters, IV, 192; Diego Carillo to Borgia, May 16, 1565, IV, 237.
33 Borgia to Antonio Araoz, Rome, April 8 & 30, 1566, Ibid., IV, 228-227.
34 Zubillaga, 217-234.
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bas been told in various ways and especially without much critical analysis
of the events. The point about which we are chiefly concerned is that
Menéndes gave their boat no pilot. They set out from Havana looking for San
Agustin. It is not certain where they landed nor has there been any explan-
ation of the mutiny aboard the boat. Menéndez cammot be excused for not
having a guide for these fathers to whom he had promised so much and for
whon he yearned 8o piously. Martinez and three members of the crew were
slain by the natives on the shore of Florida in September, 1566 .35 Rogel and
Villarreal were blown by & storm back to the northern coast of Espafiola and
remained at Montecristo until November when they went to Havana. They were
given a small house in a swampy section, where Menéndes hoped they would
train men for work in Flc:ri.dal..:s6
Borgia, who had not been satisfied with the Florida situation, was even
mors disinclined towards pursuing this field upon hearing of Marti{nez!
fatc.37Novortheleu he agreed, in March, 1567, to send more men to néidu,
but at the same time he appointed Portillo Provincial of Peru. Portillo’
protested strongly against dispatching any members of the Society to Florida
In June of 1567 he wrote to Borgia complaining that Menéndes had misrepre-
sented the nature of the Florida land and of its people:
The Florida project is not .... designed as
pictured and as Pedro Menéndez has described
and directed. I have been informed by many
people and have seen in the histories that
the people of Florida are all treachsrous
and how hostile they are in wars against the

Christians; so nmuch so that we cannot enter
their land unless, in accordance with the

35 Ibid., 243; Rubén Vargas Ugarte, Los Martfres de la Florida, Lima, 1940,
82"'83:
36 Zubillaga, 249.

37 Monumenta Bistorica Bobadillas Monumentas, Madrid, 1913, 475; Borgia to
g H . M % M 1 & 4 A8 ¥ g 427 "
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instructions of Your Paternity, accompanied

by many people, for otherwise it would de

nothing less than slaughter as has been the

case with many of those who have occupied  °

this region. And now Pedro Menéndez writes

here that even with 800 soldiers they did

not venture to go out from their forts, for

each hour the Indians come to the forts to

kill. 38
Be continued saying that Rogel, in Havana, was also opposed to pursuing the
Florida miassions. "And s0," he wrote, "ten of us will go to Peru:® five
priests and five brothers.” Peru was preferable to Florida for the fathers
fcome not to conguer but to evangelize."

Segura was appointed vice-provincial of Florida in August, 1587, five
months after Portillo had been named Provincial of Peru. The expedition was
not primarily concerned with Florida as we know it today but with the lands
to the north which ascording to Menéndez were adjacent to the China of
Jesuit dreams or were close £0 an imaginary strait that led to China. Segura
and nine companions upon the insistence of the Adelantado, accompanied the
Indian Don Imis to Axacén. Rogel's report to Borgia stresses the explicit

: 40
demand of Men#ndes that the Jesults undertake this dangerocus mission. The
Jesuits were slain between February 4 and February 9, 1571. This blow
crystalized Borgia's decision to abandon Florida and to seek fields with more|
prospects for spiritual conguest.

This was not a dudden decision. Borgia had been dissatiefied with the

Florida project from the beginning. He certainly favored expansion from

Peruvian centers in preference to Florida. He wrote to Portillo in August,

38 Portillo to Borgia, Hispall, June 14, 1567, Ibid., IV, 495-498.

39 Ibid., IV, 533, 8637, 639, 697,

40 Juan Bogol to Borgia, Bq& de la Madre de Dios de la norida, August 28,
1572, Astrain, II, 640-644.
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1567, that when he had appointed Segura to this expedition, ... it was my

intention that he act as superior of one of the missions of the ¥ndies,
' 41
though you were to be provincial of all these parts." The Florida missions

as part of the Adelantado’s scheme, wers not to claim the services of all the|
padres sent to the New World. DBorgia stipulated that "It seems best that
they bs directed to go to the City of the Kings."

Portillo had had only harsh criticism for Monnfadu, while he coﬁotantly
urged that the Society be established in Peru. He wrote to Borgla June 26,
1567

On two or three occaseions I have warned Your
Paternity as well as the Father Provincial of
this province and the Father Rector of this
college that it is my opinion until a more sat-
isfactory explanation is given me than I expect
can be presented, that this Florida mission
should not be pursued.

The information we havse here concerning these
reocple is that there are no organized nations
and consequently there is no political wmity, but
merely many individuals; they thrive on killing,
like wild beasts, and are not united but indeed
g0 a8 savages encountering other savages; and
afterwards they return to their caves. They go
naked, and are extremely treachercus, for which
reason there can be scant hope of owr Company's
attaining much towards the conversion of these
infidels. The Father and brother who were there
with Father Mart{nes who is in glory are still
on the island of Havana, and they, reluctant to
return to this land, have not gone there, and e0
it 4s with the soldiers of Pedro Menéndez, etc.
And thus, perceiving how different is the informa~ »5
tion given me here from that which has been pre- '
sented by Pedro Menéndesz, namely that this is a
densely populated land with an organized nation,
etc., I would not send priests to that land with-
out receiving your decision or rather considering
whether it would be best and whether this would
be the most fruitful field im harvesting souls for
the glory of God at the present time. Already I

41 Borgias to Portillo,Rome,August 13, 1587, Borgla Letters, IV, 514-DI0.




have written to the same effect to Father Bustamante
and to Father Araoz. You should determine wheSher

it i1s wisest to postpone this mission, in order %hat

I may be more thoroughly informed regarding the
situation and whether our going there would be most
fruitful in the service of God. There is a licence
from the king here, permitting four Jesuite to go

with the governor of Honduras, a copy of which 1is
transcribed in this letter. It appears to me that
this would be a more fruitful mission than Florida. 42

Portillo suggested Honduras as a port of embarkation for Jspan or China, He
reported also that those persons whose opinions he respected, were agreed
that Peru offered more opportunity for achievements and he added that Peru
was the land "... where the king originally hoped to send the Society."“ﬁo
reasoned that in Florida the Jesuits were merely aides to Menéndes in the
exploitation of the natives.

Menéndez was singularly unsuccessful in recruiting competent clergy
other than the Jesuits according to the report of Chaplain Mendou.“Solfn
de Meras 3sid that of the seven pridsts who sailed with the Adelantado from
Cadis in July, 1568, throo deserted with thirty of the crew at Havanufs
Evidently the Jesuits were not alone in tﬁoir reluctance to0 undertake the
evangelizing of Florida under the circumstances.

In summary, it seems éloar that the Florida venture of the Jesuits was

not a stepping stone t0 Peru much less than to New Spain. It was simply an

episode which retarded Jesuit beginnings at Mexico and at Lima.

’
%y

42 Portillo to Borgia, Hispali, June 26, 1567, Borgia Letters, IV, 486-487.

43 Portillo to Borgia, Hispall, July 14, 1567, Ibid., IV, 495; Portillo to
Borgia, August 13, 1587, IV, 514.

44 Lowery, 265.

45 Ibid., 1562; Zubillaga, I, 85. Origipally Menéndes had insisted that only
Jesuits be permitted to go to Florida. Borgia to Segura, Rome, October
30, 1667, Borgia Letters, IV, 533, 837, 539.




CHAPTER III
THE LAND OF PERU 1531-1568

The land of Peru was only on the threshold of political and religiocus
organization by 1568. The era of the conquistadores followed by the period
of civil disorder rendered the task of organizing the province difficult,
and this task was all the grsater in view of the vagtness of the viceroyalty
A great portion of the land was unexplored, and indeed, much of this terri-
tory» remains unknown to the white man to this day. However, key bases for
future expansion had been laid. Thers was a gerious shortage of oclergy in
the viceroyalty for educational and missionary work. The field for spiri-
tual conguest was large, and the need for religicus orders imperative.

The preliminary steps of the Jesuits toward Peru have already been
fecounted. While Pedro Menéndes was 8till asking for more men for his
Florida venture, petitions were arriving for members of the Society of
Jesus, or Company of Jesus as it was then known, who would aid in the evan-
gelization of Peru. From the viewpoint of the King Philip IY, there could |
be little choice. The religious orders established in Spain had each con-
tributed a quota of men to both the Kingdoms of the Indies, New Spain and
Peru. Dominicans, Franciscans, Morcadarians and Augustinians were already
Eméﬁ ‘Bpm snd some of each of these orders were working in Peru. There
were no others in Spain to call upon but the Jesuits, since Benedictines
were given t0 the strictly conventual life. And Philip II, if he were to
tulﬂmil his contractual portion of the roysl patronage, had to see to the

spiritual care of his Indies. Already the fear of the French gaining a
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foothold in Florida was waning in Spain. Pirates, partly because they

feared Mendéndes, partly because there were less stormy waters and more prof-
itable spoils in the mainland towns, were not so interested in waiting
around Florida for months for ships bound for Spain. The Council of the
Indies was opposed to the sending of more Jesuits to Florida, where there
was no gold or silver. In the piocus expressions of the Ning it is of course
difficult to trace sordid motives, but we know that the King ahd Council and
the House of Trade werse interested in getting profits. Apparently their
respective interests in the business project of Menendez was on the wane,
and Menéndes himself was losing prestige along with his fortune. Disasters
began to stalk Menénles and his Florida enterprise by 1568.1 So 1t was that
the powers of Spain became more interested in the development of Peru which
held far greater potentialitiss from & business aspect.

The viceroyalty of Peru, in 1568, included the area from Pansma to the
Straits and from the Pacific to Venesuela and Brazil, comprising the present
republics of Argentina, Chile, Colombia, Peru, Ecuador, Panami, Paraguay,
Uruguay and part of Bragil. The magnificient Andes ranges extending two
hundred miles in width, except in Bolivia where they widen out to four
hunired miles, cut the region between the coast and the hinterland, impeding]

2

travel even as they do to the present day.
3

Several distinct native cultures occupied this territory. The Chiboha,

1 Bolton, 154=156.

2 Preaton E. James, Latin America, New York, 1942, offers the most lcholarlﬁ
physical description of the land and 1ts pecple.

3 Miles Poindexter, The Ayar Incas, New York, 1930, I, 248-266; Erland

Nordenskiold, Origin of the Indiap Civilization in South Americae, Goteborg,
1931; Clements R. Markham, Narratives of the Rites Laws of the Incas,

London, 1878; Philip A. Means, The Rise and Fall of the Inca Empire,New
Tork, 1929; Means, Ancient Civilizations of the Andes, New York, 1931,
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dwelling in the Cundimarca plateasu with their center near Bogota, were not
encountered until the conquest of Jimenez de Quesada in 1536-1538. Politi-
cal rivalries between the Zipa at Bogot‘ ard the Zague at Tunja impeded much
of the progress the natives might have achieved. Archeologists find they
were comparatively skilled in agriculture and clothmaking, although their
tools were made chiefly of wood or stone. Their anmal sacrifice of a man
powdered with gold dust at Lake Guativita gave rise to the legend of "El
Dorado® which lured the Spaniards and others on countless expeditions.

The sun-worshipping Incas whose “empire" extended from the equatorial
regions down to the Atacama desert of Chile, from Quito to the Maule, domin-
ated the scene at the time of the Spanish conquest. Their center during the
sixteenth century was at Cuzco, while in centuries past earlier civilized
groups had erected splendid stomne structures at Tiahuanaco, 15,000 feet abovq
sea level. Quechus and Aymara were the most common languages in their
empire. The people had developed an elaborate system of terracing the land
for irrigation, were skillful in the arts of weaving and dying cloth, and in
metal work, constructed suspension bridges, built plain but massive fort-
resses, and practiced a method of skull surgery, trcpahing, vhich has
baffled modern sedicine. They had no system of writing, but they used the
guipu as a counting device. Their government was despotic with emphasis
upon militarisme At the time of the Spanish conquest, two brothers hat
divided the empire in a fratricidal struggle. From the ensuing disension
emerged Atahualya as Inca. The Spanish conqusrors overthrew his rule by
1533.

Civilization seemed to have sloped away from the highlands, and the

farther one went from the Inca stronghold the more savage were the tribes.
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The southern portion of Chile was inhabited by fierce, semi-nomadic
Arawcanians. Over the mountains, in the Paraguayan region, were the more
docile Guaran{ and Tupi. The natives of the Argentine area, generally
grouped as the Quanaso, were very like the natives of the. North American
plains, nomadic, frequently fierce, usually fickle. As indicated in Chapter
I, the tribes in the Plata area were a lure to the Jesults in Brazil,

The advance of the Spanish conquerors into South America is a very
frequently told tale. It need be summarized here only for the sake of con-
tinuity and in the summary there will be sufficient data to indicate the
political and religious difficulties prior to the advent of the Jesuits.

Pearls lured the conguerors of the West Indies southward from Espafiola
to the northern coast of South America. The terrible condition of the land,
the poiscned arrows of the savages of northern Venezuela and Colambia pro-
pelled the early expeditionaries westward to the Isthmus of Panama. Mission-
ary expeditions found the natives as inhospitable and treacherous as those
of Florida.

The north coast of the Isthmus of Panamé was equally inhospitable.
Balboa went over the ridge to view for the first time the Sea of the South,
or the Pacific, but his sxecution by his father-in-law, Pedrdrius Dévila,
prevented him from exploring the South Sea. Then Pedrfirius founded Panami
in 1519. This important foundation gave the Spaniards an outlook to *tho
mysterious south. ¥Fram this base minor expeditions sallied forth in quast
of rdich peocples until 1531 .4 Then Francisco Pizarro, Diego Almagro, and

5
Father Valverde headed the expedition of conquest. Within two years, the

4 As Curtis Wilgus, Development of Hi erica, New York, 1941,101.
§ William H. Prescott, Congusst of Peru, New !ork 1901, II, 486-490;

Bernard Moses, Spanish Bule in America, New York, 1929, 110-139.
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pandful of Spanish troops occupied Cusco, November, 1533. Cuzco was estab-
lished a8 & capital in the mountains on March 31, 1534, and in the following
January, Lima, the City of the Kings, was founded near the <:.oaM;.6 This was
the year in which St. Ignatius and his early followers were organiszed in
Paris.

From the new centers at Cuzco and Lima the conquest and exploration
radiated in various directions. Quarrels and strife arose between the Span~
ish leaders. These resulted ultimately in the violent deaths of nearly every
one of the leaders. Diego de Almagro was executed by the Pizarro faction in
1538. His son then led & revolt in which Francisco Pizarro was assassinated
at Lima in 1541, Young Almagro in attempting to overthrow the Spanish
governor met defeat and execution in 1542. 8paln, awakening to the danger of
rampant individualism, named Blasco Nifez de Vela the governor and Captain-
General in 1544. Thén came the biggest threat to Spanish authority. Gonsalo
Pizarro revolted, defeated and killed the governor January 8, 1546, and set
about daminating the whole area. The concsrn of the crown was the greater
because of‘ the discovery of gregt amounts of silver in the Upper Peru or
Bolivian territory.

Emperor Charles V appointed a priest, Pedro de la Gasce, to be president
of the Audiencia, with complete authority over Peru, in order that he might
terminate this threat and end the chaotic conditions. After almost twq years
from his departure from Spain De la Gasca arrived near Cuzco whsre he cap-
tured and beheaded Gonzalo Pizarro April 10, 1548. Gasca then remained,

pacifying the country, until Jamuary, 1550, when he left affairs in tls care

€ Moses, Spanish Rule in America, 115.
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of the Audiencia.

Peace revealed much disorder and disorganization. The famofis silver
mines had been operating for four years. There was always the lure of the
mines for settlers in the new centers at Bantiago in Chile and Asuncién in
Paraguay. Mining society was lawlessl Indians were being enslaved for labor.
Gambling and strife, riches and poverty, exhorbitant prices for ordinary food
and water, lack of foodstuffs - all added to the distress of what should have
been & VOry prospsrous land.

Under these circumstances and with the memory of what had been done in
New Spain fresh in his mind, the Emperor decided to send the capable Viceroy
of New Spain, Antonio de fandoza to straighten out affairs .7 Mendoza arrived
in Lima on September 12, 1551, He departed this life on July 21, 1552, Again
digorder cropped out. With the Audiencia in charge until a new appointes
arrived, one Giron lsd the last significant rebellion against the royal
authorities. Earlier the Audiencia bad barnned "personal sertice" of the
natives, and lands of those thus enforcing the Indians to work had been com-
fiscated. Mendoza had enforced the law against this enslavement, as the ﬂ
first act of his govermment. Now that he was gone, Girdn inaugurated three
years of civil conflict until he was apprehended and executed in early 1555,
There were at this time approximately 8,000 8paniards in all Psru, 489 of
whom held land grants, and 1,000 of whom wers officials or owned estab;'é’sea

Next of the viceroys was Andrés Hurtado de Mendoza, who arrived on June

29, 1556, and died in 1560. His method of s0lving the problems was to forbid

7 Rubén Vergas Ugarte, Histéria del Peru Virreinato (1551-1581), Lima, 1935,
3-4; Arthur S. Aiton, Antonio de Mendosa, First Viceroy of New Spain, New
York, 1927.

8 Moses, Spanish Rule in America, 134.
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further immigration from Spain and to forbid any settler to depart from the
viceroyalty. Disgruntled colonists were urged to found new towns, and dis-
turbers were sent on exploratory trips. Regulation after regulation was en-
forcede Settlers of Peru moved south t0 the present Argentina to begin new
cities. Estate owners were encouraged to plant grape and olive vineyards.

The fourth viceroy, Conde de Nieva Zufiiga, ruled from his arrival in
1561 to his death in 1564. With three out of the firet four viceroys dying
in Peru and the other escaping by a hair's breath from the vengeance of the
rebels, the office had little attraction for the nobdes of Spain. It was
five years before the next arrived, and during this time Peru was governed
by Garcia de Castro, President of the Audiencia. Then came Viceroy Fran-
cisco de Toledo y Figueroa, November 30, 1569, for a long regime lasting
until September 23, 1581.9

Contemporary to these events key bases for future occupation were
established. Pedro de Valdivia founded Santiago de Chile in 1541 and within
ten years the fertile region in Chile north of the Bfo-Bfo river wers under
Spanish control. New Granada was invaded from three directions. Expeditio
were sent from Santa Marta, established in 1525, to the basis of the cordi-
llera oriental; the Spaniards pushed south from Cartagena, founded inA833,
into the Caunca valley and settled in small mining towns. Others from Limae,
going north towards Quito, founded Pasto and Popayan and were joined by
expeditions from Cartagena in the latitude of Cali. After its beginning in
1538 Bogota had become & center from which colonists radiated to various

sections of New Granala. Asuncidn was the fir st permanent Spanish settle-

9 Arthur Franklin Zimmerman, Francisco de Toledo, Fifth Viceroy of Perut
1569-1581, Caldwell, Idaho, 1938, 1-11,
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ment in the southern portion of the viceroyalty, for it was established in
1537. Audiencias were established at Panamad in 1536, at Lima in,1542, at
Bogotd in 1549, at Los Charcas in 1559, at Quito in 1563, and at Santiago de
Chile in 1609, |

Rcligious‘affairs had made some progress, although, as we have stated
earlier, the religious organization was only beginning by 1568. The King of
Spain, according to the patronato espanol, possessed extraordinary authority
over the administration of the Church in Spain and in Spanish dominions whil#
he was al;: versonally obligated to provide for the spiritual welfare of his
subjects. The congquistadores, according to the agreement, were generally
accompanied by chaplains,.

The mere fact that bishops were appointed and dioceses carved out gives
no cause to0 say that the ecclesiasstical organization was complete. Bishops
in these earlier times had very few clergymen as subjects. But they were
necessary in lands so far removed from Rome and Spain, to consecrate oils,
to confirm, to administer and to admonish. They were part and parcel of the
Spanish Church and State program. They lent a dignity and solemnity to even
poverty stricken areas. They were a force for moral uplift and a warning to
wrong-doers of the presence of the Church. Frequently there is a discrepancy
in the dates given for the establishment of dioceses in Spanish America.
This variance can be accounted for in many instances by the fact th;@iyqno
of the authors cite the date of the papal Bull erecting the diocese as the
beginning; others make the beginning date that of the appointment of the
bishop; and still others use the time of the arrival of the bishep at his

10 Pastells, I, M;’Vargu Ugarte, Histéria del Peru Virreinate, 8.
11 Angel Gabriel Perés, El Patronato Espaiiol en el Virreyno del Peru durante

el Siglo XVI, Tournai, 1937, 52-65.
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post as the date of the diocesan establishment. Sixteen papal Bulls pro-
13

nounced the erection of dioceses in Peru by 1570. These included:

Darien (15613) Juan de Quesada was appointed to the see which was moved
Panania (15619) to Panama six years later.
Tumbes  (1529) Fernando de Luque was appointed bishop although he died

before assuming this post.

Cor
(Venesuela)(1530) The first bishop, Roderigo de Bastidas, was named in
1532,

Cartagens (1534) Pray Thomas del Toro was appointed in 1535, but died be-
fore he was concecrated. Lomysa was concecrated for this
see in 1538, and went to Lima in 1543.

Santa Marta(1535) Alfonso de Tobes was appointed bishop at this time.

Cuzoo (1535) Vicente Valverde was appointed for this see in 1536,

Lima (1541) Loaysa was named the first bishop in 1543, Lima became af
archdiocese of the whole area from Peru to Nicaragua in
1546,

Quito - (1545) Geracidia appointed at this time.

Paraguay (1546) Pedro de la Torre was selected for this see in 1547,
, However he was not concecrated. The first bishop of Paraf
guay, concecrated in 1565, died that year. Eight years

elapsed.

Popayan  (1547) Don Juan del Valle was concecrated in this year.

La Platg (1561) This diocese is aldo called Charcas, Chuquisaca, and
Sucre.

Santiego de(1561)

Chile

Bogotd (1563) This became an archdiocese with Popaydn as suffragen in
1564.

Conco;gigg’ (1563) Thie was later moved to Imperial, Chile.

13 For example, the diocese of Trujillo was erected by Gregory XIII in 1577,
but was not executed until the pontificate of Paul V, in 1616. F.X.Her-
-y os Relativas a la Iglesia d erica, Brussels, 1879, II, 1.
Clements R. Markhsm, History of Peru, Chicago, 1892, 169, gives this date
13 %: 1611 with no clus as to his source.

rnaez, 11, 124-135; 127, 145, 1 156, 165, 169,178 184 255,299,308 321
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Santiago del (1570) Eight years elapsed betwsen the creation of the see

Estero tho naming of a bishop. This see was transferred to
Cérdoba. ‘ ¢
Areguipa (1577) Thirty two years elapsed from the time of the erection

of the see until the comsecration of a bishop.

A further source of corfusion confronting students who attempt to determine
the dates for the erection of sees in Spanish America is the fact that hhe
aprointment of bishops and the creation of sees involved both regal arproval
and papal confirmation, in accordance with the patromato onpaﬁ’gl.“
gu Qeminicam were the first of the religious Orders established in
Perue Fray Pedraza accompanied Pizarro on his expdoratory trip along the
coast in 1624, Eight years later Fray Valverde erected a church at Piums.
The Dominicans buflt their house, San Rosario, at Lime in 1535. Valverde
nominated by Gonzalo Pizarro for Bishop of Cuzco in 1534, was concecrated in
Spain in 1636, and roturmcsl two years later with twelve members of his Order
to assist in the d:locese.l From Lima and Cugco the Iianinicans accompanied or
followed the Spaniards as they colonized. The Franciscans and Mercedarians
arrived shortly after the Dominicans, while the Augustiniam began their work
in Peru in 1551.17

While the work was chiefly parochial there are immediate evidences that

scholasticsstudies were carried to the colony by the incoming clergymen. By

14 Ibid., II, 155-185. PR
15 Pernando Montesinos, Anales del Peru, Madrid, 1906, I, 201; Jose Gabriel

Navarro, "I'undaciﬁl de Conventos en la America xlpsnol " Boletin 4
Academia Nacaog d.o Historis, Quito, (1943), XXIIT, 32-23; !‘odcr:lco

Gonzales Suaresz, a Eclesidstica d Ecuador dudo los Ti
la Conguista ha.lta g;gltrg! Dias, Quito, 1881; Vargas Ugsrte, g;_stor;g

del Peru Virreingto, 8. A study of the Dominican origins in Peru has been
begun by one of the graduate students of Loyola.

16 Navarre, XXIII, 13-14; Montesinos, I, 81. They were given the Temple of
the Sun and the palace of Inca Uira-cchocha. Channing, 520.

17 Montesinos, I, 201; Navarro, XXIII, 22-23,
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1548 the Dominicans lectured in the Estudio Gensral at San Rosarioc. Bescause
of this, Lima claims priority of establishment over the o0ld university of
Mexicoe On January 23, 1550, the gabildo of Lima instructed Jerénimo de
Alcasa and Fray Tomds de San Mart{n, the provincial, to make a personal plea
in Spain for authority to erect a university at Lim..m Charles V granted the
request in a csdula September 21, 1553, which authorized the establishment of
a university both at Lima and at Moxico.lgﬂanvor, funds for the foundation
were not s0 easily obtained as was the necessary license. The meager sum of
350 pesos was allotted to the foundation in Lima in 1553.20 Four ysars later
the Marqués de Cafiete granted an additional 400 puos.zl Handicapped by the
lack of adequate financial assistance and by the prevailing civil disorder,
the Daminicans were able to achieve little progress. Their rectorship was
suspended in 1571 by Viceroy Toledo who alded secular teachers to the faculty
and appointed a layman, Gaspar H‘nuu, ractor.zaPapal apprrobation of the
university was conceeded in 1571 .23 The Real Universidad de San Marcos, as it
wgs called, had chairs in sacred scripturs, g?ology, canon and civil law,

mathematics, arts, medicine, and philosonhy. Viceroy Toledo granted an

18 Manuel Vicente Villarén, La Universidad de Lima, Los Origines: 1548-1577,
Lima, 1938, 10<11; Manuel de Mendiburu, Dice istérico-biografis
del Peru, Lima, 1874-1890, VII, 125;John Tate Lanning, Academic Culture
w&ﬂﬂﬂiﬂ, Now York 1940, 19; Vargas Ugarte, Historia del

Peru Virreinato, 1l4.

19 Recopilacion de las Leyes de las Indias, Madrid, 1776, Book I, Title 23,
110-121. .

20 David Rubio, La Universidad de San Marcos de Lima durante lg Colonizacion
Espsiola, Madrid, 1933, 21, 43-44.

21 Lanning, 19; Villn.ron, 10-11.

22 Jose Boquiano y Carillo, "Historia de la, fundacidn, progresos, y actual
estado de la Real Universidad de San Marcos de Lima," E1 Msrcurio Pe 0,
(1861-1864), III, 224-228.

23 Hernaes, II, 439.

24 Pastcllo, I, 21; Rubio, 22.
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‘:dommt in encomienda of 20,312 pesos in 1571.

During the first few decades of Spanish colonintmn in Perudhe reli-
ious concentrated primarily upon parochial work among the Spaniards. As far
[s svangelizing and instructing the natives thers appsared the very difficult
barrier of the language 0f the natives. Thus far there is little to indicate
that the fathers embarked on any great missionary program. This fact indi-
|cates no lack of zeal among these early religious, but rather a scarcity of
religious in Peru and the continuous civil disorder which impeded spiritual
progress as well as political organization.
Under such circumstances then it is not surprising to find the king
formally asking for more help, specifically for Jesuits for the Americas.
[The requeats from the North American scene have already been noted, as have
the persistent requests of the Bishop of Popuyén.zsln a letter of October 17,
1564, Father Antonio Araos, Provincial of the Spanish Provin_co, wrote to
Father General Lainez saying: "A Bishop of the Indies of Spain | Popayan ] in-
sistently asks for some of the Company; and so also does the President and
the council.'27 The King on his part issued two royal cedulas. The first of
these, directed to the Casa, was dated March 3, 1566.38 It provided that the
Society should send twenty four members to America, with the stipulation that
some were to work in Florida at least until the lani was pacified. A similar

29
demand was made March 24, 1566. Again May 3, 1566, a royal cédula commanded

25 Boquiano y Carille, 235.
26 M.E.8.J., Lafnes Letters, VIII, 245; Borgia Letters, III, 785, 79%.

27 Laineg Letters, VIII, 2345.
28 Astrain, II, 286; Borgia Letters, IV, 192; Diego Carillo to Borgia, May 16

1586, Ibid., IV, 237-238.
29 Cédula in Michael Kenny, The Romance of the Floridas, New York, 1934, 160,
and in Historical Records and Studies, XXV, 68.
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that Jesuits be dispatched to norida.so The Society was required to send
fourteen men to Peru in still another cédula, dated June 11, 1560’.31 The
cost of transporting the Jesuits and their supplies was to be yrovided from
the king's treasury, but the fathers were to be dependent upon assistance
from officials in Peru and from individual donations in order to establish
their houses.

In reply Borgia qopgéntod Father Jer6nimo Ruiz del Portillo Provincial
of Peru, March 22, 1567. Portillo had been urging Borgla to abandon the
Florida venture and to gc:mnenco work in Peru or some other field which held
promise for achievment. 3A native of Logrono in Castile, he had been r'ocoivodi
into the Society at Salamanca where he was ordained in 1554, at the age of
34. He had served as rector at Simancas and master of novices. In 1560 he
had been sprointed rector at Valladolid. TFive years later he became vice-
provincial of Castile where he served until his dsparture for Peru.
Portillo was an efficient administrator and an orator of exceptional abilityd

34
Portillo arranged to sail for Peru with eleven men in August, 1567.

However, he did not lsave San Lucar until the following November 2, 156'?’.35
He was accompanied by seven Jesuits recruited from four provinces: Father
Antonic Alvares and brother Luis de Medina from Toledo, Father Diego de
Bracamonte and brother Juan Garc{a from Andalucia, Father Miguel de Fumntes

.Y

30 M@lliam E. Shiels, Gonzale de Tapia, New York, 1933, 17.

31 Bernabe Cobo, "Historia de la Fundacién de Lima," Monografias Historicos
sobre la Ci de Lima, Lima, 1935, I, 245-246; Astrain, II, 305.

32 Borgia Letters, IV, 533, 537, 419-421. Peru included the vice-province of
Florida. Epist. Nadal, III, 407. )

33 Bnr{que Torres Saldamando, "El Primero y el ultimo provincial de la
Campaiiia de Jesis en el Peru," Revista Historico: Organo del Instituto

Historico del Peru, (1908), I, 446-449.
34 Portillo to Borgia, Seville, Borgia Letters, IV, 495.

35 Astrain, IV, 307.
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and brother Pedro Lobet from Aragon, and Father Luis Lipes from Castile.

After a rather short journsy of fifty-two days the ships anghored at
cartagena. Disembarking, the fathers found shelter in a "hospital% for the
poor. They spent their Christmas day visiting the sick, Spaniards, natives
and negro slaves, and for the remaining ten days of their stay they went
about hearing confessions, preaching and instructing.

They sailed for Nombre de Dios on January 3, 1568. The exact time of
their arrival is not kuown, but as soon as they disembarked they made their
way to the church to give thanks to God for their safe journey. The towns-
folk lodged them in their various homes since there was no hospice in the
town. In his preaching Portillo emphasized the need of lucﬁ an institution
to such effect that the people contributed 3,000 pésos to start the work.

Within a few days the Black Robes packed up their meagre belongings and
wended their way over the eighteen leagues of jungle road toward Panmmia. It
is doubtful if they rode burros or had any to carry their goods. To avoid
& welcoming reception they delayed their entry imto Panemé until an unseason
gble hour, and then made their way t¢ the convent of the Franciscans, where
they wers hospitably received and given asvery comsideration. Hers they
would have to wait until a boat was going south to Lima. During their stay
Portillo and the others went about their ususal preaching and administrations
One of the sermons of the Provincial was aimed at the avarice which led men
to violate contracts and to cheat. The spirit of Panama was q:paront;lyv too

commercial and injustice too common., Despite his censures the Panamahians

36 Cobo, I, 245; Fernando Montesinos, Anales del Peruy, Medrid, 1908, II, 23.
Anello Oliva, Historia del reino y provincies del Peru de sus Incas reyes
descubrimiento y conguista por 1os espafioles ds la corona de Castilla com
otros singularidades concernientes a la histéria, Lima, 1895, 194-195,
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contributed 14,000 ducats to the Society for continuing its work, and this,
1t might be added, was more than the King had contributnd.svaow‘iore a spot
portillo had touched is revsaled by the fact that many came to repent and to
make resolutions to amend their ways. The principal merchants gathered in
conferance and set up regulations which would e3iminate cheating and
injustice.

Thus affairs continued until February 23, 1568, the embarkation day.
The cabildo begged Portillo to remain in Panamé or to assign some of the
fathers to their city, which could not be done in view of their orders to
go to Limae. Two Jesuits, however, did remain. With sanitary conditions
guch a8 they were in Panama at the time and continued to be it is little
wonder that the fever should attack one of their mmber. Father Alvaresz
was #0 seriously ill that he could not go aboard. Portillo left him under
the care of a pious Portuguese carpenter named Juan Ruiz and Father Fran-
cisco de Medina. Alvarez passed away shortly afterward, and Juan Rulz
sailed with Medina for Lima where he joined the Company as a lay drother, or

temporal coadjutor.

37 Astrain, IV, 308.
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CHAPTER IV
HEADQUARTERS - TEE’ CENTER AT LIMA

Portillo and his five companions sailed the coast from Panamd to Paita
and from Paita to Callao in the record time of thirty-six dayo.l Ordinarily
the voyage of some 1,300 statute miles against the winds required five ec
six months, what with delays of several stopovers. They arrived at Puu on
March 18 and landed five hundred miles beyond at Callao on Sunday, Mq{c}sh 28,
1568, In the little ssaport they stayed until April 1 preaching amd haxing
confessions. |

Meanwhile some of the fellow passengers and the seamen of the voyage
who had not remained long in Callaoc hed brought the word of the conlnfg of
the Black Robes to Lima. There the officials and inhabitants preparod s
welcome, and a deputation arrived from the capital to offer the rolpectl of
Peru. Portillo planned to avoid the reception, as he had done at Panamf,
by making a delayed entrance. This proved inadvisable, since aboafd the
ship which had brought them they had had as campanions the Vicar General
and the Provincial of the Dominican fathers who had offerred them the hospi~
tality of the Dominican convent of Lima.

The religious all went together from Callao to Lims, a distance pt
eight miles. They were received with joy and no little curiosity on the
part of the people. The prominent citizens, the Church dignitaries led by

Archbishop Jerénimo de Loaysa and Garc{a de Castro, President of the

1 Astrain, IV, 308; Montesinos, II, 23-24; Cobo, I, 245-247,
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Audiencia and acting governor of Peru made official visits to them once they
had found shelter at the Dominican convent of San Rosario. In view of the
cﬁriosity of the people and as a reply to the official welcame, Father Por-
tillo took the pulpit on the following Sunday, April 4, with the intention of]
expressing his gratitude and explaining the purpose of the new Society. He
no sooner had made the sign of the Cross at the beginning of his discourse
than a sharp temblor rocked the church.z The congregation rushed ocut, leaving
the preacher alone in the church. Shortly afterwards when the fear of
further shocks bad vanished the people returned to hear the sermon. The Pro-
vincial's explanation of the origin, the constitutions and the work of the
Jesuits satisfied his hearers.

The first worry was renting a house for the group. Where to obtai# the
house was one question snd where to get the rent was a companion question.
Portillo's fears about finances were dispelled when the inhabitants began to
contribute alms both for support and for the building of a residence and
college. By June they had purchased the house. To satisfy people who
wished to hear Mass an outdoor chapel wasimprovised by kmocking dom a wall
of the patio opposite the dwelling, and thus allowing the people ample room
to congregate in the opon.3 The pulpit and altar were placed with their
backs to the side of the house, probably in the shelter of the balcony. This
temporary chapel was used for six years while the new church was boing“: built.

Each of the fathers was assigned a specific t,a.sk.4 Father Miguel de

Fuentes had t0 hear confessions and organize a class of Latin grammsr.

3 Ibid., 164.
4 Pastells, I, 85.




U
pather Lufs Lopez visited the sick and dying and had charge of the negro
slaves. Portillo himself preached in churches and in the pubnc‘!squaro and
visited prisons and hospitals. The only class negleted was the Indian. To
gnstruct these who did not know Cagtilian the fathers had first to learn
their language. What the immediate effect of these various ministries wers
is not clear in detail, dbut very notable improvement was made in the lives
of the downtrodden slaves who began to give up their drinking and indecent
dances. So satisfied with the ensrgy of the Jesuits was Garcfa de Castro,
tBat he wrote to tell Philip II that if he wished the whole land of Peru in
peace and quietude, he had better send many more Jemits.s

According to plan the center of all Jesuit activities in Peru was to be
in Lima, in & "colegio mdximo." This colegio was planned to be a residence,
s church, a school, a college. It was to be the heart of the Province of
Peru where men were t0 bs trained for missionary work and educational work,
and it was t0 be the administrative headquarters, in bﬁof, the headquarters
for all the activities of the Society in the Province. The term "colegio®
also has reference to the corporation or the group of men working at tle
residence, whether they were engaged in educational or missionary labors.

Portille went about his task of founding the center for the Province of
Pesr'a..6 The site for the Colegio MAximo, whers long ysars afterwards in

Republican times the Penetenciaro de San Pablo was erected, was selectied and

5 Astrain, IV, 309-310. Portillc emphasised the necessity of frequent re-
ception of the sacraments, and did much to0 popularize special devotion
to the Blessed Sacrament. Oliva, 173-174. The fathers also organized
religious confraternities for Indians, morenos, and Spaniards. Vargas
Ugarte, Maguscritos Peruanas en las Bibliotecas del Exgragiorg, Iima,

1835, II, 46-47. (Henceforth cited as Manuscritos Peryanas.

6 Pastells, I, 90; Borgia to Portillo, Rome, October 3, 15668, Borgis

Letters, IV, 651.
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was t0 be pald for by the cabildo and the Audiencia. Caetro desoribed the
location as ... the square that borders oB:the Capitania of Didgo de Asuero
from the point where there are the houses of Gaspar Baéz to the houses of
Diego de Porras on one side, and on the other side as far as the houses of
Adrian Marinoi"a Castro estimated that the cost of the buildings amounted to
12,410 pesos. | The Governor granted only 2,300 pesos from the royal hacienia
in June of 1568.10 Archbishop Loayza devoted much time and energy soliciting
donations for the Jesuit house. The fathers received contributions from in-
dividuals in Lima amounting to 12,710 pesos by June of 1568.11

This Colegioc was put under the patronage of San Pedro y San Pable. It
received substantial assistancé from Don Mart{nes Renifo and his wife, Dofia
Barbara Ramiresz de Cartagena, who contributed the hacienda de Jesus in the
valley of Chancay, & house in the villa and a hacienda with 30,000 vines in
the valley of Ato.lz‘l'hc Society accepted this latter donation October 14,
1581, when the benefactors received the title of patrons of two of the chaird
in the colegio. Im 1582 Father José de Acosta\ requested a grant of a thou-
sand pesos annual rent for the colegio, but he received only 200 pesos from
the <:a.bi.1clm13 Two years later, in 1584, Diego de Porres Sagredea, a promin-

ent citizen of Lima, offered 3,000 ducats asnnual rent and in turn was

7 Enrique Torres Saldamando, "E1l Primero y el fltimo provincial de la .
Compafifa de Jesis en el Peru,” Revista Historice: Organo del Institute
Bistérico del Peru, (1906-1941), I, 448.

8 Pastells, I, 3,

9 Cédula signed by Castro, April 17, 1572, Ibid., 3-4.

10 Mendiburu, IX, 205.

11 "Relacion de los religiosos que ay en el Colegio de la ciudad de los
Indios, y de la hacienda y renta, que tienen para su sustento y de los
census y tributos que paga el dicho colegio sobre su hacienda y duedos
que deben,® Juan Sebastien, March 8, 1594, Vargas Ugarte, Mamiscritos

Perusnas, II, 164«166; Cobo, I, 346. :
12 l&gn%i Jlt 305-208; Torres Saldamando, "Un Filantropo," Revista
s 908 08 . - ~a e A .
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granted the privilege of having his sepulchre in the Jesuit church..ulncbhw
generous individual, Dgg Garcfa, donated the hacidnda de Villa 8 the
colegio in June, 1595. It is worthwhile to point to these domors who began
to contribute toward education in America. They were either Americans or
colonials. S8ince they contributed far more than the Crown and since the
fathers contributed their services as teschers, the Spanish Crown could
claim small credit for the establishment of education.

The Colegio Maximo of San Pedro y San Pablo was embarked upon its
caresr. It served as a novitiate until 1583, Only a month after their
arrival at Lima, Portillo accepted the first applicant for admission to the
Socioty.le’l'ho problem of manpower began to resolve itself, Fedro Messia, a
lawyer, and fiscal of the Royal Audiencia of Lima; was accepted into the
Society May 2, 1668, At the same time Portillo appointed Father Miguel de
Fuentes master of novices. Before the end of the year thirty men were
admitted. These men had been engaged in varicus professions. In the first
group of novices there was Francisco Lépez de Haro, Secretary to the Governor
Castro, the aathor Juan Gutiérrez, who joined as a lay brother, Martin
Pizarro, the mayorago, who was the first crecls to join the Society in Peru,
as well a3 three soldiers and two carpenters. Two ecclesiastics also joined
the Society in 1568, The first was Don Juan Toscano who was dean of the
cathedral of Lima, and the second, tﬁo canon of Cuszco, Christéval Sdnchez.
The latter had been appointed by the Bishop of Cuzco to attend a Council in

Lima, and was s0 impressed by the accomplishments of the padres during their

14 Statement of Aquaviva, Rome, February, 1584, Vargas Ugarte, Manuscritos

Peruanas, I, 119-120.
15 Torres Saldma.ndo Revista Histérico, I, 448.

16 I'b:ld., I 450; 0117‘, 180,
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four months in the city that he applied for admission in August, 1568,

Bracamonte reported that five or six of these first novices wer# rendering
17
valuable assistance to the Society in a comparatively brief time.

As it became increasingly difficult to give the yourg novices their
proper training at the Colegio Mfximo, the novitiate, dedicated to San Jos:,

was transferred in February, 1883, to the residence at ¥l Cercado, an Indian
18
center on the outskirts of Lima. By 1594 three priests were occupied solely
19
in the instruction of the novices. Toward the end of the century, in 1599,
20

the novices were transferred to & nearby pueblo. This location proved to
be inconvenient. Consequently they returned to El Cercado in 1602.

By 1608 the Society was able to build a very fine residence and chapel
for the novices, due to the generosity of Antonio Correa of Lime.‘m Correa
provided for 3,000 pesos annml: rent, and was in turn granted the privileges

of & foumder. Until this time the novitiate received no specific contribu-

tion or endowment, but was supported by the colegios throughout the Province
This new novitiate was bullt on a spacious plot of land, and was convenient-
ly located eight blocks from the main plazs on the same street as the colcgiL
Méximo. The church was large and elaborately decorated. The main chapsl
wag covered by a semi-circular design worked in cedar. This nevistste was

used as the house of probation but it also served as ths tertianship or the

.,
7y

final year of probation in the training of the Jesuits.

The Colegio Méximo also conducted what was kmown as a grammar school,

17 Astrain, II, 314.

18 Mendiburu, IX, 208-207; Torres Saldamando, Los antiguos Jesuitas del
Peru, Lima, 1882, 158-159.

19 Vargas Ugarte, Manuscritos Peruanas, II, 164.

20 Torres Saldamando, Revista Historico, I, 450.

21 Vargas Ugarte, Manuscritos Peruanas, II, 164.
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with & curriculum equivalent to that of upper primary and secondary oducution*
Young boys from twelve to sixteen years of age were taught the nx‘c;im.nts ofﬁ
gramar, Latin, rhetoric and arts. Fuentes, in addition to acting as master
of novices, began the instruction of forty boys, the majority of whom were
sons of prominent citizens of Lima, in 1568.22 Ten years later the enrollment
had increased to 150.33'1'110 school was closed for two years upon Toledo's
order during & period of dissension between the Viceroy and Provinecial, wlichf
will be dealt with in another chapter. When it was recpened in 15682 200
pupils were onrollod.ml‘h. grammar school continued until the Society was
expelled in the eightsenth century.

More advanced classes were also offered at the Colegio. Portillo had
to provide for the scholastic as well as the spiritual training of the
novices .2511'1;01' two years of probation, the novices entered the juniorate
period of their training, devoted primarily to the study of classics.
Following this thay were given three years of philosophv, including logic,
epistemology, ontology, psychology, ethics, cosmology, theodicy, natural
sciences and mathematics. Consequently cl;lsoo had to be provided in these
stu:fiu. The lectures in Latin, rhetoric, arts, dogmatic theology, moral
theology and native ianguagos were open t0 laymen and to other religious
during Portillo's provincialate. Although the Ratig Studiorum was Tinally

formulated only towards the end of the sixteenth century, the Jesuits ,,g.lroadil

22 Astrain, II, 310-311.
23 Vargas Ugarte, Los Jesuitas del Peru, 87-88.
24 Ipvid., 88.

25 Felipe Barreda y Laos, Vida Intelectual del Virreinato del Peru, Buenos
Aires, 1937, 58-59; Mendiburu, IX, 206; Torres Saldamando, Los Antiguos

Jesuitas del Peru, 7; for a careful explanation of the Jesuit ¥maining
and curriculum see chapters I and II of Jerome V. Jacobsen, Educational

Foundations of the Jesuits in Sixteenth Century New Spain, Berkeley,
1938, 1-35.
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Avgust 11, 1582:

the pedagogical theories practiced at Alcald and Salamanca.

26

In as much as Father Juan de Atiensa,
rector of the colegio of the Company

of Jesus in this City of the Kings,

has, on behalf of the Colegioc, presented

a petition to me, I now make this report,
stating: that aince it is evident to me
that the fathers of this Colegio employed
in the instruction of the youth who gather
here, serve both God and country through
their work with the students vrogressing
in learning and in virtue, ... if another
or other colleges could be founded in this
city where the students would be able to
live in more sechusion and in a more
cloistered atucsphere with an obligatory
rule as is customary in the colleges which
have been established at Salamanca, Alcala,
Mexico, and other educational centers, the
result would be a larger university enroll-
ment for this city and a greater number of
capable statesmen for this kingdom, and
virtuous men of sufficient learning, and
many poor persons would bs benefited being
enabled to study in this way, and would
pursue education, as has been the case in
Rome, Milan, Paris, Cologne, Mexico, and
in Spain in Zargoza, Cdrdodba, Ocana, and
in many other places where similar colleges
have been founded: that the time is now

followed a rather definite pattern in method and curriculum, adhering to

Py

Another educational foundation in Lima developed from the beginnings
at the Colegio Ma’uﬁima. Since there were many of the regular clergy
studying at San Pedro y San Pablo and since there was no seminary speci-
fically for the regular clergy, Toledo'!s successor, Don Martin Enriquesz
sponsored & foundation which would partially care for the need of a semin-

sry in Lima to be direscted by the Society. Enrfquez reported to Philip II

-
*

26 Barreda y Laos, 60.




opportune for establishing a college of

this type in this city, for there are many
here who desire such a college in order ad
that they might send their sons to it; and

I petition and humbly request permission to
grant a licence allowing this Company to
establish the college and directing that

the students wear a uniform dress as do the
students of other colleges already mentioned,
and that they live in saclusion and under a
rule prescribed by the rules and conatitu-
tions that will be drawn up subject to my
approval, that in this college God will be
served and this kingdom will be singularly
bensfited.s.. 27

The term seminary does not refer to a foundation for the training of
young men for the priesthood exclusively. A seminary was a hall adjacent to
a college or university where students lived under prescribded regulations.
As Viceroy of New Spain Enriquez had spoﬁsorod & simllar seminary, San Pedro
y San Pa‘blo, in 1573, at Mexico Gity.zaEnr{quoz .gought bursaries or scholar-
ships and dwellings for the deserving students. The constitutions for the
Seminary of San Martfn, so named in honor of' the Viceroy, were given vice-
regal approval in October, 1582.29'1‘110 students marched to the Colegio
Mdximo for classes in arts, theology, canon and civil lawe They had rules
of conduct and wore a distinctive collegial garb. The college or seminary
was modeled on the University of Alcald or Salamanca, which was really a
group of such collogu.aoSun Mart{n was to enjoy privileges similar to those
of Alcald and Salamanca.

Two of the most prominent of the sixteenth century Jesuits were esps-

——

27 Cobo, I, 273-274. .

28 Jacobsen, Educational Foundations of the Jesuits, 94-95.
29 Torres Saldamando, Los_ Antiguos Jesuitaes del Perun, 28.

30 Jacobsen, Educational Foundations of the Jesuits, 155-160.
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cially concernsd with the utabli:hment. of this college. The first, Father
Juan de Atienza, had served as rector of the Colegio Mgximo since . his
arrival at Lima, May 20, 1581‘3:L Atienza, son of a noted legist in Castile,
entered the Society in 1564 at Salamanca where he had been stuiying law.
Baving completed his trained he lectured in philosophy at the College of
Avila. In 1573 he served as procurator of the Province of Cagtile. He was
named rector of the College of Villa Garcf{a, and later rector at Valladolid.
FHe had been sent to Peru in answer to his request for the appointment. Ae
rector of San Pedro y San Pablo he saw the need of a seminary or college in
connection with the Coleglo Miximo. It was he who presented the formal
request to the viceroy for such a foundation.

FTather José de Acossa, concerning whom more will be said in subsequent
chaptg;s, is probably the most prominent of the sixteenth century Jesuits in
Peru. Following his provincialate (1576-1581), he was appointed to the
chair in theology at the Colegio Mdximo. At the same time he acted as a
consultor to Viceroy Marti{n Enrfiquez and tq his successor, Remirez de Carta-
gena, His influsnce in effecting the establishment of this foundation was
not negligible. Acosta reported in 1586 that he had urged Enr{quez, who
favored his opinion, to0 sponsor the sc:hoac»l.?’3

7+ .. -.Classes for the San Martin collegisns were begun by 1583, although the

31 Torres Saldamando, Los Antiguos Jesuitas del Peru, 24-30; Carlos Sommer-
vogel, Bibliotheque de la Compagnie de Jesus, Paris, 1890, I, 611-612;
Astrain, IV, 749.

32 Mendiburu, I, 150-152; Jose R.Carracido, El Paire Josf de Acosta y su
Importancia en la Literatura Cientifica Espaiicla, Madrid, 1899, 13-70;
Torres Saldamando, Los Antiguos Jesuitgs del Peru, 2-3; Sommervogel, 1,31

33 Acosta to Philip II, April 15, 1586, Astrain, IV, 508-509.
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royal cedula confirming the constitutions and regulations which had besn
approved by the viceroy was not issued until October 5, 1588.34Tb.is cedula
allowed 1,500 pesos annual rent to provide scholarships or bursaries for
twelve deserving students. In the meantime both Acosta and the Conde de
Villar, who was viceroy from November, 1585 until January of 1590, had
petitioned Philip II for financial auistanco.ss Bow far the king intended
to or was able to contribute to such a csuse after the disaster of the
Spanish Armada became clear later. Father Juan Sebastidn de la Parra,
provincial from 1592 until 1599, reported in 1594 in his financial summary
that & Juan Martinez Renifo bsqueathed to the Seminary of San Mart{n, a
wheatfield in the valley of Chancay, nine leagues from Lima, in addition to
a house, a vineyard, a small olive 'orchard and a honsy plantation, stipula-
ting that the Jesuits offer acertain number of masses for him.ssﬁo reparted
a2lso that Diego de Porres Sagredo and his wife, Ana de Sandoval, donated a
house, & large fruit orchard, a small olive orchard and a pasturs, but the
latter was arid and practically useless. ZEven with _thc rents and donations
received by the Socisty, the Jesults had at the time of Sebastidn's report
in 1594, outstanding debts in Lima smounting to 29,000 pesos.

Papal approval of the new foundation followed shortly after the royal

34 Cobo I, 274-275; Roberto Levillier, ed., O z. n de 1 les
ordenss religigsos en el virrsinato del Peru en el siglo XVI, Majrid,
1919, ?Ksreaftcr cited as Organizaciém. ) I, 335-336, 452—455; Vargas
Ugarte, Marmuscritos Peruanas, II, 165; Catologo de los Colegiales que
huvo en el Real de San Mart{nm, II, 175-176; Mendiburu, I, 438; VI, 208,

35 Conde de Villar to Philip II, April 17, 1588, Lima, Levillier, Organi-
zacion, I, 335-336; Memorial of Acosta, April 11, 1586, Vargas Ugarte,

Mapucritos Peruanas, II, 161.
36 Vargas Ugarte, Manucritos Peruanas, II, 16S5.




cédula of confirmation. October 25; 1588, Sixtus V gave his approbation to
the college and granted special indulgences to the faculty and stedents on
the feast day of St. Martin.zvclcmonz VII decreed a public jubilee on this
day.

San Mart{n was located next to the Colegio Méximo, on the site of the
present Palacio de Justicias Acosta reported that Mart{n Enrfques and an
oidor of the Auvdiencia %... sought donations to commence this undertaking,
and a certain sum was collected with which a very large place adjoining the
house of the Company was purchased, and & hall was built immediately which
now [ 1586 ] affords modest living quarters for twenty-four studqnts."sBBy the
middle of the eighteenth century the Society had educated approximately five
thousand young men by means of this collogo.zg

Originally the rector of San Martin was subordinate to the rector of
San Pedro y San Pablo. Atienza, as provincial, ruled that these rectors
govern independently of each other. Father Pablo Joss de Arriaga, who hel
arrived at Lima in 1585 and who had been teaching rhetoric at the Colegio
Méximo, was appointod4goctor of San Martfh, and continued in this capacity

from 1588 until 1608.

37 Cobo, I, 275,

38 Acosta to Philip II, April 15, 1586, Astrain, IV, 508-50¢.

39 Thers is coneiderable obscurity as to the number enrolled at San Martin
during the first few years. Barreda y Laos, 60, writes that there were
50 in 1583, and 225 in 1588, Vargas Ugarte, Los Jeguitas del Peru, 95,
says there wers 80 students by 1601, and that the following year the
enrollment increased to 220. The annals of the college list the names
of the twelve original students, while Barrasa epeaks of fourteen first

colegians. Vargas Ugarte, Manuscritos Perusnag,I, 172-175. The catalogue
for the college begins in 1587. Ibid., I, 175-176. This college became
the Novitiate of San Antonio when the Jesuits were expelled. Mendiburu,
VI, 208.

40 Pablo Jose de Arriaga, La extirpaciém de la idolatria en el Peru, in

Colecciéhn de Libros y docunsntos referentes a 1la historia del Peru, Lima,

____Jezn a7,




A certain amount of opposition was encountered in establishing San
Mart{n. The Archbishop, St. Toribio de Mosgrovejo, felt that the entire

proceedings had been irregular. Philip IT had directed inguiries to the
. 4]
Archbishop January, 1586, regarding the establishment. The king wrote

that he had been informed that Toledo had established a college for the amns
of caciques, or Indian chiefs, and that the Conde de Nieva appointed
Toribio!s predecessor, Archbishop Loayza, director of this college granting
him 1,000 pesos:rentsfron-Botoef¢sThen, the king continued, Don Mart{n Enr{-
quez established another college for Spanish youth, and, placing it under
Jesuit supervieion, applied thq rent formerly granted for the purpose of
sducating the sons of caciques to this school. Evidently Philip II was
satisfied with information received from other sources in this regard, for
he approved the constitutions for San Martin before he received Toribio's
report.

Toribio finally replied. His summary indicated his doubts regarding the
legality of the founding of the seminary. He wrote:

Thi® much I am able to tell Your Majesty,
that a man fram the province of Chile died
in this city, who at the instance of the
fathers of the Company established a
chaplainship in this holy church with 400
pesos rent ... with the obligation of offering
masses and conducting a boarding house for
students ... and since the houses in this
city are very axpensive ... an oldor as well
as Other important persons began to solicit
donations and in this mamer & sum of money
was collected to purchase the establisiment
mentioned, and to build other rooms and
necessary offices, where at the pressnt time
there are lodgings for students who wear a
reddish habit of coarse cloth, and a thick

41 Philip to Toribio, Janmuary 10, 1586, Levillier, Organizacién, I, 452.453,




cloth in the mamer of a florid sash, and

they placed the name of San MartIn upon the

house, for it was established in the time of

your Viceroy, don Martfn Enr{ques.
moribio continued, saying that it had been Toledo's plan to found a college
comparable to the corporate collsges of Salamanca, and incorporate this with
a school for the instruction of the sons of native chiefs. The rents designa;
ted for this project were diverted by Enr(quoz toward the Jesuit college of
San Mart{n which was then (1589) receiving about 2,800 pesos, and, the
Archbishop sald, it was not ssrving ths purpose for which the grants were
intended, since natives were given no instruction here. However, he did
approve the fact that the college offered opportunitiss for an eduoatien:to
the descendents of impoverished conguistadores. And, although Toribio
questioned the manner in which the grants were made to San Mart{n, and the
legality of founding such a collsge instead of a mers boarding house or
a school for natives, he did cammend the educational standards of the college
By 1618 the viceroy reported to the king that San Mart{n was ",.. the most
useful seminary in this kingdom for the instruction of the :y'c:n.zth."‘ﬁ5

So far in this chapter, we have sesn how the educational beginnings of

Portillo and his small group developed into three establishments, namely,
the novitiate, the grammar school, and, subsequent to Portillo's provincial-

ate, the seminary of San Mart{n. But thess schools were directly concerned

with the instruction of the Spaniards, while the vrime purpose of the Jesuit

42 Busnaventura Ora, "Ersecion de Centros de Enssiianza Superior y el Espiritul
Docente durante la Colonia," Reglas y Constitucidnes, Cérdoba, 1940, 21,
Archbishop of Lima to Philip II, March 15, 1589, Levillier, Organizaciénm, .
I, 452-455. Toribio was consecrated in Seville in 1576 and entered Peru
in May, 1581, He possessed boundless energy and zeal, and made countless
migsions among the natives. He died in 1606 and was canonized in 1880,
Moges, Spanish Rule in America, 281-262.

T

43 April 26, 1618, Vargas Ugarte, Manuscritos Peruanas, 11,50,
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entrance into the viceroyalty was the care and instruction of the natives.
Although this chapter has been dsevoted to the educational endsavors of the
fathers among the Spaniards of Lima, subsegquent chapters will show that the
majority of the Jesuits in Peru were engaged in missionary work among the
natives. Those in the vicinity of Lima were of most immediate concern.

Father Bracamonte, the first rector of the Colegio Maximo, began the
study of the native languages immediately upon his arrival with the first
group of Jesuits to come to Peru, and by 1569 he was directing the instruc-
tion of approximately 3,000 Indian children 1.n the vicinity of In.'m'xa..“'4 In
1570 the fathers undertook the care and reduction of the Guarochiri tribes
outside of Lima, but due to a difference of opinion between Portillo and
Toledo, which will be discussed later, the Provincial recalled the men from
this field.

In 1570 the Jesuits assumad the care and management of an Indian center
on the outskirts of Lima, called Santiago del Cercado, or, more commonly,
El Cercado. A achool for native children was e¢stablished here, doctrine
was taught to the Indians, and the old and 'infirm received ca.ro.458punia.rdl
were restricted from entering this suburban ssttlement or barrio. The
area was originally an encomienda of a licentiate, Rodrigo Nifio. Governor
Castro paid 15,326 pesos for this land which he placed at the disposal of
the Jcsu.i.'tn.lll6 The land was enclosed by a wall or cercado. Residences ;ug’cro
erected for the natives, ani & chapel, dedicated to St. James, Smtiaéo.

as well as & house for the fathers. El Cercado was actually a small city

44 Astrain, II, 310.
45 Vargas Ugarte, Los Jesuitas del Peru, 10; Mendiburu, IIf, 87.

46 Mendiburu, III, 87,
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with its own hospital, school and church, and was administered by the padres,
Except for a brief difficulty with Toribio, the fathers encountsged compara-
tively few obstacles in their successful labors here. There were genemslly
gix rriests assigned to El Cercado during the sixteenth century.

Toribio, & zealous religious and a saintly man, possessed a strong will
and & strong sense of duty. He misunderstood his jurisdiction and the
privileges accorded by Rome to the Society. He quarreled with the dbishops
at the Council of Lima, with the cabildo, the Audiencia and the viceroys,
particularly the Marqués de Canete. Shortly after his appointment in 1581,
the Archbishop at_mouncod his intention of visiting the Jesuit residences at
Jul{ and at El Cercado with the understanding that these establishments
were in the same category as those of regular clergy, although the Jesuits
protested that these were religiocus comm\mitiu, not parochial, and con-
sequently were not subject to episcopal visitations .47Toribio's contention
was that these religious were living outside the clcister, extra clansura,
and as such could be visited by himself. ?ho Jesuits maintained that
their provincial took the place of the bishop in the matter of administra-
tion of members of the Society, wherever they were. In reply to Father
Ationufa report on the affair, Aguaviva wrote that he hoped the viceroy
wonld:dissuade the Archbishop from his plan unless Toribio requested the
rermigssion of the Jesuit pr::vinczia:l.48 Toribio canceled his visit dbut 8
more serious quarrel followed.

In 1589 the Indians of El Cercado, influenced by some of the clergy,

47 Astrain, 1V, 525.
48 Ibid., IV, 526.
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formally protested to the king against Jesuit supervision. The follou_ng
yoar Viceroy Velasco's successor, the Marqués de Cadste, having ipveiigated
the complaint upon orders from the Council of Indies, reported that cmdi-
tione at E1 Cercado warranted no dilsatisfaction'498hort1y after thitinci-
dent, Toribio failed in an attempt to establish an Indian parish similar to
El Cercado, dedicated to San Lagaro, on the opposite side of Lima. Wile
Toribio was on a pastoral visit the Viceroy directed the few Indians

San Lazaro to El Cercado. Incensed by this action, the Archbishop fimed
another parish cloae to the Jesuit residence. In reply to the compldnts

of the Jesuits, the Viceroy and Audiencia directed the Archbishop to
forsake this undertaking. Both the matter of the visits to Jesuit ruldenced
and to El Cercado were brought to Madrid and to Rome. Onm June 10, 18, a
Congregation of Cardinals announced that such religious comrunities g E}
Cercado were not subject to episcopal visitations; the following Decaber
the Council of Indies ordoi'ed Tori‘gio to leave the vicinity around Ellercade
entirely under Jesuit supervision. ° Thou_deciaiona reached Lima inly of
1592, and Toribio dutifully complied with the stipulations. A House
Reclusion for Indian medicine men was added to El Cercado in 1618, ajin

51
1620 a college for caciques was founded here.

49 Velasco atiridbuted the complaint to the work of the regular clergy,
particularly to Alonso de Huerto who desired the parish at El Gcrcﬁo,
Astrain, IV, 530; IV, 526 from Irigoyen, II, 178.

50 Atienza to Aquaviva, Lima, Aprril 1, 1592, Astrain, Iv, 528.

51 Oliva, 204; “Constitucibnes del Gologio dc los Caciques que por orim:
de su Magestad ha fundada en El Cercado de Santiago desta Ciudad &

los Reyes," in Domingo Angulo, "Documentos sobre los antiguos coleghs
de caciques," Revista del Archivo Necional del Peru, (1920), I, 36.372;
Mendiburu, III, B7, ‘




These branches of the Colegio M&ximo de Sar Pedro y San Pablo in Iima,
the novitiate, the grammar school, the seminary of San Martin, and the Indian
gsettlement of El Cercado are illustrative of the type of foundations estab-
1ished by the Society throughout the Province. San Pedro y San Pablo was
the adminispmative center for all, but due to the vastness of the Province
and the difficulty in maintaining frequent communications betwsen Lima and
the distant houses to the north and south, other residences or colegios were
established which, subordinate to the Colegio Miximo and manned by instructorsy
from ite halls, served as centers for the activities of the padres in the
various localities. Such residences were subsequently founded at Santiago

del Estero, Cuzco, Santiago de Chile and Quito.




CHAPTER V
PROVINCIAL ADMINISTRATION AND ORGANIZATION

The instructions given Portillo by Borgia in March, 1567, describe
the principal features of Jesult organization throughout the Americas.l
They were addressed not only to Portillo but also ¢to "the other fathers
who go to the Indies from Spain." This brief but important document dontaing
seven explicit directions.

First of all, the fathers were to restrict their foundation§ to a few
localities in the beginning, and they were admonished to avoid undertaking
tasks or missions that they might not be able to continue. Borgie had
reason to fear the dispersion of his men in the vast area of Spanish Amer-
ica. A royal cédula of March 3, 1586, had petitioned the Society to
appoint twenty-four missionaries to be sent to the Americas by the Council
of Indies. Although such royal petitions were actually commends, Borgia
hesitated to aproint men without kmowing thelr exact destination in the
vast territories of Spanish America.snoquests for Jesuits, as has already
besn noted, had beeh sent from many sections of the viceroyalties of New

Spain and Peru, and there were the persistent demands of Menéndez to send

men to the Florida wilderness. The vagueness of this cédula worried Borgia,

1 "Instructions regarding the affairs which are entrunsted to Father Por-
tillo and to dbther fathers who are going to the Indies from Spain,"
March, 1567, Borgia Letters, IV, 419-421;Feliz Zubillaga, "™étodos
Missionales de la Primers Instruccién de San Francisco de Borja para
la América Espafiola (1567)," Archivum Historicum Societatis Iesu, Rome,
(1943), XII, 58-88. Text of cedula, 80-62.

2 Borgia Letters, IV, 226. The contents of this cedula were revealed by the
president of the Council to Father Araoz before the king had affixed his
iggg?txﬁg &.A}rﬁf igg?rmed Borgia of this in a letter 57 February 22,

3 Ibid., IV, 226-227; A.H.S.I., XII, 64-65.
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for he did not know whether the Council intended to dispatch the padres to
Florida, New Spain or Peru as a group, or whether they were to s separated
and sent to Warious sections of the Americas. Borgia made it clear thst
the Society should begin in one section and establish there until the man-
power problem should resdlve itself sufficisently to warrant further expan-
sion.4 ¥hen he wrotd these instructions to Portillo, the fathers had
already been drafted to participate in Menendesz' Florida project. Even then
the insurmountable difficulties in establishing permanent foundations in
this land where the Zathers were dispersed at the will of the Adelantado
were apparsnt. Borgla did not intend to have his men serve only as transi-
tory missionaries, but he wanted them to found psrmsnent establishments
and to increase the radius of their activities only when they were assured
that they could continue thework they begane.

The second point mentioned in the instructions concerned the residence
of the provincial and the selection of superiors. The provincial was to
reside at the main house of the province from which all other activities
should be directed, and he should be able to cammunicate with the other
housas established in his rrovince. The superiors were to be selected with
utmost care to be certain that those whe directed the work of the Socisty
would be equipped not only with admirable spiritual qualities, but also
with the tact and prudence of able administratore. In this, Borgia was

rephrasing the words of Ignatius found in the Constitutions of the Society,

4 Again, in a letter to Araoz, March 16, 1567, Borgia wrote, "... if we
procesd slowly we will be able to sustain the tasks we assume.® Borgia
Letters, IV, 446.
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both in regard to the nocudty of the provincials! commnication with
cther houses and in the requisite qualities of m;.perim-m.5 Borgia emphasized
the importance of vigilance in this matter, for laxity in this regard would
be disastrous in the provinces sc remote from Spain and Rame.

Thirdly, the fathers were to concentrate first upon the instruction of
the natives in the cities who had already been baptized, and then they were
to "attend to the conversion of others who are not baptized, proceeding
pruodently and undertaking no more than they can manage and also thiy shonld
not as a matter of expediency, travel from one section to another to convert
rersons whom later they would be unable to attcnd."s The natives who had
been baptized were frequently not practicing Christians, and were often
ignorant of the meaning of the Faith. This was the result of mass baptisms
of of the failure to give them sufficient instruction bsfore baptism as
well as the lack of continuvous instruction after conversions were made.
Already the fathers had witnessed the sad rasults of such procedures in ”
India and in Brazil where they found many who were Christian in name only.
The caution againast makipg hasty converts "as a matter of expediency® might
well have been a warning to the fathers to avold being used as tools in
projects such as that of Menéndez, who appeared mors interested in the

speedy pacification of natives by cross or sword in order to realize his

ambitions of conquest than he was in fostering the slower process of gaining

5 M,H.S.I., Mon. Ign. Consti., II, 699, n2, 723, n. 8. Exceptional care was
taken in selecting men for missionary work from the Begimming. A.H.S,.T,,
XII, 89; J. M, Ganero, Ba accidén misionera y los métodos misionales de
San Ignacio de Loyola, Burgos, 1931, 131-143.

6 Borgia Letters, IV, 420.

7 AHS.I., XII, 72-73; Granero, 161-167; Leite, Historia, II, 271-279.




gincere conéorts to the Church

In the fourth article of the instructions it was stated that‘!thoso who
entsred areas which wers not completely under Spanish control should reside
at some protected city or fort where either the civil or the military auth-
orities coﬁld afford protection and assistance.

The fifth article summarized the method or plan for evangelizing
natives, which had been the general procedure followed in the orient and in
Braz.:ll.e First of all the fathers were to vprepare themsslves for their work
among the Indisns by acéuiring a knowledge of the native temperament, rites
and language. Then they were to concentrate upon the conversion of native
chiefs or influential natives whose cooperation and example would facilitate
the evangelization of the tribes.

Next, Borgia stressed the necessity of the fathers?! avoiding undue
peril in hostile regions. He noted that the need for clergy was great, and
the difficulties bnvolved in replacing any man in the province demanded every
precantion against martyrdom. The General reminded his men that they could
serve God as well, possibly better, and certainly longer, by living for their
Faith rather than dying for it. The crown of martyrdom was desired so ardent-
ly by many of the sixteenth century religious that it sometimes led them to
invite death by risking their lives unnecessarily in the lands of hostile
natives.g Borgia hoped to avoid losing more men such as Mart{nez due tc; ’%ho
lack of sufficient protection.

The seventh instruction required written reports from the provincial and

8 AchStIo, XII, 80"&‘
9 Ibid., XXI, 83-85.




superiors which were to include a description of the progress of the Society
and of the land, climate, peoples and general situation in the vgrious
localities. Thus the General could check upon the needs and activities of
the remote provinces.

Borgia's instructions and his missionary plan met the spproval of Pope
Pius V, who had been elected Jamuary 7, '1566.10'1'11. Pope was particuleriy
concerned with the evangelizing of the orient and of the Americas, and he
welcomed the aid of the Society in this tremendous nndoraaking.u

While, as the instructions indicate, the chief concern of the Jesuits
in the Americas was the conversion and instruction of the natives, the
fathers were also to found educational establishments. The fact that the
Jesults were sent as a province implies this latter obligation. A province
had to have a central collsge, a novitiate, a juniorate, a philosophate, a
theologate and a tertianship or third probation.lzThoy not only afforded
the necessary training for their own men, but they provided educational
opportunities for the Spanish laymen and clergy of the province.

Portillo had complied with his instruction to founci & colegio méximo
a8 the first step in establishing the Society in Peru. This accomplidhed,
plans for work in other ssctions of the rrovince were considered. Since

Borgia wanted the Sociéty to establish a firm foundation in the principal

city before spreading outside of Lima, he wrote to Portillo in 1568: “

10 Ivid., XII, 87-88.
11 L. Lopetegus, "San Francisco de Borja y el plan misional de San Pio V,"
A.H.8.I., XI, (1942), 1-26.

12 Jacobsen, Educational Fcundations of the Jesuits in Sixteenth Century
New Spain, 17-35.




Even though same individuals in that
land, inspired by a holy devotion,
should offer foundations and assistance -
for them, as ... wers offered elsewhers,
accept no place however for the present
time outside the City of the Kiygs, nor
assume any obligation to establish a
center in Peru without understanding first
of all more of the affairs there, in order
that the people may be satisfiediand those
who remain in Panama or who may be in other
sections should be there on missions and
not under the obligation of establishing
reaidences.

Having founded the principal house in
the City of the Kings, if it should seem
necessary to assign some of our men to
Indian repartimientos in order to instruct
the natives in doctrine, it should be with
these conditions as far as possible: First
that they should be extremely virtuous and
worthy to be intrusted with this position;
Second, they should be loczated as close to
the principal residence as possible in order
that they may easily commnicate ... Third,
they should not be obligated or assigned
for a definite period, but the superior should
be free to dispatch or recall them. Fourth,
they should accept no stipend unless it seems
necsssary for them to do 8o in order to sub-
sist; and with this the Provincial should
have grasped the knowledge of these parts
and be informed asbout matters in order that
he may know the most effective way to proceed
in the service of God. And always, in order
that he might advise on important matters, let
he consultors write him their individual
opinions regarding these affairs that he might
evaluate them individually. 13

Portillo had already, by May 15, 1569, received requests to establish

residences in Cusco, Charcas, Quito, Cartagens and Panama from the cabildos

13 Borgia to Portillo, October 8, 1568, Astrain, II, 629-630.
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and from prominent individuals in these cities. The lack of men prevented

the Provincial's acceptance of these offers at the time. Before the termina
tion of Portillo's provincialate, howsver, the paires had commenced work
around Cusco, La Paz, Arequipa and Potos{i.

The administration of the province mado.nocossary personal tours of
inspection by the provincial and by visitadors, provincial congregations,
and anmal reports from the superiors. The need for maintaining a regular
system of supervisiocn in the faraway and vast province of Peru was even
greater and more difficult than that in the European provinces. The admini-
strative system was the same however. American provincials were guided by
the same rules as those of Furcupe. S0 also were the rectors.

The first means of supervision were the periodic visits made by the

provincials to the various houses throughout the province. In some instance
provinciels selected capable men to make this inspection for them, as was th]
case in 1573 when Portillo selected Acosta to inspect the beginnings at
Cuzco and to check upon the possibilities qf establishing houses olscwhcrofs
The Jesuit Gensral also appointed a Vigitador who served as an inspector to
tour the entirs pro?inco. The Visitador or visitor was empowered with con-
siderable authority to make resisions in the plan of proceedings in the pro-
vince, and in disciplinary matters. Appeals from the Visitador's decisions
could he made dirsctly to the General, but more frequently the Visita;qr

was able to solve the difficulties to the satisfaction of the majority in

the province. The first Visitador of Peru was Father Jusn de la Plaza, who

14 Portillo to Borgia, May 15, 1569, in Vargas Ugarte, Los Jesuitas del
Peru, 5. '
15 Carracido, 44.
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received this appointment for both the Province of Peru and that of New Spain
in 1674, .

lglua had entered the novitiate at Alcald in 1553, at the age of twenty
six. He had already received his doctorate having completed his studies at
the University of Alcald de Henares and at the College of Singiensza. He had
gerved as master of novices at Cordoba, rector at Granada, provincial &t
Andalucia and had been permitted to take the fourth vow. In later years he
was named Provincial of Néw Spain (1585) and then spiritual father of the
Colegio Méximo in Mexico where he remained until bis death in 1602.

I{laza sailed from Cadiz October 10, 1574, and arrived at Lima June 20,
1575. ? He had been instructed to investigate a misunderstanding between
Portillo and Toledo involving the question of the supervision of Indian
parisheﬁ under Jesuit care, whiéh will be discussed later, and to investigate
runors concerning the conduct of Father Luis LSpez in addition to the general
duty of touring the Province. After examining conditions in Lima, which he
found were satisfactory, Plaza, accompanied by Lépoz, commenced his in@octi%
cuteide the City of the Kings July 10, 1573.181% attended both sassions of
a provincial congregation held at Lima and Cuzco, since this was & meeting of
the forty senior members of the nrovince, although he was not permitted to

vote upon the decisions of the congregation. He left Cuzco January 14 for

Potos{, arriving there February l4, 1577. He journeyed from Potos{ to{»Julf

16 Torres Saldamando, Los Antiguos Jesuitas del Peru, 58; Sommervogel, VI,
Astrain, III, 161.

17 Torres Saldamando, op.cit., 58.

18 YRelacidn Ultima de la visita del Peru hiza el P. Plaza," Lima, April 25,
1579, Astrain, III, 176-177. '




July 27 to witness the establisiment of a residence. Excopt for & brief
visit to La Paz, he remained at Jul{ until November 4 when hu departed
for Arequipa whers he remained for a month. In September, 1578, Plaza
called Acosta, who was then provincial, and his advis'ors to Cuzco for o
conference. Plaza left Cuzco for Lima October 20 and sailed for New Spain
in June of 1579. His report showed satisfaction with the progress of the
Society, though he regretted the attitude of Viceroy Toledo in regard teo
the supervision of Jesuit houses.

The need for constant supervision was unfortunately demonstrated
toward the end of the century. When Father Rodrigo de Cabrsdo arrivod:" in
Peru to succeed Father Juan Sebastién de la Parra as provincial in 1599 he
learned that the latter had falled to tour the province since 1596 linco

he had been anticipating his replacement by another appointment. !‘his

neglect distressed Cabredo and Father Estéban Pész, former Provincial of I
New Spain, who arrived at Lima as Visitador July 31, 1599. Both Cabredo |
and Paez began their journey around the province immediately. It is
difficult to trace their exact itinerary, but we kmow that they visited
all the Jesuit housas‘ in Peru as well as the missions of 'I‘uc\man and
Paraguay from 1599 to 1602. |
Cabredo wrote & dreary account of the result of Sebastidn’s neglect.

In his letter to the Gensral Aquaviva, he accounted for the difﬁcﬁltiel
he found in the province:

First, Father Juan Sebastisn had not

visited the colegios of the province for

over three ysars, but had remained at the
colegio in Lima; and although I excuse him




since he says that he was expecting a

Visitador and Provincial daily, and that

consultors with whom he conferred were of the*

opinion that the situation in the province

had not altered, nevertheless the damage

that has resulted is without a doubt irre-

parable for an evil has been nourished

which spreads as a forest over the provincs. 19
Due t0 & laxity that resulted from Sebastidn's failure to check the houses
of the Province, Cabredo found it necessary to expel ten or twslve subjmcts,
six or seven of whom had been ordained. The precise nature of the offenses
committed by these subjects is not clesr. However, Aquaviva supported
Cabredo in this action when some of the fathers complained that the Provin-

4 20
cial had been too severe in his judgements. Since there had been consider~
able difficulty with many of the Peruvian members of the Society, Aquaviva,
like Mecurian, advised that men born in Peru should bs admitted to the
Society only when they reached their twentieth year, but he encouraged the
foatering of vocations among these young men, and their training in the
2l
Jesuit schools. The failure to visit the Province was an error seldom
repeated in the history of the Jesuits in Peru.
The provincial congregations were another means of organizing amd

directing the Province. The first of these, held in 1576, was probably one
of the most important in the eerly history of the Society in Peru, for it

was at this meeting that plane were laid for the course subsequently followed

19 Cabredo to Aquaviva, April 26, 1601, Ibid., IV, 534.

20 Ibid., IV, 535.

21 Aquaviva to Cabredo, March 10, 1603, Ibid., IV, 836. In 1575 Plaza had
stated that no applicent should be admitted to the Society until he
reached his twentieth year, except in exceptional cases, and each
applicant should be known and examined for one year previous to his
adminion. José Jouanen, Histéria de la Compaifia en la antigus Provincia

e Quito, Quito, 1941, I, 17-18.
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by the padres in Peru.

This first provincial congregation met at Lima, January 6, 1576, in
order to rgviow the progress in the Province and to remedy the Obstacles
encountered during the eight years the Society had been established in Porufz
Father Jose de Acosta had assumed his duties as second provincial of Peru
on January 1lst of that year. A delegate or procurator was generally elected
t0 represent the decisions of the congregation in Spain and Rome. There were
two sessions held by the congregation, the firat at Lime in Jamiary and the
gecond at Cuzco the following October. Fathers Acosta, Bartolome Hernandesz,
Juan de Montoya, Bdltasar Pinas, Bracamonte, Diego Ortun, Luis Lépez and
Pedro de Barcena attended the Lima session. Pifias and Ortun wsre absent from
the second session while Portillo, Ziniga and Andrés Lépez were 1nc1ud.ad..23
Four questions were of particular interest to this congregation.

The first of these problems had arisen through a difficulty regarding
Jesuit procedure in Peru. The friction resulting from Portillo's refusal to
become involved in the parochial system anong the Guarochiri Indians, which
will be discussed in detail in a later chapter, had raised the question of
whether the Society should accept similar parishes in other localities of
Peru. Portillo's encounter with Tolado on this score brought a vital problem
in Jesuit Qdminintration in Peru to the foreground. It was decided at the
congregation that the precedent set by Portillo in this regard would pg?’

followed. Bracamonte, who had returned in 1575, Bartolomé Hernindez snd a

22 The Jesuit congregations should not be confused with the archiiocesan
provincial councils which were held in Lima, under the direction of the
archbishop. The provincial congregation was confined to the Jesuits.
Hernéez, II, 367-368.

23 Astrain, III, 163-167; Torres Saldamendo, Los Antiguos Jesuitas del
Peru, 4.
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few others objected, but the majority supported Portillo's decision.

The second matter of discussion was whether travelling missigns, such
a8 those conducted among the Spaniards and natives in cities, should be
méde among uncivilized infidel tribes. Borgia had admonished his superiors
to avoid sending men into areas where their lives were sndangered. The
congregation therefore, resolved to consentrate first upon the care amd
instruction of thoss titibes located near Spanish settlements where some
degree of protection was assured, and to trayel among only those infidel
natives who were docile and who were incline: to accept the doctrine.

The congregation also decided to establish a residence at the Indian
reduction of Julf, not far from Potoel, whers the Dominicans formerly con-
ducted a mission. The group discussed too, the matter of establishing
colleges for caciques and for the more intelligent natives. It was agreed
that the caciques should receive special instruction, but no definite plans
were made for the founding of cacique colleges.

Sti11 another resolution was made to print catschisms in Quechua and
Aymaré to facilitate the instruction and conversion of the natives. Porti?lo
had required that all those in his province study Quechua immedisatsely upon
their arrival in Peru. Plaza stipulated that each man should devote the
minimum of six months to this study and shortly afterwards, the General
decreed that‘ no member of the Society in this province could be assigred
to work among the Spaniards until his had devoted his efforts to work smong -
the nativu.24'l‘hc Society encountered considerable difficulties in obtaining

rermission to print thess catechisms at Lima. Atlienza, in a letter to

24 Jouanen, I, 23-24.
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Aquaviva, April 8,22584, described the Audiencia's reluctance to grant the
necessary licenee. He reported that the catechisms and dictionaries had
been composed and approved by the provincial congregation, but there was
a general attitude of reluctance on the part of the officiéls in Lima to
grant permission for the printing of any work. The Audiencia finally
issued a permit February 13, 1584, giving authority to Antonio Ricardo, a
reliable printer who had worked in New Spain from 1569 to 1579, to publish
the work at the Colegio Maximo. This was the firat lieense to be granted
in Peru, but the catechism was not the first work to be published., Oparationlﬂ
were delayed when Ricardo received ordsrs to print instructions pertaining
to the corrections recently made on the ca.lender.%'l‘ho catechisms were
final 1y off the press by tha latter part of 1584. Acosta was cited as the
author, although Torres Saldamando holds that only the composition of the
catechisms was the work of Acosta, while the translation into Quechua and
Aymard was the work of Fathers Valera and Sanf.iago.m

In addition to the tours of inspection and the congregations, a
third means of supervision was the annual report made by the superiors of
the various houses to the provincial who, foom these, madczgnd submitted

an account of the rrogress in his province to the Gensral. These letters,

the well known Cartas Anunas, are & most valuable source of information to

4’

25 Ibid., I, 26.

26 The ti’clo of this work is Pragmatic sobre los diez dias del afo, July 14,
1584, Bgrnard Moses, Spanish Colonial Literature in South America, Mew
York, 1922.

27 José de Acosta, Doctrina christiana y catechisma para imstruccién de los
Indio y las demas personas gue han de ser enseiados en nuestra Santa Fe.

Con un confessionario y otras cosas necessirios para 1os gue dectrinan

que 8e contiensn en la pagina sequients, Lima, 1584. This work was re-
rrinted in 1773 by order ¢f the Provincial Council. Sommervogel, I,31-33;
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the student of Spanish American colonial history since they generally
contain a description of the conditions prevelent in the area as well as
an account of the activities of the Jesuits. The provincial congregations
also sent reporte to the General. So too, did the rectors of the various
housos..

The number of Jesuits in the Peruvian province rose from seven in
1568 to 376 before the division of the province in 1604. It has been
noted that Portillo accspted thirty men into the Society before the end of
1568+, The number grew to 44 by 1570.29Whon Toledo accepted his appoimtment
as viceroy, November 26, 1568, he immsdiately requested both Borgia and
the king to assign more men to the viceroyalty.aoBorgia had previously
received similar requests from the cabildo, the Audiencia of Lima, the
Archbishop Loayza, and various prominent individuals .31 Philip IX asked the
General to select twenty men for work in Peru and Florida.szIn reply,
Borgia selected ten to ascumpany Toledo to his post, including five priests,
Bartolom# Hernindez, superior, Juan Garcfa, 4lonso Barzana or Barcena,
Hernén Sanchesz, Rodrigo llvarcz, three shholastics who were soon to be
ordained, Juan de Zufiga, Antonio Mart{nez, Diego Ortun or Ortuno, and two

33
lay brothers, Juan de Casasola and Diego Mert{nez. This group set sail

29 Jouanen, I, 14; Astrain, III, 159-160.

30 Borgia Letters, IV, 62C; 6831-632; 641-643. 2y

31 Ivid., IV, 610; Astrain, IV, 311-312.

32 Astrain, IV, 312, says the king requested 20 for work in Peru without
mentioning that some wsre to go to Florida. This is not an error,
however, since Florida was at this time a vice-province of Peru. Borgia
says, December 24, 1568, that the king requssted 20 to accompany Toledo
to the New World and that they were to be assigned to Florida and Peru.
Borgia Letters, IV, €81-684.

33 Astrain, IV, 312, from Regest. Borgiae Hispaniae, 1567-1869, f. 180;
Jovanen, I, 13,




_ gap Lucar March 19, 1569, but dus to stopovers made by the Viceroy at

tagens, Nombre de Dios and Panama, they did not enter the Ci® ty of the
34

pge until November of that yesr. Meanwhile Father Garc{a die ed at Panama
shere the STOUP had been detained for two months. The third gre oup of J esuit#

s0 sail for Peru included only three, but each was a man of exce eptional

porite Father José de Acosta, about whom more will be said late er, Andrés
‘ 25

gépes and Diego Martinez disembarked at Callso April 27, 1572. Lépes,
who received his major orders in Peru, was a zealous misgionary - and a

36
] gapable superiors. Mart{nez finished his thsological studies at Lima, wase

" erdained at Cuzco in 1573, andac;ontribu’cod mach to the missionaxxy progress
T around Cuzco, Jull and La Pas. |
{ The fourth contingent of thirteen arrived May 31, 1675, wi+ th the
Tisitador Plaza.ze'l‘wo of the fathers, Diego de Vaena from ths Px rovince of
Apdalucia, and Diego Suarez from the Province of Rome, died befe ore reachng
1 Lima. Vaena perished at sea while Suarez succumbed to the fevexrx at Panama.
j Included in this group were Father Juan Montoya, former Provinc= ial of
8icily, and Father BAltasar Pifias, who was fo serve as Provincisal of Peru
from 1581 until 1585, and a lay brother, Bernardo Bitti, whom Bxrracamonte
¥ bad sought especially for his artistic talent could well be emp™ leyed in
\mtifyi.ng the chapels and churches of the Society in Poru..39

, 40
By 1576 Portillo had accepted fifty novices into the Socie— ty at bima.

- 34 Zimmerman, 54-60.

§ 38 Torres Saldamando, Los Antiguos Jesuitas del Peru, 2.
§ 6 Ibid., 35.

&7 Ibid., 50-51.
| 38 Oliva, 304-305.

L 39 Ibid., 205-206.

- 40 Mendiburu, IX, 206; Torres Saldamando, Revista Historice, II= T, 159-160.
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Four years later there were 110 Jesuits in the Province, and the following
year Pifas, returning to Peru from Spain where he had acted as pfécuritor

of the Province to serve as Provincial, brought twenty members including
41
twelve priests. These he had recruited from the Spanish provinces. Twenty
43
more men were sent from Spain in 1585, when Atienza was appointed Provincial/

Despite the rumber of men who had entered the Society in Lima and
those who had come from Spain, the nsed for more was imperative, in order
to comply with the requests for padres arriving by messengers from the
various parts of the province. Consequently the Viceroy, Condé de Villar,
sent Father Zdfilga t0 Spain in 1589 to recruit thirty Jesuits for the
viceroyalty. The petition of the Viceroy read:

Father Diego de Zhfiiga has bsen sent to
court with orders to beg Your Majesty to
grant the necessary license to bring

thirty members of the Company here «.e.
there are vast, densely populated Indian
territories that are being discovered

every day; these religious express their
desire to convsrt the Indisns and accomplish
the fruitful results Your Majesty desires,
end they are unable to achieve this end
without further assistance ...« they

report there are 174 religious in all the
territory. The majority of these are
students and lay brothers, for there are

but 75 priests, and it is not right that
they should abandon the cities and ports
where they ars needed ..... it is my opinion
that Your Majesty should grant the licensce
in order that thirty members of this Company
.be permitted to coms to this kingdom, since
they are extremely helpful in converting and
instructing the negroes, Spaniards, and Indians. 43.

41 In 1580 there were 500 Jesuits in Castile, 480 in Toledo, 260 in Andalucih,
200 in Aragon, and 107 in New Spain, according to the catalogue of that
year. Astrain, III, 183; Pastslls, I, 95.

{03§ de Arr%gga, La extirpacién de 1a idolatria en el Peru, Lima, 1820,
ix of ¢ w!?"‘TT%SE"EEE‘TEEFfQQﬁ brothsers.

43 Villar to Philip II, March 31, 1589, Levillier, Or anizacidn, I, 456-457.




By 1592 the number of Jesuits rose to 193, by 15956 to 242, and by 1604 to
376.44 d

Having indicated the organization of the Jesuits in Peru, their general
policies, and. the number of men assigned to the viceroyalty during the six-
teenth century, it seems necessary at this point to review the general trend
of expansion $hraughout the Province, which will be treated in more detail
in the following pages.

By 1605 the Jesuits were established in the present republics of Peru,
Bolivia, Argentina, Ecuador, Chile and Colombia, and it is significant to
note that they had a key residences in the eapital_of each of t};ese rojau:blica,
save Argentina, whose praesent capital was not founded until 1580, and was of
slight importance during the greater part of colonial Spanish American
history. However, the fathers did visit Buenos Aires and later established
a house there.

To the southwast there was the important center at Cuzco, and from
thera the fathers travelled to Arequipa and La Pas where they established
regidences. Then further south the colegio of Potos{ was foundsd as well
as the Indian center at Juli and the house at Chuquisaca., The next importanﬁ |
move southward was the foundation at Santiago del Estero from where the
residences and colegios of Asuncién and Cdrdoba were directed. Santa Cruz,
in Bolivéa, became the focal point for activities among the natives of -
central and eastern Bolivia and from there the fathers went to San Lorenzo

snd Santiago del Puerto.

44 Catalugus Provinciae Peruanae, 1568-1654, Astrain, IV, 507; IV, 785,




The first perimanent residence to the north was founded at Quito,
contemporary with the beginnings at Santiago del Estero. From Quito men
were directed to Guayaquil, Pasto and numerous pueblos in the region of
Ecuador. Missionaries from Peru met with those from Mexico in Colombia,
and it was not until the early seventeenth century that a permanent

college was founded at Bogota. Far south in Chile, the Society had important]

work in hand at i1ts new center at Santiago.




CHAPTER VI
Cuzco
The first step towards establishing a residence outside of the vicinity

of Lima led to Cuzco. In Cuszco, the old Inca capital, there was a dense
Indian population. There were in this district £ho Canaras and Chachapoyas,
who had been subjugated by the Incas, and other tribes who had been brought
to the capital previous to the Spanish conquest. While these natives nurtured
& resentment toward their former masters, there were at the same time many who
retained a certain loyalty to the Inca dynasty, as was evidenced during the
trial and execution of the Inca Tupac Amaru in 1572’.1 The diocese of Cusco
had no bishop from 1562 until 1573. Consequently there was a lack of directiog
or order in parochial and missionary activities.

_ Jesuit beginnings were made in this region when the fathers began a pre-
liminary reconnaisance. Tather Portillo, Father Luis Lépez and Brother
Antonio Gonzélez accomparied the viceroy on his tour of inspection as far as

2
Ayacucho, or Guamango as it was called then. Portillo had been selected by

3
the viceroy to accompany the viceregal tour as an interpreter. Toledo under-
took the tour in order that he might study the needs of the viceroyalty and
remedy the evils which called for correction. The project necessitated .the

viceroy's absence from Lima for five ysars, éuring which time he travelled

X Montesinos, 44-45.
2 Torres Saldamando, Revista Histérice, I, 441-442.

3 Levillier, Don Francisco de Toledo, supremo organizador del Psru, Madrigd,
1936, 206-206. -




r—

over 5,000 miles. The psrsommel of the group who assisted him included some
of the most capable military leaders, political advisers, scholarg and
clerics in the vic:oroya.lt;y.4 The tank of visiting every settlement could not
be accomplished by one man. Consequently delegates were entrusted to
rerredent the viceroy in various sections. Although the tour was extensive,
it covered but a small portion of the area included in the viceroyalty, for
actuslly it was confined to southern Peru and western Bolivia.5 Then too,
for almost two years Toledo remained at Guzco or in the district following
his arrival there in the middle of Fcbrmy, 1571, It would have been
impossible for Portillo, as provincial, to remain with the viceroy during
the years when this expedition was conducted. The Provincial was needed
at the Colegio Miximo in Lima, and could be spared only for the necessary
provincial wisitations to Jesult houses outeide the capitsl or to inspect
the possibilities of establishing the Society in various luc:(::lom.6 However,
although we find no mention of it in Portillo's report, it is probéble that
during the short time he remained with the viceregal party he did act as an
interpreter.

The Jesuits, Portillo, Lépez and Gonzklesz, departed from Lima October 23,

7
1570, with the Toledo expedition. Tollowing the royal road from Lima to

4 Zimmerman, 85-90.

5 Torres Saldamando, Libro primero de Cabildos Lima, Paris, 1900, II, 110.

6 Zimmerman, 90, says: "Three interpreteras were taken along." Thon ho pro-
ceeds to name Portillo as one of these and indicates that the padre re-
mained with the viceroy excspt for the short time he proceeded the
entourage to Cuzco. Ibid., 91-92. _

7 Levillier, Don Francisco de Toledo, 210; Coleccion de documentos ineditos
relativos al descubr ento, conquista vy colinagacién de la posesiones

espafioles espafitles de Amdrica y Ocesnia, Madrid, 1884-1884, VII, 247. The later

work cited hencsforth as Documentos 1ne’d_i,tos.. .Amorica.
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Ayacucho, they passed through the Guarochiri district where Dr. Garbtisel
Duarte, in compliance with viceregal orders, had mommenced the ‘;'oduction
of the natives in villages., Upon Toledo!s request Portillo agreed to send
Jesuits to these nativn.a The difficulties involved in assuming the care
and instruction of the Guarochiri will be treated in another chapter.
Contimuing along the royal road the group arrived at Ayacucho December 15,
1570. The entourage remained a while in this valley of the highlands whilJ
Portillo decided to journey to Cuzco t0 review the situation and the
prospects of extending the work of the Society to thc o0ld Inca capital.
Evidently word of their comming arrived at Cuzco before the fathers
a1d for they were given an enthusiastic formal reception by the cabildo,
the corregidor Don Juan Ramon and many of the citizens as they entered the
city in the early days of January, 1571.‘9 The group resided at the hospital
of San Bartolome, while they spent their days ministering to the natives
who were 80 numerous in the vicinity and to the Spaniards; On January 15,
a spocial feast day at Cugco, and the election day for the selection of
alcaldes, Portillo was asked to preach at the cathedral. The enthusiastic
response of the psople and the opportunity for helping the multitude of
native peorles of the highlands, convinced Portillo that he should make
arrangements for a permanent residence. So it was that he sent a
massenger to Toledo, who was still in Ayacucho, to procure the necessary

10
licence to found a house. The viceroy not only granted permission for

8 Documentos Inéditos...imdrice, VIII, 246-247,
9 Montesinos, II, 43; Vargas Ugarte, Los Jssuitas en Peru, 8.

10 Torres Saldamando, Revista Histdrico, II, 453.
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this foundation but at the same time he assigned a repartimiento of 12,500
pesos towards the project.n d

Next, Portillo commenced negotiations with the cabildo to purchase the
former residence of Hernando Pizarro located beside the principal plaza on
the site of the palace of the Inca Buanya Capac .lz‘l‘ho house was large and
conveniently located for the purpose of the fathers, although it was sadly
in need of repairs as well as necegsary alterations. It was purchased for
exactly 12,500 peso2, the amount granted the Society by the viccroy.ls'l'ho
city officlals, in accordance with instructions from Toledo, contributed
towards the alterationas on the building and towards the construction of the
church, which was to be part of the group of colegio buildings, dedicated to
the Transfiguration of the Savior. Work on the church commenced immediately
but 1t was not until eight years lat;r that the task was comploted.l41t was
in the Transfiguracifn that Brother Bitti, who came to Peru in 1575,
executed soms of his finest murals.

The most generous individual contribution was made by Captain Diego de
Silva Gusman and his wife, Terssa Orgdhes .15'1‘h¢y donated 20,000 pesos as
scon as Portillé received the viceregal licence, and they added to this
another 10,000 before 1572. On September 9, 1578, Guzman and his wife

received a patent giving them the title of "Founders of the College of

* Ty

11 Ibid., II, 453.

12 Montesinos, II, 43.

13 Torres Saldamando, Revista Histdrico, I, 453-454; Mendiburu, IX, 208.

14 Mendiburwu, IX, 208.

15 Vargas Ugarte, Maruscritos Peruanas, I, 135; Torres Saldamendo, Los
Antiguos Jeguitas del Peru, 56.
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| of Cuzco® which granted them the privilege of having their sepulchres built

jn the Jesuit church and of having Masses said for them upon the%s deaths.

Thenceforward the newly begun colegio of Cuzco was given excellent
financial support by the citizens and wss, as a rule, in better financial
condition than the majdrity of the Jesuit houses in the province. In 1588
3t received a rich hacienda from Andrfs Torres de Mendozs and his wife,
DoAa Beatriz Bonifaz ds Ocampa.lsFour years later the Dominican Bishop
Gregorio Montalva, who had been appointed to this see in 1590, bequeathed
over 12,000 pesos to the Society, and was buried in the chapel of the coiZgid

Before he had complsted all the arrangements for the purchase of the
house, Portillo appointed Father Diego ds Bracamonte rector of the colegio
in January, 1571.183racamonto concluded the arrangements when Portillo
returned to Lima. In addition to Father Ldpsz, Bracamonte had the assistancy
of two bruthers, Gonzdlez de Ocampo and Gonzdlez Rulz. Shortly after he
received this appointment Bracamonte sailed for Spain to recruit mors men
for the province and to discuss ths Guarochiri question, which has been
mentioned, with the Council of Indies and in Rome. Three more men were
assigned to Cuzco in 1572, ¥ather Alonso de Barcena, Bartolome Santiago and
Blas Valera.

These three were well quslified to achieve much progress particularly
among the natives in the vicinity. Barcena, an Andalucian, was forty;g?a

years old when, upon his own reguest, he was sent to Peru in 1569 with the

group accompanying Toledo. During the voyage from Spain to Lima he studiaed

16 Vargas Ugarte, Manuscritos Perusnas, I, 135; Mendiburu, VII, 414-415.
17 Mendiburu, VII, 415.
18 Pastells, I, 2.




jpo quechua and Aymara languages in order to squip himself as quickly as
po,sible for missicnary work in the viceroyalty. He commenced work amorlg
he natives in Lima the day following his entrance into the city. Portillo
pad selected him for surerior of the Guarochiri mission where he worked from
1570 until the parishes were abandoned in 1572. Shortly after his return

yo Lima he was assigned to Cuzco where he was occupied in the instruction of
yhe natives until 1577 when he was sent to Julf to commence work on a new
jesult foundation. Barcena was truly a pioneer padx;e, for from the time of
pis arrival in Peru until his death at Cuzco in Januvary, 1598, he was active
ip establishing new mission centers throughout the southern portion of the
uceroyalty.lg

The companions ¢of Barcena, Santiago and Valera, hed yet to complete
their studies of theology. Although they were not yet ordained, Portillo
erdered both to0 Cuzco sincs their knowledge of Quechua and Aymaré would be
of great service in instructing the natives. Both were crsoles, born in
Peru. Santiago had lived in Arequipa with his mother, an’ Indian named
Francisca, and his father, a leading man in the town, Don Juan de Santiago,
mtil he joined ths Society at Lima, December 5, 1569.20Ho remained at Cuzco
there he was ordained until 1583 when he returned to Lima to instruct the
tatives and to direct Indian congregations. This was his work until his
leath in 1589 at the early age of thirty eight.

Valera, born in San José® de Chachapayas, Peru, was recaived into the

'Ociety at the age of seventeen, November 9, 1568. Hs was doéply intereated

19 Torres Saldemando, Los Antiguos Jesuitas del Peru, 32-33.
@ Ibid., 47-48.
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in both the language and the history of the natives of his land. In later
years, upon royal cammand, he went to Spain to supervise the prizfi:ing of a
nistory of the Incas .learcona, Santiago and Valera collaborated in the
composition of a catechism and dictionary in Quechua and Aymard to facilitatl
instruction of the natives and to train other men for missionary work among
the Indians.22

Lépez acted as temporary superior of the colegio upon Bracamonte!s
departure. By the end of 1572 Father Juan de Zuniga, who had com: t0 Peru
in 1569, where he waa ordained, was appointed superior by Acosta:s

In the summer of 1573 Father Jos& de Acosta was appointed by Portillo
to examine affairs at Cuzco. Acosta is the most famous of the sixteenth
century Jesults to work in Peru.%Ho was born at Medina del Campo in 1539
or 1540, the son of Antonio de Acosta, a wealthy and prominent citizen of
this tewn. Four of his brothers hed joinsd the Society when Jos#® entered in
1553. He had distinguished himsslf as a student of theology before coming
to Peru in 1572 where he had been sent to tseach theology at the Colegio
Mdximo. While teaching at San Pedro y San Pablo he mastersd the study of
Quechua and Aymara, and took much interest in the plans for expending the
work of the Society. Portillo placed a great deal of confidence in the

judgement of this young scholar whom , he felt, was equally capable as an

administrator and a missionary. Acosta justified such confidence both'in

2l Ibid., 20; Sommervogel, VIII, 402.

22 Sommervogsl, VIII, 402; Torres Baldamando, Los Antiguos Jesultazs del
Peru, 20-23.

23 Torres Saldamando, Op. cit., 3.

24 Carracido, 1-74; Sommervogel, I, 31; Astrain, III, 157-158; Torres
Saldamendo, gop.cit., 2.
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his record up to the time he came to Peru and in his later achievements. He
served as Provincial of Peru from 1576 until 1581 during a time %hen the
Society faced unusual difficulties in its dealings with Viceroy Toledo.
From 1581 until 1585 Acosta resumed teaching at the Colegio MAximo. At the
same time he was a consultor of the viceroys Enrfquez and Conds de Nieva.
In 1585 Philip II called Acosta to Spain where he was to work on a history
of the Indies. From Lima he sailed to New Spain, remaining there almost

three years t0 study the history, the flora and fauns of the land. Return-

25
ing to Spain in 1588 he finished his history by 1590. He served as Visita-

dor of Aragon and Andalucia and later as rector at Salamanc® where he died
Februvary 15, 1600.

When Acosta arrived at Cuzco in the svmmer of 1573 there were seven
26

novices at the house. Cuzco had already been establighed a8 a training
center for missionary work. While the fathers ministered t© the Spaniards,
they concentrated primarily upon the care and instruction of the natives in

the vicinity. Acosta, who was not uncritical in his report, told Portillo
27
that this colegio was a source of "great edification and comfort to all..."

Scholastic activities at Cuzco began in 1576 when Portillo assumed the
rectorship of the Colegio of San Bernardo at which time Acosta was appointed

Provincial of Parue Portillo established five chairs, two in arts or

» %y

25 Jose de Acosta, HistSria natural y moral de los Indias en que se tratan
los cosas notables de cielo, y elementos metales, plantas, y animales
dellos® y los ritos y ceremonias, leyes, y guerros de 1los Indios,
Seville, 1580. Many editions of this work have appeared since 1590 in
Spanish, French, German Italian and Fnglish. The latest edition was
printed in Mexico in 1940. Fiftesn editions are in the Ayer Collection.
Barreda y Laos, 99, refers to AcCosta as the ™most notable intellectual
director of the Peruvian youth of the sixteenth century.®

26 Torres Saldamando, Los Antiguos Jesuitss del Peru, 3,
27 Astrain, III, 155,
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or Bumaniﬁisg, and three in theology including moral theology and cases of
conscience. These classes were offered originally for the trainfﬁg of
scholastics in the Society. EHowever laymen and other religious were per-
mitted to attend the lectures.

The colegio suffered a temporary setback during 1577 due to the fact
that although Portillo was appointed rector he was at ﬁho same time selected
by the provincial congregation to act as procurator in Rome. Consequently
the colegio remained without a rector. Plaza, who had visited Cuzco in 1578
for the provincial congregation returned Dicombor 20, 1577 to find that
"...this colegio was much altered, since there was no rsctor there, and
there was one brother who taught grammar who was & source of scandal to the
colegio...."nglaza gives no hint as to why this brother was a source of
scandal, Whothor it was a matter pertaining to his personal 1ife or whether
his teaching failed to meet the standards required. The Visitador remained
at Cuzco for ten months until October 20, 1578, when Portillo returned to
asgume the duties of the rector.

The Cuzco residence soon attained prominence as an Indian center anl as
a training center for younger Jesults destined to mission fields. By 1601
there were generally twenty five to thirty religious stationed here, the
majority of whom wers Occugéed with ths instruction of natives, according to

Tiruells report that ysar. Tiruel stated: o

The residence at Cuzco was established sincs
Cuzco is a densely populated Indian district

28 Buenaventura Ora, "Errecidn de Centrds de Ensefianza superior y el Espirita

docente durante la Colonia," Reglas y Constituciones, Cdrdoba,1940, 24-25,
29 Final Report of the Visit to Peru made by Father Plaza, Lima, April 25,

1579, Astrain, III, 698.
30 José Tiruel, Relation of 1601, Pastells, I, 90.
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for there are over 30,000 natives in the city
and more than 200,000 in the vicinity. There
are twenty-five to thirty religious in this pe
house, half of whom are vriests, and all of
whom, with the exception of three who give
lectures in grammar and theology, ars occupied
in work among the natives, and the Society has
a special church (Transfiguracidén) in Cuzco
wheres there are usually three or four confessors
to hear confessions from morning to night, and
there is not a week when they do not prsach at
least three sermons, besides thoss they deliver

* in the eight parishes arvund the city, in addition
to the many and frequent missions: in this way
the Company has brought the doctrine to the major-
ity of the natives in this district and has bap-
tized more than 4,000 adult infidels and demolished
and destroyed 2,000 1dols.

These early workers laid the foundation for two notable institutions.
The first, the Colegio for Caciques, San Francisco de Borja, and the second,
the Colegio Resal de San Bernardo, later the University of San Ignacio de
Loyolas The Society generally followed the plan of educating native chiefs
in oréer that they might be assured of cgopcration in instructing the nativew
trites. This had been the course pursued at (Mseo although the native
colegio was not officially founded until April, 1621.311n 1593 Domingo de
Ros received permission from Viceroy Don Garcfe Hurtado de Mendoza to endow
such a colegio provided that the Jesuit Provincial Juan Sebastiin would
accept the offar.32 Ros was willing to contribute three silvog mines and
the partial income from another in the vicinity of Vilabamba. 3Ho intended

to retain only 2,000 pesos for himsslf, the amount he had invested in '

31 Domingo Angulo, "Documentcs sobre los antiguos Colegios de Cacigues
Fundaciones, Provisiones, Constituciones, etc.! Ravista del Archive
Nacional del Peru, (1920), I, 355-358.
32 Ibid., I, 349.
33 February 21, 1598, Ibid., I, 342-348.
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initiating operations on the mines. However, he stipulated that he should
o
participate in the administration of the temporal affairs of the colegio,

although his decisions would be subject to the approval of the rector. Ros
realized that these mines, which at the time were valued at 2,000 pesos oachﬁ
would depreciate in value and would be 1nsuff1cient_to sustain the fathers
of the colegic indefinitely. In view of this, he requested that the royal
hacienda contrivute certain lands and ronts.34fho Jesuit provincial accepted
the offer May 25, 1593, but Sebastidn did not obligate ths Society to com-
mence organizing the colegio within any set time.sslndood, almost thirty
years elapsed before the project materialized. The fathers wers directed to
undertake this task in 2 yrovision of Viceroy Princire de Esquilache in
1620.36According1y the colegio for caciques, San Francisco de Borja,
officially opened its doors April §, 1521.37

The educational beginnings initiated by Portillo for the purpose of
instructing scholastics led the way for the founding of a college and
university. Esquilache authorized the Jesﬁit colegio, the Real de San
Bernardo, in 1619.38A1though there were not as many classes offered at
Cuzco, the curriculum was very like that of San Mart{n in Lima. Both San
Francisco de Borja and San Bernardo were directed by the rector of the
Jesult house, the Transfiguracién. By 1623 the Jesuits founded the U%;vqr-
sity of San Ignacio de Loyola at Cuzco with the right to confer deg:o‘s

similar to those of Alcala, Salamanca and San Marcos in Lima.

&4 Ibid., I, 351-354.

35 Ibid., I, 358.

36 Ibid., I, 355-358.

37 Torres Saldamando, Los Antiguos Jesuitas del Peru, 169.
38 Vargas Ugarte, Los Jesuitas del Peru, 92.




Although San Pedro y San Pablo remained the administrative center of
the entire province, Cuzco soon rivaled Lima as a miassionary and %ducational
center. Cugzco became another headiquarters from which the fathers expanded
the work of the Society southward. It was a step towards the foundations
of Arequipa, La Paz, Santa Cruz de la Sierra, Potosf, Jul{ and the important
houses in Argentina and Paraguay.

The initial move twards expanding the work of the Society southward
from Cugco was taken in 1573, two years after the establishment of the
rasidence in this city. After he had completed his inspection of the
colegio in Cuzco, Father Acosta maie an extended tow as far south as
the Potos{ district thus complying with Portillo's instructions to meke a
rreliminary reconnaissance of this land to determine the adviseability of
founding Jesuit houses in this region and to serve as a milaionnry.sgAt the
same time the vicersgal tour of inspection was being conducted in this
territory. Tolsdo had named Acosta an inspector and counselor for this
expedition before the padre sailed frum Spain.4o His duties as inspsctor
for the Viceroy and as a delegate for the Provincial coincided, for both
Toledo ahd Portillo were interested in obtaining an accurate summary of the
situation in the Upper Peru region and in evangelizing the natives. The
detalls as to the dates of arrival and departure frcm the places he visited

are not given in Acosta's report, but the account does reveal that he "

travelled from Lima to Cuzco, to Arequipe, to La Paz, to Chuquisaca and to

39 Astrain, III, 154-157.
40 Zimmerman, 89; Levillier, Don Francisco de Toledo, 205-206.




Potos{ and that he returned to Lima by the same route .41Portillo's anmal
letter concerning Acosta's work and travels from the early lummc; of 1573
until October, 1574, contains little information regarding his position as
counselor to the vicoroy.42Ho does mention Acosta's being called from La Paz
to Chuquisaca by the viceroy to join in the expedition against the Chiri-
guanes. However, Acosta left the viceregal party at the Pilcomayo River to
go to PotosT.

Father Luis Lopez and Brother Gonzalo Ruiz accompanied Acosta from
Cuzco to Arequipa. This town, located at the foot of the volcano El Misti,
had a small 9panish population, but thare werse more tha.n 50,000 natives in
the vicinity. The fathers went about their usual routine of administering

the sacraments, preaching, visiting the sick and instructing the natives.

41 Carracido, 44-468. Briefly, the viceregal expedition departed from Lima
October 22, 1570, arrived at Ayacucho December 15, from there went to
Cuzco in the middle of February, 1571. Toledo remained in the Cuzco
vicinity for almost two years. By December of 1572 he was in Potosi from
where he directed inspectors to Arequipa, La Paz and Chuquisaca. He re-
mained in Potos{ about three months. By the end of May, 1573, he was in
Chuquisaca. He participated in the war against the Chiriguanos in this
region, and then remained here for five months to recupsrate from the
ordeal. By the end of 1574 or early 1575 he was back at Potosf, thence %o
La Paz, and the following summer he went to Arequipa. He left Arequipa
in November for Quilco from where he went by sea to Callao. He entered
Lima November 2, 1575, Zimmerman, 90,91,99-100,101, 175~176,199,201,204,
206, 221; 'l'orros Saldamando, Libro Primoro de Cabildos Lima. IT, 110,
Monteainoa, 34-36; Maria Jimemz de la Espada, ed., . Relaciones geograficssel
de Indiss, Madrid, 1881-1894, I, 48.

Annual Letter of Portillo, 1575, Astrain, III, 158-160.
Zimmerman, 89, says Acosta "met Toledo at Chuquisaca and remained with him|
as a counselor until the tour was completed. "This statement requires re-
vision. It is probable that Acosta met Toledo at Chuquisaca since he was
here about the same time as was the viceroy, snd this may have besn the
occasion mentioned by Portillo regarding Acostals sumons to join in the
Chirigusne expedition. Since Acosta left the viceroy to jJourney to Potos!
and, after working here several months, retraced his sters to Lima along
the land route while Toledo continued to pursue the Chiriguane expedi tion
and later remaired at Chuquisaca for 5 months, and finally returned dy sea
the padre could not have remained with the viceroy. Acosta returned & Lima

in Qctober—1524y—and-Toled o—in-Novemb ory—1b2bv—tbidrer—tii—AB4=3By——r—rr
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They explained that they were here only on a transitory mission, but the
citizens were insistent that they remain or that they send othor‘futhcrs to
found a permeanent Jesuit residence. In view of their persistence Acoste
yromised them they would at least have the benefit of parmanent missims,
alithough they could not be assured that the Socliety would establish a house
here for some tims. However, the citizans still hopeful, subscribed 18,000
or 17,000 pesos for a colegio in Arequipa?4

The following ysar, 1574, Fathers Barcena, LSpez and Brother Juan Garcig
were sent from Cuzco on a missionary excursion to Arequipa. Again the
citizenes of Arequipa offered to establish a houso.45 The Jesuits continued
their visits but no definite plans for founding a residence were made until
the latter part of 1577. In November of this year Plaza and Acosta discussced
the 1ossibility of founding a colegio for it seemed to be an opportune time
to undertake the project. The people were still anxions to contribute,
w1119 a Diego Herndndez and Captain Geronimo Pacheco, with his wife, Dora
Lucia de Padillo, promised generous donationl.461n addition, the cabildo
offered 26,000 pesos. However Acosta, whe was now provincial, was still
hegitant since he was not certain that there were enough men in the rrovince
to warrant the psta.blishmont of amother residence. He did not refuss th
offers, but delayed his reply while he considered the mattur.47ﬁbrn§ndow

died in 1578, bequeathing a gensrous anmial rent to the Society provid;a

44 Ibid., III, 158.

45 Vargas Ugarte, Los Jesuitas del Peru, ll.

46 Torres Saldamando, Los Antiguos Jezsuitas del Peru, 6-7.

47 Barreda y Laos, 99-100, says Acosta accepted thase donations after he
failed to obtain the necsssary license ani despite the viceroy's refusal
he directed the establishment of a residencs. There is no svidence that
Acosta acted in this manner. The failure to obtain a licence was rather a
mat ter or nsgligence on the part of the Provincial, not defiance.
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that & coleglo be founded before 1579. The Provincial assigned men to
Aregquipe and & house was purchased. Hcwaver, they stayed at thisehouse but
three months after their arrival in August, 1578, for they were commanded to
return to Lima by Toledos Plaza reported this unhappy sittation to the
General, April, 1579:

Diego Hernandez Hidalgo died at
Arequipa in June of the past year,
1578+ In his will he bequeathed
2,000 pesos rent to establish a
colegio in this city. A house has
been purchased for the foundation
and the viceroy dismissed those
menbers who were there and seized
the house in the name of the king,
saying that we had commenced the
foundation without his lisence. At
rresent the viceroy will grant no
license for ths colegio in Arequiypa
until a permit from the king arrives, 48

Due to the difficulty concerning the lisencs, which will be discussed in
another chapter, the fathers did not return to Arequipa until 1581. This
residence remained primarily & mission center for the natives, with eight to
ten priests resident at the hauso.49

Another advance was mads from Cuzco during Portillo's provincialate,
with the establishment of a houss at La Pas. This city, today the chisf
commercial center of Bolivia, 1lies 12,000 feet above sea lsvel in a narrow
valley of the Altiplano. TFounded by the Spaniards in 1548, it was situ&tcd
on the trado route from the Argentine to Peru, and was a stopping )lacggfor

50
travellers from Bolivian mines«

48 "Relacifn Ultima de la Visita del Peru," Plaza, Lima, April 25, 1579,
Astrain, III, 700.
49 Pastells, I, 94.

50 Leén M. Loza, Historia del Obispado y de la Catedrsl de La Paz, La Paz,
1939, 7-16.




|54 Astrain, III, 699.

Acosta worked in the vicinity of La Paz in 1573. At this time the

cabildo offered 1,000 pesos rent toward the founding of a colegi®, and
51
promiscd to double this amount upon the completion of the establishment.

One individual, whose name Portillo did not give, was willing to add 500
pesos to this sum. Portillo sent Fathers Zufifga and Amedor with Brother

Casasola to the area in 1574 to foupd a residence primarily for evangelizing]
52
the natives. The Provincial expressed his opinion regarding the necessity

of this house, writing in his annual report of 1575: "I consider the
founding of this colegio important; for according to the rsport Father
Accsta has given me, there is here an excellent opportunity for accomplish-

ment among the natives, and too, missions can be made down to Potos{ and
53.
La Plata."

While the fathers contimued to work at the La Paz residence, it was
not established as & colegio until 1581. Plaza reported that®

In the city of La Pag Juan de Ribas

hoped to found a colegio, offering

3,000 pesos rent since the year 1575,

and until now 1579 this has not been
accomplished since the viceroy has not
granted the licence. Now the licence

from the king has been obtained per-
mitting the sstablishment of the colegio
and this should be done at the earliest
opportunity. 54

The colegio was opened as a school two ysars later, although it of"erod

only elamentary training and doctrinal instruction for the children of the

51 Portillo!s Amnual Letter, February 9, 1575, Astrain, III, 155.

52 Zuifge was cazlumnated by a Spaniard at La Pas when he denounced the man
for sedition. Toledo gave credences to thess accusations deporting Zuniga
to Spain. Although the priest's innocence was proveh and the viceregal
mandate revoked, ZuAiga never returned to La Paz, Jbid., III, 157.

53 Ibid., III, 155. La Plata was also called Charcas, Chuquisaca, and
finally, Sucrs.
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city.

By February 15, 1584, Cabello, the rector of the colegio, wnote that
the progress of the fathers in converting and racifying the natives was a
source of trsmeidous latisfaction.ssHo reported that five or six thousand
natives came to the colegio for inmstruction each Sunday, and he noted that
hitherto these natives had been unable to congregate and maintain any
semblance of order. There were usually seven or eight resident prissts at
the colegios Although this house was enjoying spiritual success, it was
financially in arrears throughout the sizteenth c:ontu.ry.56

The initial work towards the reduction of the Cunchos commenced from
La Page¢ May 2, 15697, Father Migusl de Urrea received viceregal permission
to enter the land. Urrea comusnced his work in the early part of 1599?7
His progress among the natives roused the local chiefs and hechiceros to
x;mrdoroui Jjealousy. Thus on August 7, 1599, Urrea was bludgecned to death
by the ngtivo ieadors. Three years later his remains were recovered and
laid in the sepulchre at the colegio of La Paz.

"The foundatton 6 Cassovas a center for the Upper Peru or Bolivian
area, followed by those at Arequipa and La Paz, illustrate the primary work
of the padres in this part §f~ the New World was that of converting and
instructing the nativu.l From these houses the fathers travelled great

distances to found new missions among the natives.

55 Esteban Cabello to Aquaviva, La Pag, February 14, 1584, Astrain, IV,510.

56 "Informacidén & pedimento del P. Juan Avellanda, Rector del Colegio de
La Paz sobre ls necessidad que tiene dicha casa de sujesctos vara los
ministerios y de renta que sustentarlos,® Vargas Ugarte, Manugcritos
Peruanas, I, 138-140; Pastells, I, 104-105.

57 Relation of 1601, Pastells, I, 101-102. Two priests and a brother began
an excurasion into this land in 1595, but one of the fatherd died after
entering the region and the brother became ill, so that the project was
abandoned «




CHAPTER VII
MISSIONS IN THE MOUNTAINS

| Father Acosta, as has been stated previously, traﬁllod to Chuqui-
saca and Potos{ during his expedition of 1573-1574. Potos{ was one of
the most fabulous boom-towns of the sikteenth century. The city, 13,780
feet above sea level at the base of Cerrc Rico, rose to sudden prominence
in 1545 when Spaniards began exploiting the abundant silver deposits of
the mountaine. Despite the severity of the climate, the population of the
town, which wai designated an imperial city, mounted to over 100,000
during the next forty years when Cerro Rico is reputed to have supplied
about half of the world production of lilvor.l Potosf, the scens of all
the vice and problems typical of many mining towns, was the center of a
large arsa inhabited by the new mining society. In the rush for silver
the Spaniards subjected the natives to severs hardships working the mines

while their epiritual welfare was neglected. Both Spaniard and native

1 The first census taken by Toledo revealed there were 120,000 inhabi-
tants. By 1611 thers were only 114,000. Moses, The Spanish Dependencies
in South America, II, 6. Like many boom towns, Potosi was destined to
be a ghost town. After the serious flood of 1626, other mines in
Peru and Mexico took precedence over Cerro Rico. For over two centuries
Potosl remained an insignificent village, with but a few hundred
Spaniards. Rich deposits of tin, bismuth and tungsten have brought
the city into prominence once more in recent times. Today thers are
about 36,000 inhabitants, engaged primarily in mining. James, 200-201.
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were seriously in need of religious instruction.

When Acosta visited Potos{ in August or early September of 574, he was
accompanied by Father Alonso de Barcena, Father Luis Lépez and a brothor.z
When Acodta left the city about October of that year, the others remained in
this region for several months. All were able to preach to the natives in
Quechua end Aymard. Portillo reported that they wsre particularly success-
ful in persuading the natives to receive the sacraments of Confession and
Communion more frsquently, as well as in converting infidels of the surround-
ing territory. Although they were offered assistance by the Spaniards of
Potos{ for establishing a house, the padres could not accept the offer until
more men came to the Province.

By 1577 Acosta, now Provincial, and Visitador Plaza decided that there
were sufficient men in the province to warrant the establishment of a
colegio in Potoaf .‘ This residence was primarily for the benefit of the
Indians, but the fathers attempted much work among the Spaniards hoping to
verduads them to deal mors leniently with the native laeborers in the mines,
In addition to attsnding to their own colegio and making missionary excur-
sions in the vicinity, the padres assisted in fourteen neighboring parishes.
By 1578 there were seven Jeguits at this house. Plaza reported:

Thers are at present seven members

of the Company in Potos{, three
priests: Father Portillo, Father -

2 During his inspection of the city Toledo, finding there wers not enough
prisste to attend the pecpls, provided that the rumber be increased from
six to thirteen. April 25, 1574. P.V.Canete, "La Intendencia de Potos{,"
Revista de Buenos Aires, 21871), XXIV, 179-180.

3 Portillo's Annual Report, February 9, 1575, Astrain, III, 156,

4 Pastells, I, 94.




Bracamonte, Father Molina; four
brothers: Diego Martinssz, Gonzalo

Ruig, Santiago Pérez, and Juan Ruisz, -
a carpenter. They have a place donated
by the city to the Company with
accomodations for twelve, and possibly
many more of cur members. They have

& chapel in which they preach and
aduninister the sacraments. There is

a gite where a sufficiently large
church may be erscted, and here

there are twelve or fifteen shops
which are rented for more than 1,500
ducats; and this rent contributes
towards sustaining our members at
Potosf .... Our residence in this

city seems t0 be the most important
that the Cumpany could establish in
this kingdom for the Glory of God and
gain in souls; for there are usually
more than 3,000 Spaniards and more than
50,000 Indians; and since the Indians
are gathered here from many parts of
the kingdom, the fruitful results will
be extremely far-reachijig and universal. -]

The work at Potosf{, like that at Arequipa, was interrupted by the viceregal
order during the latter part of 1578 which closed the colegio until 1581,
when the king demanded that the Society be permitted to continue its work
here. The padres returned in 1581, resuming their former program in caring
for the natives. There was no attempt to establish a school for Spaniards
since the nseds of the Indians demanded all the attention of the Jesuits.
Contemporary with the establishment at Arequipa and Potos{, thes Society
undertook the supervision of the Indian reduction at Julf, a little sopth of
Potosf{. The decision to found a house here hal been made at the provincial
congregation following which Father Portillo and Father Plaza journeyed to

Potos{ and thence to Julf to assist in organizing the residence. The first

5 Astrain, III, 116.
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group assigned to Jui{ in August, 1577, included Fathers Diego Mart{nez, who
was the superior, Barcena, Bracamonte and ARasco, while the following year
Bracamonte and Afiasco were sent slsewhere when Fathers Andrés Lépsz, Valera
end Jimenez joined the grc:m;u6 A1l but Ji{menez had mastered the native
languages of the region and he began the study immediately upon his arrival.
The group also included, in 1578, three scholastics who were yet to be _
ordained, Juan Garcfa, Diego Gonzélez and Martin Pirén. By 1601 there were
fourteen Jesuits at Juli’.7

The financial assistance afforded by the royal hacisnda was scarcely
generaus, nor do we find any substantial donations given to this residence
by individuals during the sixtesnth century. The viceroyalty allowed each
priest 2é400 escudos of gold annually, and sach bosother was granted 800
escudos. Tiruel noted in 1601 that the religious at Jul{ recsived a salary
equivalent to that of four pastors, an amount h&rdly sufficient to suastain
fourteen men.

There were five thousand Indian dwellings included in the Juli resi-
dence in 1578, housing more than 40,000 persons. During 1577 the fathers
heard ﬁho confessions of three thousand natives. Statistics alone give an
insdequats picture of the situation, but they reveal how i1l prepared the
paocple were for an educational program. Plaza reported:

I have noted through experisnce during

the days I remained here: that the
fruitful results are not so easily

6 José Tiruel, Relation of 1601, Pastells, I, 92.

7 Ibid., I, 93. ‘

8 Plaza sald each escudo was valued at thirte=n reales per peso. Astrain,
III, 166-187. Pastells, I, 92-83; Vargas Ugarte, Los Jesuitas del Peru,
10-110




obtained, nor the difficulties so simply
overcome, as it would seem to those who
have not observed the aituation. Of the ad
three thousand persons who have been
confesaed this year, not one thousand

have confesased voluntarily, and more than
two thousand have confessed through coer-
cion. In some cases those apprehended
living in concubinage are commanded to
marry or separate, and those of them who

do not separate must confess immediately

in order to prepare for marriage; and

once they are married they do not return

to confession .... Others confess on
account of sickness, and chiefly because
the fiscals or syndics inform the fathers
concerning those who are 111 and the

fathers go to hear their confessions ...
Others go to confession because they are
ordered to do 8o by barrios .... Those who
come to confession without compulsion

are few in comparison to the number of those
who come compelled to do 80 .... Public
inebriation in plazas and yards has ceased;
but that which goes on in the houses has
not .... Few come for instructions in
doctrine voluntarily. Many gather t0 hesr
the discourses and sermons, but many others
hide themselves; and consequently it is
necessary on Sunday mornings to rlace watch-
men [alguaciles] on the roads to prevent
some from going to work in camp. 9

The officials referred to by Plaza were native officials, appointed Yy

the fathers generally from the ranks of the native caciques or leaders. The

Society undertook complete management of this Indian residence, and was con-
cerned with both temporal and spiritual welfare of the natives. The fathers
found many of the natives had been baptized, but had not even a rudimeééary

knowledge of the religion they professed.

9 Visitador Plaza's Report, Jamuary, 1578, Astrain, III, 166-167.




The first task confronting the fathers was that of organizing the
Indians into sroups.mUpon their arrival they found thers was but one
church, Asuncién, to serve the thousands of natives., The fathers added
three more churches to the residence and each church was designated to
serve a particular group. To Asuncién the MSjos Indians were assigned,
to San Pedro, the Huancollas, to Santa Cruz, the Incas, Chambillos and
Chinchallos, and to San Juan Bautista, the Ayoncas. A school for the
children was opsned immediately where both boys and girls were given in-
struction in separate classes. One brother was encharged with the care of
the hospital and apothecary where the sick and infirm received attention.
The superior resided at San Pedro, while each of the fathers was assigned
to work in one of the four parishes or sections. Spaniards were banned
from entering the residence, but evary year a certain number of Indians
were i-oquirod to labor in the mines of Potos{ for four months. Those sent
to Potos{ were selescted by the Indian officials with the approval of the
fathers who instructsd them to contact the padres of Potosi who continued
to administer the sacraments to them and offered them doctrinal 1nstruct':1%n

Julf was to become not only one of the largest but one of the finest

Jesuit reductions in South Amsrica. It served too, as a training center

10 Letter of P. Diego Visquez to Provincial from Julf, April 9, 1601, in
Diego de Torrss Bollo, Relatione breve ... circa el frutlo che #i "
raccogli con gli indiani de guel regno, Rome, 1603, 38-43.

11 Toledo, in a measurs approved by the king October 17, 1575, ordered
Indiang from sixteen provinces, including Juli, to work in Potosi.

As a result about 13,500 natives were recruited. Recopilacicn de las
leyes de los reinos de las Indias, Madrid, 1841, Book VI, Title XV,
Law 2.
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for young Jsesuits who were to be engaged in missionary work. Here the
Jesuits provided a tertianship. Some of the most femous of theesarly
J2suit missionaries rsceived their training here. These rmumbers include
Fathers Barcena and Aflasco who recorded such success in the Tucumén and
Paraguay region, Mart{nez who left Jul{ for Santa Cruz and the area of the
Chiquitos and Itatines, and Diego Gonzalez Holguin, who was one of the
first to work in the Quito territory, as well as the historian Anello Oliva.
Another missionary front was esastablished in the central part of
Bolivia, at Santa Cruz de la Sierra, a Spanish frontier town of the six-
tesnth century. This settlement, founded by the colonists from Asumcién
in 1560, 1s situated about twenty miles east of the great mountain range,
not far from the dense rain forest of the Yungas to the north. East of
Chugquisaca and scuthwaat of Santa Cruz dwelled the camnmabilistic Chiri-
guanes whose hostile raids endangered Spanish settlements as far west as
Potos{ ard Porco, and northwest beyoud Cochabamba. This fierce tribe
that had repulsed conquest by Inca and Spaniard menaced the frontiers of
Uppar Peru, and not only did they conduct raids themselves, but they also
influenced and organized neighboring tribes to Join in hostilities against

13
the Spaniarde.

12 Vargas Ugarte, Los Jssuitas del Psru, 39-40.

13 Even Toledo, who had organized an impressive force to wage war asgainst
the Chiriguanes in 1574 met ignomonious defeat. Reginaldo de Lizarraga,
“Descripcidn y poblacion de las Indias de los prelados eclesiasticos
del reigio del Peru," Revista Histérico de Lima, (1907), II, 486-499.
The vicaroy did found the villages of Tarija and Cochabamba in an
effort at defensive expansion. He had givsen Lulis de Fuentes thirty
leagues in the hostile territory, but Fuentes was unable to claim this
land fram the natives. Zimmerman, 196-199.




Two of the most notable of the sixteenth century Jesuits pioneered
in the spiritual conquest of this region, Fathers Diego de Samanfego and
Diego Martinez. Samzniego had been received into the Soclety at Salamanca
in 1563 shortly before he had completed his studies for a degree in medicine
at the university.MHe came t0 Peru with the group recruited by Andrés
Lopez in 1585. A few days after his arrival in Lima he was sent to Julf
to study Quechua and Aymard. After mastering these languages he remained
at the residence working among the natives. Hearing renorts of the need
for missionaries in the Santa Cruz area and of the desire of the Syaniards
there for religicus instruction, he obtained permission from Atienza to
investigate the possibilities of establishing a rssidence there. The
Govarnor Don Lorenzo de Figueroca had written that the natives were recsiving
some instruction from young laymen appointed to this task, but he added
that "... much more could be accomplished if there wers priests, Franciscan
friars or religious of the Company of Jesus, who could work with thcm.“ls
Tather Diego Mart{nez, who had acted as superior at Julf, joined
Samaniego in his enthusiasm to sstablish the Socisty along the Bolivian
frontior.laMartfnoz came t0 Peru in 1571 while still a scholastic, was
ordained at Cuzco in 1573 where he worked until 1577 when he went to Jui{
as .superior. This saintly padre devoted himsalf to the care and instruction

of the natives of Peru from Lima to the La Plata area until his death n

14 Torres Sazldamando, Los Antiguos Jesuitas del Psru, 54.
15 Figueroa, June 2, 1586, Relation of the City of Santa Cruz de la Sierra,

Relationes Geograficas de Indizs, II, 161-169.
16 Torres Saldamando, Qp.cit., 49-51; Sommervogel, V, 631; Mart{nez has

been declared Venerable by the Church. His beatification was proposed
in 1633. Vargas Ugarte, Manuscritos P:ruangs, I, 128,

p
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1624.

Samaniego and Mart{nez with a coadjutor, Juan de Sénchez, departed
for Santa Cruz de la Sierra in 1586. They were forced to stop at Cocha~
banba owing to an Indian uprising which endangered travel. Meanwhile they
preached to the people of Cochabamba and to those in the valleys of Misque,
Capachuncho, Tirague and small pueblos in The vicinity. They were able to
resume their journey to Santa Cruz April 10, 1587, when twenty soldiers

arrived at Capachuncho to accompany the fathgrs. They finally arrived at
17
their destination May 17, 1587. The people of Santa Cruz heard of their

coming and hed prepared a reception. They wers given a modest house by
18
the Governor.

The fathers began their work among the Spaniards and the natives. We
find a description of the situetion among the natives in & report 6f the
Governor who wrote:®

Some of the native Indians are of service
to the city, but there are many others who
are not, for they are more distant, concealed,
and dispsrased by their kin in the extremely
dense forests and high mountains ... in order
to avold serving the Christians and for fear
of the Chiriguanes who kill and eat them, thay
separate and hide themselves as well as they
are abls; and all the psople go nude as they
weres born, as has been said, and are extrsmely
bestial, without order or reason, or law, and
they are the most vicious imbibers of wine

P rrepared from maize.... 19

He added that the Chiriguanes were the most fickle and cruel of the lot.

The fathers undertcok first of all, the task of studying the language

17 Torres Saldamando, Los Antiguos Jesuitas del Peru, 54.
18 Astrain, IV, 530.

19 Relationes Geogrdficas de Indias, II, 162.
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of these barbarians. Mart{nez concentrated upon Golgotoque while Samaniego
20 :
studied Chiriguane. Within three months they wers able to proacﬁ in these

languages. Both travelled among the Tupis, Toloparas, Chiriguanes and other
trives from Brazil to Paraguay. They witnessed over 500 Christian marriages
among the fierce Chiriguanes and were hopeful of similar progress among the

other tribes who imperilled the journey of the Spaniards from Lima to
2l

Tucumane.

In 1589 Samaniego accompanied Figueroa in the expedition to found the
22
city of San Lorenzo de la Frontsra among the Chiquitos. Trom here he
23
journsyed with the Governor to assist in the reduction of the Itatines.

He returned to Santa Cruz de la Sierra from where he directed work among

the natives of this vicinity until his death in 1627. Samaniego spent

forty-two of his sixty-four years in the Society as a missionary in Peru.
Governor Figueroa was impressed with the accomplishments of the Jesuits

He reported to the Audiencia of Charcas, January, 1589:

The fruitful results obtained by the
fathers of the Company, among Spaniards
as well as natives, are greater than I
am &ble to describe, for the principal
means of their success is that faculty
which God gave to the Apostles in
snabling them to speak all languages in
order that all nations might understand
what they tanght. It would seem that
this is a fortunate inheritance bestowed
upon this pious Company giving grace to
its sons enabling them in a very brief

20 Torres Saldamando, Los Antiguos Jasultas del Paru, 52; P/astells, I,98.

. At the same time, with the assistence of Brother Juan Sahchez, Mart{nez
was composing a catechism in the languages of the Chane, Capaccora and
Puyano.

2l Extract from Barrasa, 715, 728, Astrain, IV, 521-522,

23 Relationes Geogréfices de Indias, II, lxvii-lxviii.

23 Samaniego to Sebastian, October 8, 1594, Ibid., II, lxvii-lxviii.
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time to speak the langusge of each natiom,

and 8¢ they preach, hesar confessions, and

teach Christian doctrine and catechism in .

the various languages.... 24

Fathers Angelo Monitola and Jerdnimo de Andian arrived at Santa
Cruz in 1590. The latter entered the Society in Peruvin 1585, and, L
until his death in 1623, he gerved primarily as a missionary in Bolivii?
A few months later Father Dionisio Veldaquez joinsd the group. With the
assistance of these fathers Samaniego extended the radius of missionary
activity to the Chiquito land. He reported in 1594 that there were
Jesuit residences at San Lorenzo el Real and at Santiago del Pusrto in
addition to the residence at Santa Cruz .%Tho Jesuits commenced work
among the Moxos or Mcjos in 1594 when Andién accompanied the Governor
in an sxpedition to this territory. Howsver it was not until the latter
part of the seventeenth century that the padres were able to begin the
systematic reduction of the Moxos. Each of the Spanish settlements
mentioned by Semaniego had been established to keep thg natives in
check. In pacifying the natives of the arse the paires contributed
much towards the efforts of the Govsrnor in his policy of defsnsive
expansion.
By 1596 there were nine Jesuits, seven yriests and two brothers

in this mission. Martfnez, Veldsquez, Miranda and Ort{z worked around

Santa Cruz, Angelo was in the Itatine rsgion, whils Samaniego and Andiar

24 Figueroa to Audiencia of Charcas, January, 1589, Astrain, IV, 521.

25 Sommervogel, I, 315-316.

26 Relationea Geogrdficas de Indias, II, lxvi. San Lorenzo was founded
by Figueroa in 1588, Santiago del Puerto, in 1591.
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were in the Chiriguane territory. In his anm;al report, Sebagtidn

described the general progress of this miseion by 1596, writing®

They reside at pressnt, or rather it

is more accurate to say therse are
peregrinating through these regions,

nine of our members, seven fathers and

two brothers, each one assisting in

the section where he is most useful,

according to the language he has mastered.

The firat letters received for this

annual report are of August, 1594, and

of October, 1595, What has occursd

during this time we may report briefly....

The Spaniards have established three cities

in this province in order to control the
"subjects and pacify all the natives hers.

The first and principal one is Santa Cruz

de la Sierra, which 18 30 called since it

is located near a small forest and range

of mountains.... The second is the city of

San Lorenzo el Real, founded six years ago

by Don Laurencio de Figueroa, which has been
given the name of his patron saint, between
Santa Cruz and Peru, in order to protect

those who travel to and from Santa Cruz from
ths numercus hostile Indians and the mighty
warriors who hinder them. The third, Santiago
del Puerto, so named on account of the devotion
of the Spenish nation to this glorious saint,
and aince it stands at the entrance and psass to
mény diverse nations; this was founded three
years ago in the center of many hostile Indian
bowmen, in order to restrain them from their
cruelty and ferocity, and to open the way to
their conversion, ....There is always one of
our members residing &% each one of these places
or going from these headquarters to the Indians
in the vicinity. 27

Sebastian transcribed the letter he had received from Semaniego October 8,

1594, Samaniego reported that the people of Santa Cruz were suffering

27 Ibid., II, lxv-lxxxii.
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from unger« He stated that although the governor had offered 10,000 ducats
to the procurators of San Lorenszo and Santa Cruz in order to buy.food for
the inhabitants, the cities refused ths offer "for want of horses as well
as soldiers to accompany and defend the supplies from the -enemy who lurk
along the way."sthoso cities were isolated from sources of supplies by
hostile Indians for four months. Figueroa, with the aid of the padres,
managed to subdue and pacify the rebels. The work of Figuerosa and the
Black Robes in this region affords material for a study in itself, It
repeats the tale of cooperation between men of the sword and men of the
cross and the success of the combination that is found frequently in the
annals of colonial Spanish American history. By the end of the sixteenth
century Samaniego reported that the fathers of these houses had baptized
21,418 persons including 8,600 adultl.zg

The fifth Jesuit house to be founded in Bolivia was that at Chuquisaca,
or La Plata, the ssat of the Audiencia of Charcas on the sastern slope of
the Apfles. Acosta and Father Luia Léﬁoz worked in this city for two months
during the latter part of 1573 or early 1574.30Thoy were not given a parti-
cularly warm reception. Portillo does not sxplain the reason for this, but
verhaps the explanation lies in ths fact that Acosta was connected with
Toledo!s tour of inspsction at the time, as Lias been noted in a previow

chaptere Both the civic authorities and the clergy were ganerally oppased

to Toledo's inspection. The investigation revealed the laxity of both in

28 Ibido' II. lxix.
29 Semaniego's Report, 1601, Torres Bollo, 31,38.
30 Portillo's Annual Letter, Fsbruary 9, 1575, Astrain, III, 156,
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31
fulfilling their duties. 4 full fifteen years elapsed before, in 1588,

the President of the Audiencia, Juan Lérez de Cepsda and Bishop Alonso de la

Cerda urged Atienza, then provincial, to establish a colegio here, and
32

promised full cooperation in the undertaling. The Audisncia granted 1,000
33
pesos to endow a chair in Aymards In addition to this the Bishop and cabildo

gave 1,000 pesos rent.

Father Miguel Vasquez and Father Antonio de Voga sntered the city in
34
June of 1591 to found a residence. The following year more men were assignad

to La Plata, and the Jesuit house was estaeblished., The last sparks of
oprosition to the Jesuit foundation graéually burnt cut as the residents

saw the achlevements of the padres ?5 However it was not until the early

part of the seventeenth century that this colegio bsgan to assume the promin-
ent position it pleyed in the history of Jesuit foundations in colonial

36
Spanish America.

31 Relationes Geogréficas de Indias, I, 48; Zimmerman, 176.

32 Mendiburu, VII, 88. Cepeda was buried in the Jesuit church at Chuquisaca.
33 Ibid,, VII, 88.

34 Relation of 1601, Pastells, I, 39.

35 Astrain, IV, 523.

36 Lanning, 22-24.




CHAPTER VIII a
IN THE ARGENTINE AND GRAN CHACO

Having thus surveyed the expansion of the work of the paires from Peru
to the Bolivian area, me may now watch the progressive steps soﬁthward towardh.-'
Argentina. TFirst, it is well to recall that the originel interest in this
area was aronsed by the Portugusse fathers in Brazil, as has been discussed
in Chapter I. The first move was to the diocese of Tucuman, which included
Paraguay and Argentina in its jurisdiction. This region was at the time
relatively unimportant to the Spaniards. For a brief time, following the
marriage of Philip II to Mary of England, the province of Tucuman was
referred to as New England or Nueva Ingla,torra.l Key bases that were to
bscome prominent in the history of the Americas were founded during the
sixteenth century. Santiago del Estero was established betwsen 1551 and
1553 by Spaniards from central Chile. From the Chilean capital, Santiago,
other settlements were msde at Tucuman (1565), Cérdoba (1573), Salta (1583),
La Rioja (1591), and Jujuy (1592). To the south ken from Chile founded
Mendoza (1561-1562), San Juan (1592) &nd San Luis (1598). Asuncién on the
Parina had been uta’blish;d in 1537, and was ths center of prime importance
during colonial times. From here colonists pushed northwest into the CGran
Chaco towards Peru, and southward along the Parana, founding Santa e in
1573 and reestablishing Busnos Aires in 1580, after it was abandoned in
1536. The port town remained an insignificant settlsment during the
colonial psriod until 1775.

1 Moses, The Spanish Derendencies in South America, 27.
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Tucuman was the scene of political turbulence and native rebellion.
Francisco de Victoria, Bishop of Tucumsn, submitted his resignatfon to the
king in 1584, and gave a disheartsning account of conditions in his diocesf.
He reported that there had been constant dissension, and that he encountered
particular difficulties with the clergy who were gensrally disinclinsd to
pursue their tasks dus to ths unjust policlies that had been adopted by the
Governor Hsrnando de Lerma. He noted that ".... in the four years that he

Lerma has been governor, the province has lost the majority of.tho more
notable and wealthy inhabitants." Lerma had confiscated much of the
Bishop's property. Victoria stated that there were ‘pu’c five priests in his
diocess. This statement probably refers to the regular clergy. The Bishop
continued his complaint saying that he had been able to accomplish little
among the 100,000 souls in his diocese which extended 300 leagues. Then
too, the 500 pesos given him anmally was not sufficient for his susten-
ance, and he concluded with the note that the climate had a dotrimehta,l
offect upon his health. Victoria's resignation was not accepted, although
he lsft Tucuman ssven years later, in 1591.

It was in answer to the resquests of this Dominican bishop, whose
repetitious petitions for Jesuits commenced with the provincialate of Pinas
that Atienza finally dispatched men to the Argentine arsa.s Fathers Fran-
cisco de Angulo and Alonso de Barcena, with the coadjutor Juan ds Viliigas,

went from Potos{ to Santiago del Zstero, having preached at Jujui, Salta,

2 April 6, 1884, Lima, Pastells, I, 25.
3 Lozano, Historia Societatis Jesuitas en Par , I, 2; Carlos Leonhardt,
od ., Documentos pars la Histéria Argentina, Buenos Aires, 1927, XIX,

1xix.
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and Esteco along the way. They arrived zt Santiago del Estero November 26,

1585, with the intention of sstablishing a house. Angulo described their
reception in a letter to Atienza:

We departed from Esteco and have

arrived recently at this city. There

are fifty leagues of travel from there

to here, with much sun and little water.
Almost the entire population of the

pustlo came t0 receive us, and they

decked the path with branches, and we
arrived at the church whers the Bishop

and all the clergy ... came in a pro-
cession ... to the center of the plaza

to receive us. The Bishop arproached us
and gave us hia blessing, and began to
intone the Te Deum Leud=zmus, and in this
manner we proceedéd:zchanting until we
entered the church when the organ and
bells were sounded and immediately the
dean appeared to say Mass. ...and the

Mass over, the Bishop led us to his

house and delivered a brief oration
before the people of the pusble who had
sccompanied us, saying how much they
should appreciate our coming and how
merciful God had besn to them and other
remarks in praise of the Company and of
our coming here, so that we werz very
embarrassed at this reception. He had
prepared a room in his house for us, which
he now wants us t¢ use, and slthough 1t

is vary much designed for our convenlience
and seclusion, it is not suitable for our
ministry to reside in a bishop's house.

We are lodging here now until God shows

us a more suitable place. Great content-
ment has baen demonstrated with our coming,
and the entire pueblo has been wondsrfully
comforted, and ws are confident of reaping
much fruit among the Indians as well as
among the Spaniards. 5

4 Torres Saldamando, Los Antiguos Jasuitas del Peru, 28; Astrain, IV, 607.
5 Angulo to Atienza, November 27, 1585, Astrain, IV, 608.
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Angulo also spoke of his appointment as commissioner for the Inquisition in

this lstter. He had accert ed this post reluctantly, since it prevgnted him
from devoting his efforts entirely to tae work among the natives. Consequent-
1y Barcena was appointed superior of this residencs.

The fathers found the majority of the natives in the district of Santi-
ago del Estero were infidels, while those who had been baptized were pathe-
tically ignorant of Christian dcctrino.e One of the principal reasons for
this situation lsy in the féct that so 1ittls attempt had been made to study
the native languages and to instruct the natives in their own tongue. Three
languages predominated in this reglon, Tonocots, Kakana or Caca and Sanabi-
rone. The fathers commesnced the study of these immediately. Barcena
composed a grammar, catechism, confessional instructions and various sermons
in Tonocote. By the end of 1586 they had converted 2,424 natives, and during
the following yesar they baptized and catechised 4,027.8 They continusd their
work at this pueblo as migsionariss, but had not founded a colsgio for
Aquaviva had instructed Atienza that while the work among the natlves should
be carried on, the fathers should "... be sustained by donations, without
accepting any rent obligating us to establish a colegio.“9

Bishop Victoria had sent request# to Brazil for padres at the very time
when he was pleading with the Provincial of Peru to disymtch some men t6 his

10 ‘
diocese. The Brazilian Provincial appointed six subjectw, Fathers Lecnardo

3 Pastells, I, 85.

7 Sommervogel, I, 998.

8 Astrain, IV, 610.

9 Aquaviva to Atienza, November 28, 1588, Astrain, IV, 611.

10 Leite, Jesuitas Ao Brasil na Pundacsd da Miss@do do Paraguay, Rome, 1937,
12.




Arminio, superior, Juan Saloni, Tomgs Filds (or Fields, aniIrishman), Mamel
do_ Ortega, Esteban de Grdo, and a coadjutor. These men arrived at Espiritu
Santo September 12, 1586.1111'. will be recalled that Brazil was at this ¢ ime
under the Spanish Crown. The question now aross as to whethsr the Tucumin
residences should be supervised from Brazil or from Peru. Since the region
was being colonized by Spaniards, Aquaviva agreed with Atienza that the
Tucumén diocese should be included in the Peruvian Provinco.mWhon this
decision reached Tucumdn, April, 1587, Arminio and Gr&o returned o Brazil,
while Saloni, Ortega and Filds resmained because of the drastic need for
migsionariss. Since the Brazilian fathers understood Guareni, Angulo
suggested that they go to Asuncién. The thres arrived there in August of
1587, and were hosritably receivad by the Dominicans. After a few months
Ortega and Filds made missionsry sxcursions to the central and sastern
gsections of modgrn Paraguay, while Saloni remained in Asuncion at the how e
donated tu the Scciety by the psople of the city.lz'l‘his residence was later
tg become a colsgio.

In 1588 Governor Ramfrez de Velasco sent Barcens to the land of the
truculeat Calchaquies who had been rebelling against the Spaniards for
twenty-eight years. This ‘tribe lived a semi-nomadic existence in a valley
which ran parallel to the Cordillers of the Andes, not far from Tucumén.
They were not the menace that the Chiriguzne in Bslivia were, but they--

fought successfully against Spanish domination, and occasionelly they made

11 Decumsntos para la Historia Argentina, XIX, 1xix.
12 Leite, op.cit., 16; Orders of Aquaviva, Jamnary 24, 1587, Asteiin, IV,

614,
13 Astrain, IV, 613; Guillermo Furlong, Los Jezsuftas y la Culturs Rio-

platense, Mondevideo, 1933,
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offensive attacks upon the Spaniards in ‘tho Tucunén region. Unfortunately
the details of this expsdition are not known, for this spiritual conquest
receives only brief mention in the provincial report. We do know that this
padre, experienced in the field of missionary sndeavor, sntered the Calchaqpi
Valley in March of 1588, and four months later, July 6, he reported to the
xing that 50,000 of thesa nativee wers now willing to rescognize Spanish
auxhority.l4This achiavemsent is all the mors remarkable considering that
Barcena was accompanisd by but ninety five soldiers and four hundred friendly
natives.

In 1590 Father Juan Font arrived at Santiago to act as superior, and he
brought with him Father Pedro de Aﬁhsco.lsBarcona and Anasco made frequent
sxcursions into the Chaco region from 1590 to 1592, travelling as far as
Corrientes in their expsditions. They collaboraxod in fhc composition of &
grammer and catechism in the language of these native&.le |

Father Jﬁan Romero, one of the twenty who arrived at Lima in 1592, was
appointed superior of tue missions in the Tucumén diocese although he was

17
but thirty four years old. TFont was recalled to Lima where he remained until

14 Barcena to Philip II, July 6, 1588, Astrain, IV, 616.

156 Torres Saldamando, Los Antiguos Jesuitas del Peru, 44-45.

16 Scmmervogel, I, 308.

17 Report of Romero, 1594, Documentos Bara la histfria Argentina, XIX, 1lxx.
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18
1595 when he commenced his wanderings in infidel lands. Romero entered the

land with Fathers Mercelo de Lorenzana, Juan de Viana, Gaspar de I‘?f;mroy and
the coadjutors Juan de Aguila and Jusn Toledano. Anasco and Monroy went to
the land of the Amaguacuas, Angule, Viana and the coadjutor Villegas
resjded at the house at Santiago del Fstsro; Saloni remained at Asuncion
where Angula and Lorenzana were to be sent to further the work among the
Guaranf. Romsro went to Asunc15n, hoping thars to establish a colagio. FHe
founded a houss similar to that established at Santiago del Eatsro whare
Father Juan de Viana offered a class in grammar in 1594.19

The arrival of Romero and his group gave new impstus to the work of the

fathers in this land. The need for more men had been repsated constantly to

the superiors in Peru and Spain. The Viceroy Condé de Villar sent Father

18 In 1595 Font obtained a license from the viceroy granting him permission
to travel to infidel lands and for four years he was occupied in making
exresditions which werse more of an exrloratory than missionary nature.

In 1599 he traveled far into eastarn Psru where he claimed to hear of
the cities of Jouja and Maronon, where Indians were reputedly congregat ed
awalting a man of the cross. Although hs was opposed by his religious
superiors who doubted the veracity of this tale, he secured viceregal
permission to go still further into szstern Peru. He sailed for Spain
where he presented hias story to the king who, influenced by the Duke of
Lerma's favorable opinion of Font, issued a cedula to the effect that the
authorities of Peru were to favor Font?s expedition. Font returned to
Psru and in August, 1602, accompanied by Father Virar and a lay brother,
Morales, departed from Ayacucho for the fabled cities. After four
months the weary travelers returned. Font then confessed that the cities
he sought could bs found only in his imagination. Astrain, IV, 441-444
19 Documentos para la Histdria Argentina, XIX, 1xx.
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Zufifga to Spain in 1589 to recruit thirty Jesuits for his viceroyalty, scme
of whom were to be sent to the Argentine area. THe rcportoci that seme of

the padres :

have gone to the province of Tucumdn and

Santa Cruz de la Sierra where they are

occupied in studying the languages of the

region, which are as rumerous and diverse

as are the native trives, in order to

instruct them and explain the ministry

of our holy Faith, in which respect I

am informed, they havs bsen very successful

and have convsrted infidels and rsnegades

who had received the water of holy baptism. 20

Philip iI ordered Cartagena, the receptor of ths Council of the Indies,
to contribute seventy ducats to Z).:Kig& "..e to defray the expensss involved
in gathering and transporting twenty religious of this Compeny to Seville

to be dispatched to the province of Tucumdn, Santa Cruz de la Sierra, and
21

Rio de la Plata." The following year, 1591, a royal cedula dirscted the
Casa de Contratacidén to provide for the transportation of twelve Jesuits to
accompany Zu’n”iga to Peru, and granted permission for twenty mores to be

sent to Tucuma/\n, Santa Cruz and Rio de la Plata. This cédula stated:

esesdt 18 my wish that they be yvrovided

with the necessities for the voyage as

it has been customary to provide for

other rsligious of this Company who have

gone to the Indies: I command you to

provide for this immediately from what-

ever funds I have in this Casa and I

direct you to donate from my treasury e
to this Diego de Zifiga or to whomever '
is authorlzed in his place, the funds

required for the passage and necessities

for thess twelve religious and one ssrvant

from Seville to the province of Therra Firme. 22

20 Cond& de Villar to Philiyp II, March 31, 1589, Lima, Levillier, Organi-
zacion, I, 456-457.

21 Madrid, July 9, 1590, Ibid., I, 4%92.

22 Madrid, February 12, 1591, Ibid., I, 510-512.
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Each father was allowed & mattress, a pillow, a vesture, & real and a half
per day for food, and the king promised to pay: pu

the expense of tfansrorting their books

and apperel from their houses and colleges
to this city [ Seville ] and for the trans-
vortation of all their necessities from
there to San Lucar or Cadiz .... and the
King orders that these religiocus receive
excellent accomodations during the voyage,
that they be given one compartment for

five or six, and the King will arrange
with the ship master or owner of the ship
to pay for the passage and freight of theae
religious and their ... books and vestures....

This ceédula also directed the officials of Tierra Firme to supply medicines
snd the necassary diet for any who might become iil during the voyage, and:

they should supply beasts of burden to

travel from Nombre de Dios to the city

++s 80nd during the time that the religious

and the servant should be detained in the

province of Tierra Firme, the officials

should provide thewm with the necessities

for sustenance and also with the necessi-

ties for the voyage from this city of

Panamd to the port of the City of the Kings.
The officials of Peru ware required to pay the shir master for the trans-
portation of the Jesuits. There was no provision made for suprlying the
fathers with their needs during their journeys to such far away regions
as the Argentine.

This cédula, typical of those drawn up in such instances, illustrates
the fact that the funds supplied the J2suits in the New World came for’ého
most part from the Spaniards in the Americas. Only a small portion was
granted from the royal treasury in Spain. The fathers were dependent largelj

upon officials and generous individuals for their sustenance once they

arrived in the Americas. Nor dces the fact that a royal cedula gave

-
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e

directions for certain donations prove that such contributions were actually
made, or that “excellent accomodations"were afforded. If they weds sent
away "as other religious who have gone to the Indies," they got along on a
minimum of food, lodging and baggagc.zslt should be noted too, that though
this cedula provided that twenty men be sent to the Argentine area, only
four prieats and two lay brothers of the twenty who arrived in Peru with
ZaAiga in 1592 were sent to the Tucumén diocsss.

By September of 1594, according to a lstter from Barcena to Sobastian,
then Provincial, the Society had men working in the missions around Santie
ago del Estero, San Miguel de 'I‘ucuna'n, Salta, AsunciJn, Guaira, Nuevo
Bioja, Las Juntas and Jujui .24Tho language difficulties had been overcoms
for the most part. A grammar and dictionary were written in the Caca
languages spoken in the Calchaqui and Catamarca ?alloys end in the région of
Santiago. The fathers composed a catechism and dictionary in Tonocote
gspoken in the puseblos around Tucumén, Esteco and on the Salado River. Some
of the fathers mastered the Sanavirona tongus, but this languags was not as
commonly @poken as the gghor two, and the majority of the Sanavirones alse
spoke Caca or Tonocote. Barcena added that already the fathers had baptized
4,000 Sanavirones. Houses were eastablished at Santiago dol Estero, Salta,

26
‘Asuncidn and Guaira.

23 One and a half real was equivalent to about seven or eight cents. For
further information regarding the assistance actually given the fathers
coming to the Americas see Mariano Cusvas, HistSria de la Nacion Mexi-
gcana, Mexico, 1940, II, 328; Jarome V. Jacobsen, "Pedro Sénchez," Mid-
fmerica, (July, 1940) 'x1, 172.

24 Barcena to Sebastian, Scptembor 8, 1594, Relationss Geograficas de
Indias, III, lii-lxv; Ps.stolls, I, 97.

25 "Anua de la anpaiﬁ’a de Jesyus: Tucuman y Peru, 1596," Rclationes Geogra-

ficas de Indias, II, liv.
26 Ibid., II, 1iii.
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archdiocese, including Tucuman, in a letter Janmuary 13, 1533:

After urging that these vacancies be filled immsediately, Toribio transcribed|
& letter he had received from the J:suit Tather Angulo written August 30,
1592. Angulo stated that the Bishop of Tucumén left his dioccess almost

two years previously, and that it was known that he had remained in Brazil

for saveral months. Angulo wrote:

Although those who had been sent to Tucumn were accomplishing a great
considering their number, the diocese was still in nsed of muny more

The Archbishop of Lima described the discouraging status of his

The bishop of Cuzco, don fray Gregorio

de Montalbo is dead, as I have been in-
formed by a letter from the cabildo of

this church. I should inform your high-
ness aleo of the dsuths of the bishop .
of Las Charcas Chuquisaca or Sucre don
fray Alonso de la Cerda, the bishop of
Popayan, don fray Agustin de la Corula,

the bishop of Quite, don fray Antonio de
San Miguel, the bishop of Santiago de

Chile, don fray Diego de Msdellin, and

the bishop of Tucur&n, don fray Frencisco
de Vitoria is not in his diocess, having
departed from the kingdom and the diocese

of Paraguay, also called Rio de la Plata,

is without & prelate, and great ias the
necessity for providing prelates for these
churches who are suitable and sufficiently
mature, and who are not handicapped by
infirmities and other impediments 80 *hat
they might be capable of accomplishing thair
pastoral duties and be able to travel in
their districts through such vast and
rugged lands. 27

.
» s

It is certain that every day thousands of
souls g0 to perdition in this miserable

land for want of a pastor and ministers,

and thess poor natives arse without baptism
and many thousands ... without any knowledgs

27 Levillier, Organizacidn, I, 561-564.
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of their Creator and Redeemer and of the

way to salvation ... and the Spaniards and
encomenderos are so powerful and so domin-
sering that alas neither those enslaved or
captured in Barbary or those in the galleys

of the Turks are undsr mors subjugation,

from the time they are born until they die,
fathers and sons, men and women, adults and
children, render personal service providing
excellent profits for their masters while

the poor Indians rsceive in compensation
neither apparel to clothe themsslves nor a
handful of grain to eat, and they have been
dying rapidly and perishing without kmowledgs
of God ...; and since it saddens the heart so
sorely to observe and discuss these conditione
80 apparently destitute of remedy in this
extramely remote and far away corner, I can say
no more. His Grace, as Archbishop, should be
able to remedy the spiritual conditions of

this unhappy diocese, since it is now without

& bishop, and shonld treat with His Majesty

and with the Viceroy to fres this miserable
tribe from ths exceptionally severe captivation,
and halt the rigorous personal service and pay-
ments 80 that the natives be required to pay
only what they are well able considering the
poverty of the land, in the same way as is the
practice in Psru and in all the Indies. 28

This rerort indicates the difficulticg encountered in this vast dis-‘
organized land. The situation was relieved considerably with the arrival
of Bishop Fernando de Trejo Sonatina, a Franciscan, who arrived at Tucumén
before 1595 and remained here uvntil his desath in 1614. His coopsration
facilitated the work of the padres. Upon his dsath he bequeathed his
property to the Society for the purpose of establishing a univo;sity,;?
although the Jesuits received only a part of their inheritance. gThc ﬁro-

blem of personal servkee, however, was always aggravating to the fathers,

28 Ibid., I, 563-564.

29 Moses, The Spanish Dependencies in South America, II, 154-~156; Lanning,
25‘26 .




128

particularly when the encomenderos in remote regions felt far enough removed
from the authorities in Peru and Spain t¢ abuse their prerogatives. Thus it
was too, in Chile where personal service degenerated into slavery.

A royal cédula was issued in 1596 to the governors of Chile, Rio de la
Plata, Tucuman, and Santa Cruz de la Sierre recommending coopsration in the
extension of Jesuit activities; a license was simultanecusly issued to
Father Cristobal Veldasquez to take twenty Jssuits to Peru to be sent to the
more remote regions of the province.soff.'ho king stated that the necessities
for the voyage were to be pald by the rayai hacienda. February 11, 1597,
ancther c®dula commanded the Casa de Contratacién to equip this cxpoditioif
The Tucumén province did not receive many of thsse men however. In 1599
Father Juan Dario, Juan de Arcos, Hernando de Monroy and a lay brother,
Antonlo Rodriguez, arrived in this region. The mission lost Barcena, who
had besn 11l since 1595 and who died at Guzco in 1597, and Saloni who died
during the early part of 1599. Another valuable worker, the saintly Afasco,
died at Cordobe April 12, 1605, worn out at the age of fifty five from his
strenuous migsionary career. By this time Pﬁilip IT had also passed away.

The histories of the Jssuits in the Argentine generally place much
emphasis upon the developments in Cdrdoba, since this was the principal
center during the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries. During the sixteent}
century, however, Cdrdobs was all but ignored by the padres since it wu; ’not
the most suitable location for a hoadquartc.rs from which thes fathers coﬁlxd

conduct their missionary excursions. In 1587 Barcena and Angulo preached

in Cordoba where they met the fathers from Brazil, but all turned northward

30 Levillier, Organizacién, I, 530-531.
31 Toid., I, 608-608.
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to do missionary work. In 1589 the inbabitants of Cérdoba requested the
sstablishment of a Jesuit house; two years later they offered a ¥hazious
80lar with a field for an orchardwszThis donation was accsepted although sight
years elapsed before the fathers established a residence. In March, 1599,
Romero snd Juan Dario arrived at Cdrdoba to found the Jssuit houae.ssThro.
years later there were eight priests and two brothers stationed here. The
city also donated a hermitage dedicatsd to San Tiburcio y Valeriane, the
patrons of Cordoba, and added another solar to their gift. This residence
was to become a colegic maximo when the pruvince was separated from Peru.
By 1622 it was recognized as a univursity.34

Visitador Piaez traveled to this region, arriving at Tucuman in December
of 1600 or in January, 1601, accompanied by Father Diego de Torres. Although
Lozano, Techo and Charlevoiz date the formal organization of the Paraguay
missions from a meeting of Paez with missionaries at Salta, Astrain points
out that this meeting was ypresided by Provincial Cabredo almost two years
later.sscabredo made his visit to this region in the sum@er of 1602, mesting
the fathers at Salta in August.sefram there he went to Tucumén accompsnied
by Romero as far as Jujuy. In his anmial lstter of 1602 Cabredo expressed
his satisfaction with the nrogress of thc‘oight fathers and two brothsrs
stationed in this territory.37

Following the suggestion mads previously by Péez, the fathers orgen-

jzed their activities with Ssntiago del Estero and Cérdoba as their head-

32 Astrain, IV, 621; Report of Romero, Juns 23, 1601, Torrss Bollo, 22-30.

33 Documentos pars la Historis Argentina, XIX, 1lxxi.

34 Lanning, 25-26.

35 Astrain, IV, 622; Torres Bollo, 23-26.

36 Carta Anue of Cabredo, 1602, Documsntos Para la Historia Argentina,
XIX, 1xxi.

37 Ibid., XIX, lxxi-lxxii.
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quarters. Lorenzana left Asuncién for Cordoba, whils Filds, who intended to
follow him, remained in Asuncidn due to illnsss. Lorenzana returmd to
assist Filds; so it was that the house at Asuncion was not abandoned.
Despite the obatacles they confronted in the disorganized dioccese of
Tucuman, the padres laid the foundations for the flourishing progress of the
following century and a half. By 1600 these pioneer fatherl had establikhed
the Society in the key centers of Santiago, Asuncion and Cérdoba from where
they dirscted missions throughout the Argentine. Aftsr these pionesr days
they began a program of aspreading education and culture throughout the upper
portion of Argentina that causes no little astonishment. Their labors have

been summarized by Father Furlong in the work referred to in this chapter,
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CHAPTER IX
CHILE

Portillo in his time receiv_ed requests for members of the Society from
Chile shortly after he arrived in Peru, and thess requests wers repeated
with increasing porsistency.l The fathers did not go to this land, however,
until a quarter of a century after the Society was established in Peru.

Chile, land of the fierce and proud Araucanians, had been added to the
Spanish dominions by Pedro de Valdivia. In 1541 the capital, Santiago, was
founded, a cablldo was organized, and the conqueror assumed the office of
governor and captaln-gensral of the region. By 1549 the upper portion of
Chile, three hundred miles abovs the Bio-Bfo, was pacified. Spanish forces
continuced southward. Araucaniaen forces, under leaders such as Ailloralﬁ,
 Caupolican and Lautaroc, proved indomitable foes. These natives refused to
become absorbed in the encomienda system which in Chile was a sourcs of
- serious abuses. .
Pedro de Valdivia had introduced ten ecclesiastics to Chile, three of
 the regular clergy and ssven M’a-rceda,ri.auw.2 In compliance with a royal
~ cédula, thres Dominicans foundsd the Convent of Nuestra Sefiora del Rosario
at Santiago in 155“3.3 The following year the Franciscans also utablisho@

. 4
a convent at Santiago. The sudden uprising of the Araucanians resulted in

1 Francisco Enrich, Eistéria de ls Coupaii¥a de Jesis en Chile, Barcelonma,
1891, I, 10-11; J. M. Ferndndez and Rafael Granadcs, Obra Civilizadora
de la Jglesia sn Colombla, Bogota, 1936, 689-70C.

2 Cresente Errézuriz, Los Or{jsres de 1la Iglesia Chilena, Santiago de Chile,

1873, 50.
3 Ibid., 97-98.
4 Ibidt_, 103-
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the destruction of the Spanish settlements to the south and in the torture

and death of Pedro de Valdivia. Again the Spaniards proceeded to egtablish
_ 5
centers to the south and again the Indians repeated thair destruction.

However, by 1593 the Dominicans had four convents in the capital, the Fran-

ciscans eight and the Mercedarians six, while the Avgustinisne came to
8 A

Chile in 1595, Two dioceses had been established, one at Santiago in 1561
7

and one at Imparial in 1564.

In 1568 Bishop Fernando Barriamievo asked Castro to assign padres to
his diocess. Castro in turn sent this plesa to the king and to Borgia.a
The rsquest was rspeated by Bishop Diegoe de Madillfh, by the govarnor and
by the cabildo of Santiago. In view of such petitions Philip II, according
to his custom, issued & cadula bidding the Society to send men to Chi.lc.9

This was done as sarly as February 11, 1579. But the number of members in

5 Following Valdivia's death Don Garcfa de Mendoza (goverror and captain-
gensral, 1553-1560) re-established some of the forts south of the Bfo-
Bfo. Francisco de Villagra (1562-1562) met his death at Concercién in an
Indian uprising which resultsd in the depopulation of Cafste and Arauco.
His successor, Psdro ds Villogra (1562-1564) was unable to make any inrosds
against the na.t:.vu, but Rodrigo de Quiroga (1564-1566) met with minor
success. His gains were lost by Don Melchor Bravo de Saravia Sotomayor
(1568-1575). Again Quiroga (1575-1581) managed a few minor victoriss over
tue Araucanians, although he won no dscisive battles. Don Mart{n Ruiz ds
Gamboa (1581-1583) accomplished nothing during his governorship. Don
Alonso Sotomayor (1583-1592)commanded large military forces and used
savers measures to subdue the natives; neverthsless he met defeat at
Mariguano and Villagra. Miguel Luis Amunst~gui, Descubrimiento i conguista,
de Chile, Santiago, 1913, 11, 322, 348, 63-87.

6 Enrich, I, 9; Errazuriz, 440.

7 Carlos Silva Cotapos, Historla Eclesiastica de Chile, Santiago, 1925, 5
12"1¢o

8 Astrain, IV 688; Enrich, I, 11-12.

Y% Reco ilacion, Volume I, Book 1, Title 6.

,
%
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; peruvian province did not warrant a venturs to the south at the time.
,Iﬂ 1590 Father Juan Romdn was sent from Lima to Spain to recommend the
“tablishmont of a Jesuit mission in Chile. Again royal cédulas were issued
wdarins the receptor of the Council to iupply necessities for eight fathers
;to gail to Lima and from there to Chile. Conssquently Father Sobastiﬁn,
;h. Provincial of Peru, appointed the aged Tather Baltasar Pifias suparior
of a group ;: sail to this war torn land, and instructed him tc sslect seven
ima.nions. First among thoss of his selection was Father Luis de Valdivia
nho was d2stined to devote the next three decades of his life championing
tho cause of the A:ca,ucan:um.lB This group also included two native Chilsans,
'ﬂ Tathers Hernando de Aquilera and Juan de Olivares, as wsll as Fathers Luis
Jdo Estola, Cabriel de Vega and tue lay brothers Miguel de Telena and Fabidn
fln.rtfnoz.

= The sxpadition left Callao on the San Francisco Javier February 9,

; 13
1 1693, Their ship barely sscaped destruction. The fathers were forced to

;o

f'?put in at the port of Coquimbo. The story has often besn t0ld of how they
| walked barsfoot, as an act of gratitude to God, two and a half leaguss to
(‘ the church of San Francisco in La Serena, thers to repeat their prayers of
’ thanksgiving for their escepe from shipwreck. The citizens, as might have

;’uan exracted in 80 small a town, heard of their arrival and flocked to the

bl

110 Cddulas of September 12 and September 19, 1590, Enrich, I, 12-13.

£ 11 Pastells, I, 100,

rna Valdivia had already merited estesm as a teachsr of philosophy and the-

f  ology, and had accradited himself as a missionary in Cuzco and Julf.

} - Born in Granada in 1561, he studied at Salamanca, and in 1581 entered th
© - Socisty in the Province of Castile. He was ssnt to Peru shortly after his

ordination in 1589, He taught theology at the Colegio MAximo, and then

i -~ Worked among the natives. Beatrice Blum, "Luis de Valdivia, Defender of

. the Araucsnians," Mid-America, (1942), XXIV, 108-137. .

13 Pastells, I, 100.
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church. Pifias delivered a sermon for their benefit. When this was over
the congregation offered him assistance in founding a house at LarSerena.
But the fathers had received no instructions for activity in this way
station, and hencs wished to be off for Santiage. At the insistence of the
reople of this village the fathers agresd not to resume their journey by
sea, as they planned. They mounted mules given them by the people, and thus
they Jjogged their way for 160 leagues of travel to Santiago.14

They were given an elaborate reception at the capital April 12, 1593,
The hospitality of the Dominicans was theirs until their own quarters were
prepared. The following Sunday Pinas preached at the Dominican church. His
enthusiastic audience subscribed 4,300 pesos towards a house, and their
actual contributions, a 1little short of the goal, amounted to 3,916 p”“f5
With this sum the fathers were abls to purchass the former residence of
Governor Rodr{go de Plaza for 3,800 pesos. The king!s bounty apparently
had not considered their housing problem. The house, facing north on the
main plaza, had been valued originally at 10,000 peso#, but it had depre-
ciated considerably, and requirad much repair. A4 carpenter named Miguel
de Telena made the nscessary alterations and built a chapel while the
inhabitants of Santisgo provided the aimple furniihings.lsws.thin six weeks
after they purchased this house it ‘was ready for occupation.

Piflas assigned a specific task to each man upon their arriva1.17Yq;di-

via was encharged with the instruction of the natives and the visiting of

14 Ipid., I, 100-101.

15 Miguel de Olivares, Hist3ria de la Compafi{a de Jesvs sn Chils, in
Coleccidn de Historiadores de Chile, VII, Santiago, 1873, 18.

16 Errdzuriz, 435.

17 Ibid., 436; Enrich, I, 26-27; Astrain, IV, 671.




hospitals and prisons. The capable Valdivia quickly applied himsslf to the
study of the native language which he mastered in a brief time.%iAguilora
concentrated upon the instruction of the natives also, preaching and
holding classes in the plaza and in the Dominican church..- For the first
time the natives rsceived instruction in their own langtago.lgEstclla
taught doctrine to the Spanish children in the Dominican convent until the
Jesuit house was opened. Olivares was assigned to instruct both the
Spanish adults and children. In 1594 Pifias, who was now sixty seven years
old, was forced to return to Peru since the vigorous climate of Santiago
reacted unfavorably upon his hoalth.ZOValdivia succeeded him as superior.
Valdivials achievsments in Chile are notable from several aspects.
It was under his direction that the Society organized the educational
program of the colegio. On Auguat 15, 1594, Valdivia began a course in
rhilosophy for the benefit of the three religiocus orders, the Franciscans,
Mercedarians and Dominicanu.z;Whoro he lectured is not certain. It was
not until October 16, 1595, that the Society offered formal classes at
their own colegio which was called San Migual.zzThn lectures offer=2d at
this time included Latin, rhetoric, yhilosophy, theology, canon law and,
we note with considerable interest, a courss in the Araucanian language.

The establishment of the Colegio de San Migusl was made possible by

18 In 1606 Veldivia published in Lime a grammar and catechism in the Arau—
canian language. Joss Toribio Medina, Biblioteca Hispano-Chilena,
Santiago de Chile, 1897, II, 386.

19 Enrich, I, 21.

20 Pinas died in Lima in 1611, at the age of 84, having besn in the Society
62 ysars and professed 47 ysars. Enrich, I, 37-45,

21 Olivares, 25.

22 Ora, Reglas y Consgttucidnes, 26.
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the generosity of two retired captains, Don Andrés de Torquemada and Don
Agustih Brisceno. Torquemada contributed a hacienda about two lesgues from
Santiago, near Podoval (now called Pudahuel) which was known 1p latsr
colonial times as La Punta, while Briscena donated a hacienda near Santiago
called Rancaguas, and today, La Compaﬁfa.ZSSan Mgusl became the center
for Jesuit activities in Chile. Miguel de Telena was the most generous
contributer to the Jassuit church which was completed in 1597.2§E10v0n
Dominicans, 8ix Franciscans and several Mercedarians were among the first
to matriculate at ths cologio.255t111 the stulent enroliment was low for,
as Visitador PiRez noted in 1602, the majority of ths young men of Chile
were engaged in military entradas below the B{o-B{b.zs

The Jesuits extended their work outside of Santiago. Regular visits
wore made to Indian ranches in the vicinity of the capital to instruct the
natives in doctrinn.271n 1594 Valdivia traveled to the Chacras region,
while Gabriel de Vega and Hsernando de Aguilera sailed from Santiago to
Concepcién to spend a year and a half doing missionary work around the
Bib-be.za

Vega and Aguilera worked for several months around Arauco and Tucapel

where, although a cessation of hostilities had been effected temporarily,

23 Torquemada's donation amounted to 16,000 pesos. In 1598 he donated all
his goods to the Society, save a small ghare which he retained for. more
sustenance. Fnrich, I, 52-53; Olivarss, 25.

24 Earich, I, 33. This hurch was deatroyod by an sarthquake in 1647.

25 Errézuriz, 437; Olivares, 25.

26 Olivarss, 49-5l.

27 Inid., 22-23.

28 Ibid., 45; Claudio Gay, Histdria Fisica y Politica de Chile degun
Documsntos Acquiridos en esta Republica durante doze Anos de Residencis
en ella, Santiago, 1894, II, 215-216.




the nax;;en had been given no doctrinal instructidn uatil the arrival of the
radres. In 1596 they accompanied the governor's troops south of tke Bfo-Bfo
to Caﬁgto, Imperial, Valdivia, Osorno, Villarica, Angol and Santa Cruz de
Goya.3 Rcturning.tc Santiago in 1597 they conferred with Valdivia who was
extremelg concerned over their reports of the impending revolt south of the
Bfo-B{0. lAssigniug Vega to his class at the college, Valdivia with Aguilera
and the lay brother Telena left for the Araucanian territory in 1597.32Fbr
seven months they visited the regicn of Arauco, Tucapel, Imperial, Villarica
and Angol. They made closs observations of the sxisting conditions, the
relations betwv2en ths Indians end Spaniards and the mood of the Araucenians.
Returning to Santiago in 1598 the fathers warned the governor that the
natives wsre on ths verge of bloody revellion. They added that such a
disester might be averted were the governor to halt the enforcemsnt of per-
sonal eervic; upon these peoples and withdraw the soldiers from the Arau-
canian land. ’

The warnings were ignored. Consequently, on November 22, 1598, Gov-
ernor Mart{n Ofsz de Loyola with sixty soldiers and three Franciscans was 34
slain in the region between Angol and Impsrial by the troops of Paillamachu.
This was ths first of a series of devastating dlows dealt by the Aravcanians
Within two days the Chunchese and Huilliches provinces wera in revolt as

wers the Araucanians arcund Osorno, Valdivia, Villarica, Imperial, Canstie,

29 Olivares, 22-33, 45.

30 Ibid., 46; Errézuriz 435437

31 Blum, 112.

32 Ibid., 112; Olivaeres, 46-47.

33 Blum, 112; Enrich, I, 64~6~, 86-67.

34 Diego d= Rosales, Historia Generzl dsl Reino de Chiie, Valparaiso, 1878
11, 229-306.
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36
Angol, Coya and the fortress of Arauco. The first six of these places were

destroyed; only four of the twelve cities of Chile, Concepcion, Santiago,
Arauco, and Coquimbo escaped serious damage. Fisrce but ineffectual was the
policy of aggressive warfare adoped by the governor and his successors.
Hatred dominated both sides. Temporal and spiritual progress seemed im-
possible in this land where war was the prime concern. While Valdivia
begged the governors to halt offensive warfare south of the Bfo-Bfo and to
establish defensive forts along the river, the majority of the religious and
civil authorities in Chile were convinced that even more oppressive measuras
should be adopted to crush by arms the spirit of indspendence in the
Araucanian - a feat nsver to be accomplished.37

In 1602 Visitador Paez inspected the situation sround Concepcion from
where military sntradas were being directod.saAt this time Governor Ribera
requested that two Jesults be assigned to work along the frontier émong the
natives. Paez appointed Fathers Gabriel de Vege and Francisco Villegas to
this task. Actually the governor used these men as chaplains fof his troops,
though they were given the opportunity of doing some work among those
natives who had been pacifiod.ngn the general redistribution of men occur-
ing in 1602 Valdivia was sent to Lima to take the chair in theology.
Olivares and Aguilera were &also transferred to Peru at this time, while Pasz

40
brought thrse other priests, including Villegas, to the Chilean field. .

» g

36 Rosales, 305-355; Blum 112; Pastells, I, 201-203.

37 Blum, 113; Medina, Biblioteca Hispano-Chilens, II, 5-20; Ammnategul y
Solar, Las Encomiendas de Indijenas en Chile, Santiago, 1909, I, 355.

38 Olivares, 4%8-5l.,

39 Ibid., 54; Earich, I, 88-90.

40 Olivares, 4%-51; Enrich, I, 8l.
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A crisis in the colonial history of Chile was at hendi. The alarm
of the royal administrators spread to the court of Philip III. Jn 1604
Viceroy Marques de Salina rsceived orders from the king. He was to seek
a solution t0 the Araucanian problem; he was to halt this expensive war.
Salina thereupon asked Father Valdivia, who had been tesching at the
Colegio Méximo since 1602, to reviaw the Chilean situation in dstail,
Valdivie set about the task of preparing a report methodically. Briefly,
this memorial attributed the difficulties encountsred in Chile to the
sxisting system of personal ﬂcrvicc.41A conference including the governor
elect of Chile, Garcia Ramdn, and other important administrators of the
viceroyalty was held to give consideraticn to Valdivia's report and pro-
posals.42This Junta, resolving to abolish personal service in the land of
the Areucanians, allowed two years for the transition from forced to
voluntary labor, though it strongly urged that the transition be effected
sooner. Valdivia was delegated t0 make a tour of inspsction in southern
Chile to observe and supervise the adoption of this new policy.

Extraordinary civil and scclesiastical authority was conferred upon
Valdivia.4sﬁo carried instructions to: (1) offer a general pardon to the
Indians for all their former misdeeds; (2) meke it clear that the king

4id not approve personal service as it was practiced in Chile and now

demanded its cessation; (3) sanction tribute only in the form in whigh

41 Blum, 113; Luis Ttibaldos de Toledo, Vista Jeneral de las Contiunuadas
Guerras Dificil Conguista del Bman Reino Provincias de Chile, in
Coleccidn Historiadores, IV, 95,

42 Blum, 113; Copia de Vna Carta dsl Padre Iuys de Valdiuia Paras el Senor
Conde de Lemos Presidente de Indias, Lima, Jenuary 4, 1607, Photostat
No. 245, Messachusetts Historical Society, 1-2. ’

43 Blum, 114; "Copla de Vna Carta del padre Luys de Valdiuia Para el
Senor Conde de Lsmos..., January 4, 1607, 2.
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the natives were accustomed to pay in their own lands. These instructions
were not welcomed by the encomenderos or soldisrs of Chile, and ﬁﬁay wers
received suaspiciocusly by the natives who found it difficult to believe
that the Spenish govermment would, after these many years of war, reverse
its policy w0 euddonly.44

Valdivia smbarked at Callao, accompanied by Governor Ramon and two
hundred soldiers. They docked at Penco March 19, 1605. His task of
codmunicating the new policy regarding the natives to both the soldiers and
the Araucanians was begun. From Concevcion, accompanied by friendly toquis
or native chiefs, he carried his messzge of pesce to Arauco, through Tabo-
leno, Lapire, Mahuda, the region of Catiray, down to Guadava, Puren,
Cateray dsl Sur and to the fort of Nuestra Senora de Ala.45Thc task of
convincing the Indians ¢f the pacific intentions of the civil and military
authorities in Chile was especially difficult since Garc{a Ramdn was
sanctioning military entradas into the land south of the Bio-Bio., Valdivia
embarked for Paru in the latter part of April, 1606, assured tha£ his con-
clusions regarding the cause of native belligerency were sound.45

In a letter written the following Jamuary the padre again denounced
personal ssrvice as the crux of the Chilean disordcr.47Ha also noted the

failure of the soldiers and encomenderos to cooverzte in the attempt to

abolish the system. ¥n June of 16807 Valdivia and the oidor Don Juen de”

44 Ibid., 2-3; Astrain, IV, 896; Enrich, I, 103.

45 Coypla de wvna carta del Pedre Luys dg Valdiunia para ¢l Ssnor Conde de
Lemos..., Jarmary 4, 1607, 2; Carvallo i Goyeneche, Descripcidn Histdriczo
Geografica del Reino ds Chile, in Coleccidn Wisturiadores, VITI, 284.

46 Olivares, 63; Copia de vna carta...., op. cit., 3-4; Blum, 115.

47 Ibid., Astrain, IV, 694.
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Villela sent memorials to Spain upon the requsst of Viceroy Marques de
Montes Claros who succesded the Condé® ds Mbntorey.48Theso were a rapitition
of &ll thet Valdivia had rointed out previously regarding the Chilean
problem. In a letter of June 4th Valdivia specified that the abuses already
denouncad should bs abolished, and that the Spaniards should withdraw
wilitary forces from bslow the Blo-Bfo, establishing posts along the river
for the purpose of defense only.4&Thus he sponsored the system which came
to be known as guerra defasnsiva, or defensive warfare, as opposed to the
existing poiicy of offensive warfare.

Msanwhile the authorities in Chile launched upon another futile but
avern more rigorsus attempt to subduve the nativses by force. The disaster at
Boroa, Septsuber 22, 1606, when more than one hundred Sypanish soldiers
perished, dispelled what qualms might have existed aumong the members of
‘the Council of Indi=s concerning the cruelsst of castigations. Under Merlo
de la Fuente the enslavament cedala of 1608 was intsrpretodsgo rertain not
only to those op the frontier, but to all natives in Chile.

Meanwhile the land of Chile cams under the jurisdiction of the nswly
designated J2suit Province of Paraguay in 1607. The Provincial Torres
Belle had joined Valdivia in his pstitions to the king to abolish personsl
service. Both his ecclasiastical and civil superiors decided to bring this
matter to court by sending Valdivia to Spain tc have a personal 1ntsrvi€¥
with the king. The padre sziled from Callao in 1609.51 ‘

The most compiete sxpcsition of Valdivia's plan is found in a lengbhly

48 Astrain, IV, 694-896.

49 Blum, 115; Copla de wvna carta del Padre Luys de Valdiuwia..., 6.

50 Amvnategui y Solar, I, 353-354, 364-365; Actos de Csztilda de Santiage,
in Coleccisn de Historiadores, XXIV, 198-189.

51 Blum, 116.
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informade which he presented in Madrid probably in 161C. The first five

chapters summarize the social, economic and religious reasons forgdis-
contimuing an offensive war in Chile. The last three charters present

an higtorical survsy of the princival events in the war sagainst the Arau-
caniang, and outline the padre's rrocedure for effecting an eventual
caogsation of the war. The Council of Indizs, having discussed Valdivia's
rlan and that of the ardent milituriste 52 Chile who presented their
argument for offensive warfare through their delegats Captain Lorenze del
Selta, officially zdopted the policy of defensive wart’are.s3

Valdivia was intrusted with sxtensive civil and scclesiastical anth-

ority to exscute ths plan that had been accepted.54Hs was civil visitador
of Chils with supreme political control over the affairs at ths Indian
frontier. Aquaviva disytensed him from Jesuilt jurisdiction in the New Worldj
he was directly accountabla to the Gen2ral. Valdivia, with nine priests
and two coadjutors, embarked for America sarly in 1811. The story of his
work among the Arsuncanians has beon narrated in the article by Beatrice
lum already cited. The lack of cooreration accorded him by the militaristy
and the encomenderos of Chile nullified his plan for vacification. The
vzdre ssiled from Chile in November, 1619, & defeated man.

Valdivia'ls efforts to sstabliszia gasrra defensiva incurred the ani-

mosity of both civil and ecclesiastical anthorities in Chils. Nor was ,

52 Luis de Valdivia, "Tratado de la importancia del medio gue el viersy
rropons de cortar la gusrra de Chile, y hazerla solamante defensiva,"
Medrid, c. 1611, Photostat No. 264, Massachusetts Historical Society.

53 Tribaldos de Toledo, 102-105; Blum, 118.

54 Blum, 118-120.




this animosity directed solely against him, but it included the Jesuits
as an organization. The hostility of the encomenderos was not %o
decrease apprsciably thrqughout colonial times, for it was inspired in
grsat part by econoric factors influentisl in the sxpulsion of the

Jeguits from the Spanish dominions in 1767.




CHAPTER X
NORTH TG THE IAND OF THE CHIBCHAS

The first Jesuit residence north of Lima was esteblished at Panamé,
the oldest Zuropean sottiomont on the American mainland. Due to a geogra~-
phical accident, it cannot readily be classed as part of North or South
America. We must mention Panami; however 1nciduntglly, o%cn though no
elaborate enterrriss was undertaken there by the Company. It may be re-
called that Portiiloe and his ggpup, on the way to Lima, had been asked by
fervent citizens to setablish a house hsro.l Thereafter Jesuits on their
way to Peru passed through Panamé, and it was custoarery for them to give
migsions or serwmons for ths people of this city. In May, 1577, Father
Fuentes and a brothsr went to Panamd from Lima with an expeditionary force
against the corsairs who were looting in the vicinity. Little is recorded
of th;ir adventure in quest of El Draco, as Drake was known, or other
"gentlemen advoﬁturers;“ Plaza raported in 1579 that "A widow donated a
house &t Panamé with no cther condition than that ths members of the
Company who wers in Panama should resids thoro.“zUpon Fuentes! return to
Lima, Fathsr Juan de Baena was sent to carry on where Fuentes left off in
Panemé and by 1584 he recaivsd permission to establish a psrmansnt resi-
deace thero.é Throughout tha sixteentk century only two or three men e

resided at this house, and they were cccuried primarily in charitable works

and missions among the Spaniards. If they wrote diaries or letters of the

1 Astrain, IV, 308.
4 Plaza's Report, April 25, 1579, Ibid., III, 700.

3 Vargas Ugarts, Los Jesuitzs del Psru, 12-13.




svents tranapiring on the Istimus during these years, how precious the
records would have been with stories of pirates, navigators, merchayts,
fairs, dignitaries, silver fleets and plagues!

While the fathers' main attention was focused southward in the vice-
royalty, some missionary excursions had been s2nt from Lima to the north.
At the time Acosta was beginning his expedition to southern Peru and Bolivia
‘1n-15'73, Father Juan Gomez and Brother Juan Casasola were making their way
to Guayaquil. They did some missionary work in the pusblos arourd Loja,
Cuenca and Piura.4 Several years slapsed, howsver, befors the Society con-
siderad a permanent reaidence in this northern lénd., In 1586 Atienza sent
a group to Quito with Pinas as their isuparior.ﬁ5 These were Fathers Juan de
HEinojosa, Diego Gonzalez Holguin and the lay brother, Juan de Santiago.

Quito, the site of an ancient Indian pueblo, is built on the slopes of
the volcano Pichincha, 9,350 fest above ssa level. It was the seat of the
- audiencia whose limits had besn defined in a royal cedula of August 29,
156:5.e The durisdiction of the goverrment of Quito extendsd from Lima to
Panama along the coast, and inland through Piura, Cajamarca, Chachapoyas,

Moyabamha and Motilorss. Within this area were the dioceses of Quito and

4 Astrain, I11, 158-159.
& Joso de Jouamn, Historia de la Compafiia de Jesus en la Antigua Provincia
@ Quito, Quito, 1941, 42; Torres Saldamando, Los Antiguos Jesuitas del

Par , 20. The Franclscans had established their convent in 1541, the .
Augustiniens in 1573, Jose Gabrisl Navarro, La Iglesia ds la Compenfa e
Quito, Madrid, 1¢30, 20. The Dominicans held classes in Latin, scholastic
theology and moral thoology which asculars weTe permitted to attend. The
Franciscans founded their college of San Andrés in 1558, offering a
spmcial course for natived. Federico Gonzalez-Suarez, Historia Eclesigati~
ca del Fcuador desde los Tismpos de la Conguista hasta . Nuestras Disas,
Quito, 1881, 362-363.

6 Gonzalez-Suarez, 240.




Popayan. Ths difficulties of travel in this land sre known even to the
present day. The problem of heat and pestilences in the Guayaquil earea hes
recently been taken over by the United States forces. There still remeins
that of travel from the higher regions westward to the lower tropical coast-
line or sastward beyond the Andes into the jungles.

The fathers arrived at the city of Quito in the middle of June, 1588, and
resided at what was then tsrmed "the hospital' during the ensuing month.7
With the approval of the Bishop, the Audisncia donated the church of Santa
Barbara, a small houss nearby and 4,000 pesos to the Society on July 31,
1586.8 This site was purchassd by Bishop Psno from the Augustinians. The
Jesults accepted the donation with the undsrstanding that should they
abandon Quite, the property would revert to the ecclesiastical authorities
of Quito.

After the first month the fathers moved to the small dwelling that had
been given them. Their first task was the alleviation of distress resulting
from a violent earthquake that had damaged most of the buildings in Quito
and had caused considerable suffering in the city and surrounding torritorz.

In the group of reinforcemsnts that came in 1588 was ons whoss name
was long héld in benediction - Father Onofre Esteban. He came with two
priests and a brother and sntered upon fifty four years of labor in Quito

and its environs. He found the city scarcely recovered from a temblor ?pﬂ

7 Ibid., 304, In 1585 there were but 20 or 24 religious in Quito. Pastells,
I, 99.

8 Gonzalez-Suirez, 305. Navarro mentions a donation of 15 cabaldrias of
wheat fields nsar Quito in the valley of Chillo, given by the cabildo, as

well as 4,460 psscs, but he does not say when the donation was made.
Navarro, 22. - ‘

9 Juan de Velasco, Historia Moderns del Reino de Quito, Quito, 1941, I1,164.
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in the following year the padires were callsd upon to assiat the inhabitants
during & sevare opidmiclghich ultimately took the lives of about ‘?,OOO
persons in the vicinity. Among the victims was Father Hinojosa. Such
events were harbingsrs of many similar tribulations that beset the padres 1nA
the years to come.

On the first day of January, 1589, the Jesuits purchased another house
which they needed to accomodate their growing numbsrs for there were now
thirteen members of the Society in Quito. It is not certain, however, that
they occupied this house before 1595.111{11 1589 the Ecclesiastical Cabildo
which was administrating the diocese stnce the dezath of the bishop gave the
direction of a small collsge to the Jesuitn.lz Here they began their
educational work offering slementary coursss in humanities, A clgu in

13
philosophy was conducted by Father Juan de Frias. Very soon laymsn and

10 This epidemic began in Cartagena in 1589, and spread down to the 3traits
of Magellan, causing the deaths of 30,000 of the 80,000 inhabitants in
the intervening area. Ibid., II, 66.

11 Although Gonz&lez-Susdrez, 323, says they moved t0 the new houss Jamaryl
1, 1589, Navarro, 35-27, basing his argument upon a pleito or complaint
found in the Archivea de San Francisco in Quito which remonstrated
aghinst the Jesuit plan to move to this house, (Lagajo 7), says they
established their house hers six years later, in 1595. The Franciscans
objected on the ground that the Jesuit houss was located 140 varag (one
vara is equivalent to 2.8 feet) of the Franciscan convent, and the Bull
Motu Proprio of Sixtus IV as well as othsr decrees of Clement V pro-
hibited the establishing of religious houses, colleges or churches with-
in 140 varas of each other. Evidently the complaint was not considered
too seriously for the Jesuits did move to this house. .

12 Gonzalez-Suarez, 354-365; Jouansu, 59, 61.

13 Velasco, 58.
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members of other religious orders in the city came to attend the college.
Temblors and pestilences were one thing to contend with. A reyolt was
another. On July 24, 1592, a viceregal cedula imposed ancthar alcabala or
tax upon the city. The citizens went up in arms when collection was
attempted. By Spring of 1583 Quito was in a state of turmoil. The Jesuits,
acting ae¢ mediators bstwesn the govenror and governed, did much toward

restoring peace. When calmness finally mwrevailed it was Father Morillo who

14
obtained a general pardon for the citizens of Quito from the viceroy.

In 1594 the newly appointed Bishop Luis Lépez de Solfs founded the
Seninary of San Iuis. This he placed under Jesuit direction since he felt

assured of their ability to conduct the institution according to the rulss
15

stipulated by the Council of Trent. LSpez de Solfs stated in the Auto de

Fupdacién of the Seminary:

In order that this work, that is to

say the founding of the Seminary,

which we hope will be of great service
to God and beneficial for our diocese,
should asrve its purpose, it is
essential that the persons placed in
authority be of good example and be
sdequately educated, and have exverience
in instructing the youth; for this
reason we agrse in accord with the

Royal Audisencia and the Cabildo of this
City +ss t0 intrust this Seminary to
the direction of the Company of Jasus. 16

The Jesuits accepted this responsibility with ths stipulation that they

14 Ibid., 69-71; Letter o Arana, Astrain, IV, 568.

15 Jos8 Juaguin Borda, Historia ds ia 0quaﬁIé de Jesis en la Nueva Cransds,
Poisay, 1872, I, 42; Diego Rodrfgusz Ocampo, "Descripcion y relaticn del
estado oclosiastico del obisrado 8an Francisco de Quito," Relstiones
Geograficas de Indias, III, 12.

16 Gonzalez-Suarez, 366-367.
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retain camplete temporal and spiritual managcment.l7Fathgr Frias Herran was
appointed roctor.lgBy Avgust of 1601 when Pdez visited Quito thereewsre
twenty members of the Society at this residence, including ten priests,
devoted to the sducation and training of young leminarians.;g

During the sixteenth century the padres in Quito were occuried largely
in establishing their colezio, conducting the seminary, and alleviating the
distress of the pecple during the rewolt and epidemic. However, men were
gent out to ths surrounding land on missionary excursisna. The most notable
early missionary in this region was Father Rafael Ferrer. TFerrer and Father
Diego de Cuenca journeyed the fifty lsagues from Quito to Pasta in 1599.20
This was & perilous journey through hostile lands but the fathers arrived
safely at thelr destination. After preaching in Pasta they travsled to
Popayan and to Calf. They were joined at Cal{i by a studious, piocus ymzxth,
Diego de Carcedo, who returned to Quito to be admit;ed to the Society. '
Following Ferrsr's visit other Jesuits were welcamed at Cali. TFather Mamuel
Rodrfguez and others traveled to Cali where the inhabitanis ri#gularly offered
to estzblish a colegio but the fathers were forced to decline the offer until

22
more men were sent %0 the province,

17 Ibid., 369-370; "Reglas ge"Colegic Seminario de San Iuis," Reglas y Con-
stitucidnes, Cérdoba, 1940, 143-183.

18 Torrss Saldamando, Los_pntiguos Jesuitas del Peru, 166.

19 When the royal university of San Gregorio Magno was astablished in Quito
in 1620, the king stipulated that the rectorship should always be given
to the rsctor of the Jesuit Colegio Mé&ximo at Quito. Navarro, 29.

20 Velasco, III, 14; Torres Saldamando, op.cit., 91-92; Mendiburu, V, 287.

21 Carpedo was the first person born in New Granada to entsr the Society.
Diego Restrepo, La Compariia en Colombia, Bogotd, 1940, 18.

22 Borda, I, 46.
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Ferrer returned to Quito to study the langxzasagu of the Cofanes, a task
he is said to have accomplished in four months. In 1602 he bcgan‘_his work
among the Yumbas and Cofanes in the present intendencia of Amazonas. That
year he founded the rusblo of San Pedro, in 1604 he founded Santa Maria
and shortly afterwards, Santa Cruz .24In his travels he explored the
Maranon River and some of its main tributaties. He discovered Lake Pequeya
and the course of the River Putomayo. He was called to Quito for a short
time to instruct the novices but was allowed to0 return to his beloved
Cofanes. About a year and & half after his return to missionary work,
soldiers began to invade the territory. The natives resented the intrusion
of the Spaniards and held Ferrer responsible for it. Thus in June, 1611,
he was slain by those natives to whom he had dediceted his efforts for nine
years, and among whom he had, with the assistance of Fathers Juan de Arcos
and Onofre Esteban, baptized 4,800 .2581-.111 Ferrer had blazed thci trail for
the Jesuit fathers who subsequently founded the missions cf the upper
Amazon rngions.. ’

The fathers moved further north after establishing their houss at
Quito. When Antonio Gonzélez arrived at Peru in 1589 to assume his duties
as Bresident of New Granada, a territory roughly comprising the present

Coleombia, he reguested that the fathers eatablish the gocisty in his

23 Mendiburu, V, 287. K

24 Torres Saldamando, op.cit., 91; Ferndndez and Granaios, 349-350;
Velasco, III, 183~184.

25 Mendituru, V, 287; Velasco, III, 137-144.
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26
rresidency. Fathers Alcnso Linero, Francisco de Victoria and a lay brother,

Juan Martinez, were chosen to accampany Gonzdlez to Senta ¥4 ds Bpgotd,
although they were not instructed to found a residence here at this timc.27
They must have taken the round about route from Lima to Panama, overland
to Portobelo and thence to Cartagena. After a delay in Cartagena where
Victoria was 111 for several months, the party resumed its journey and
arrived at Bogota March 30, 1590.28

'Father Antonio Martinez was sent tc supsrvise the group at Bogota.
Arriving there in October, 1590, he was distressed to find a é'rtain
dissension between the Jasuits. Victoria proved particularly difficult.
Without consulting his provincial or the rector at Quitc he had contracted
for the purchase of a house for 4,400 ducsts, expscting to establish a
cologio-ngurthermora he had obligated the Society for this sum despite
the fact that the Jesuits hal received donations of but 400 ducats from

the people of this region. These plans hed to be cancelled. Then too,

26 Borda, I, 6-7. The Franciscans entered New Granada in 1513, establishing
their convent in Santa Maria la Antigue del Darien. They began their
work shortly afterward around Bogotd, going from there to the missions
in the Valle delles Algazures. The Dominican Fray Tomds Ortiz and 20
membars of his Ordsr arrived at Santa Marta in 1529. Thres years later
they conducted missions at Cartagens. In 1537 they cooperated with the
Franciscans in founding missions around Bogota and in 1539, around Tunja}
Both Orders established rumasrous missions in New Granada bsafore the
arrigal of the Jesuits. In 1542 the Dominican Bishop Loaysa was unabls
to rsalize his plans for a seminary at Cartagena. Archbishop Luis Zgpa-
ta ds Cardenas eatablished a seminary which was closed four years iater,
in 1586. In compliance with a royal cadula of 1554, the Dominicans
of fered instmuction to the sons of caciques and oncomanderos at their
convent in Bogota which dsveloped later into a university. Fernindez and
Granados, 297-302, 508, 59, 22-23, 190-191, 65, 312, 246-247.

27 Josd Cassini, Hi st6r1a de la Provincia de la Comnaﬁ{a de Jesus del
mg__g,.m_g_._c}r___am, Madrid, 1741, 8.

28 Restrepo, l4. '

29 Astrain, IV, 482.
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while Victoria lived at the hospital Linero was residing at the home of the
president who was ralated to him. Thias situation persisted for at Jeast
two years, for in May, 1582, Victoria wrote to Aquaviva that Linerols resi-
dence was ths subject of adverss criticism in ths city.zo

During the Lsnten ssason of 1591, Martinez sent Victoria on missionary
excursions around Bogotd, while he himself began to work among the natives
in Pamplona. The President and the cabildo requested that the fathers
establish & permanent mission among thae natives at lezst if they felt there
were not sufficient men to warrant founding a residence for the instruction
of the Spaniards as well. Still Martinez was not in authority to enswer
this request.

In 1598 when the Inguisitor of Mexico, Bartolome Lobo'Guerroro, wess
appointed Archbighop of Bogoté, he was given permisgion by the Jesult Pro-
vincial of New Spain, Esteban Paez, to bring two members of the Society to
Bogoté.glFathers Alonso de Medrano and Francisco de Tigueroa sailed with
Guerrero April 30, 1598.323y the time of their arrival, Linero had returned
to Spain with the coadjutor Martfnez, Father Martinez had gone to Lima, and
Victoria alone remsined at Bogot4.

Medrano inaugurated a series of lectures in moral theology for ths
clergy of the city while Figuerca taught grarmar to the children. The worked
too, among the natives in the puabloszgf Chia, Cagjica, Bojaca, Serrezug}g

(now known as Madrid), Suba and Tena. At the same time they commenced work

on a gremmer and dictionary in Muisig which was latsr completed by Father

30 Victoria to Aquaviva, May 13, 1592, Ipid., IV, 483.
31 The archdiocese had been facant for nine years presvious to this appoint-

ment . Marmel Groot, Histéria Eclesigstica y Civil de Nueva Granada,
Bogota, 1882, I, 211.

o2 Borda, I, 8; Casziri, 9.
23 Reatrepo, 1D3-1 :

- -
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Jos$ Dadey.

Thougﬁ Archbishop Guerrero and President Francisco de Sonde,*who had
succeedad Gonzalez in 1597, urged tham to accert donations towards a parman-
ent residence, Medrano and Figueroa explained that they too, like the
fathers from Lima, had received permission only to make migsionary sxcur-
sicns in this lani. Consequently they depsrted from Santa Fé de Bogota
for Mexico in Syring of 1600. They stonped at Cartagsna on their way and
thers they wers offersd a hoase by Francisco de Alba who hoped the padrss
would establish a colegio.34 Again the fathers had to decline, and they
laft the diccess in the sumer of 1800. Medrano went to Spain and to Rome
to obtain pernissicn to establislh the Soclety in this territory.

Pather Diego de Torres as Procurator in Rome also vrged the establish-
meut of the Society in New Granada. The Genesral consented to this March 14,
1602; on ths following Lecenber 30th u royal cédula conirmed this docisizg.
In compliance with these orders, Medrano and four other Jesults arrived at
Cartagena July, 1604.36They were givan a graclious recertion by the Dominican
Bishop, Juan de Ladrada. The fathers w;re willing now to establish a
colegio, but there ware no immediate offers of financial assistance. The
Bishop, therefore, humbled himself by begging from house to house for dona-
tions and in this manner he gathered sufficisnt funds %0 enable the Jesgsuits

37
to build a modsst house and church. The colegio was opsned July 14, 1605.

34 Ivid., 16.

35 C€dula in Revists del Archivo Nucional, Bogots, ITI, 151; Barda, I, 10-
12; E. Posada, "Cronologia 3a Colombia," Boletin de Higtoria y Antigue-
dades, (Colombia), (1909), v, 171.

35 Restrepo, 17.

37 Ibid., 17; Groot, I, 229-230.
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According to the Annual Letter of 1605, therse wars more than 2,000 Spaniards
in Cartagena and from 2,000 to 4,000 negroes.zaThe fathers held clesses in
grammar for sixty or ssventy Spanish children 2nd worked among the negro
slzves who were living under the most sordid af conditions.

Fathers Martfn ds Punes, surericr, Juen Bautists Coluccini or Colin-
ucet, Jose Dadey, Bernabs de Fojas and 2 coadiutor, Diego Sianchez, arrived
at Santa Fé de Pugots Saptember 23, 1604, and fouwr days iater prasentsd thse
royal cedula which licensed them to establish a colegio.agFaxher Dadey,
like nig confrers in Fcuador, EstSban, rejoiced in a long 1iTe of service.
He syent fifty four years in this 1and of the Chibchas. Archbishop Guerrero
purchased the house of the treasursr, Juan de Albis, for the Society and
assignzd an anrual rent of 500 pesos for the maintensznce of the college.4o
In addition, the President, Juan de Borgia, contributed 2,000 pasos as an
anrmal pension from the encomienda of Guatinita while the cabilde provided
fundg for a class in grammar.4lA large church adjoining the colegio was
placed at the disposal nf the Jesuits. Clagses wers armmounced at thas
Colsgio d2 Los Aulas, "The Halls,"'asiit was callsd, embracing the study of
Spanish, Latin, philouscrly, theology, physics and cosmagrap%y.423y the end
of 1804 over one hundred students wers enrolled.

The Archbishop had long hoped to sststlish a ssminery at Bogota that

would meintain the standards znd regulations stipulatsd by the Council, ¢f

38 Astrein, IV, 588.

39 Restrapo, 20.

40 Borda, I, 1l4; Groot, I, 224.

41 Borda, I, 14-15. . ,

42 José Joaqufh Guerra, "El Seminario de Bogota," Boletin de Historia
Antigquedadss: Organa de la Sociedad de Historia Nacional,.Bogotd;‘?lgll)

VII, 475 Restrepo, 20-21; Fernéndez and Granedas, 68.
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Trent. In 1584 the first Archbishop of Bogotd, Luls Zapata ds Cdrdenas,
had beea unsucczssful in his attenpt to found a similar instituﬁlon.4a
Guerrero, certain that the pudres were capable of conducting the school,
requssted the Socisty t0 undartake the surervision of a diocesan seminary.
The fathers accerted the offer October 18, 1605.44Hencaforth the Jesuit
colegio and the seminary wera incorporatsd as the Colegic de San Bartolomé
The Colegio'was ilacated on the prressnt site of the Palacio de San Coral,
and over the portals of the palacio was placed the inscription that had
been on San Bartulomd, "Sapientia asdificavit sibi dOmum."45The Jeguit
quaerters were on the uprer floor, whils studsnuts occurisd the ground floor.
Father Mart{n de Punes was the first rector of San Bartolomé, with Fet her
Vasques wuperviscr of the seminarians. In 1506 a chair in ths Muisia
languegs was added, with Dadey as professor, to train men for missionary

46
work in the rsgion around Cajica, Fontibon and Duitome. San Bartolomé

43 Guerra, VII, 47. ‘

44 Lstter of Guarrero, Ociober 18, 1605, in Restrepo, 24; Juan Rodr{guez
Freile, El Carnero, Bogot&, 1935, 172; Posada, V, 171. pather Dadey
gave this sermon at the ceremony cn the openinguiay of the Colegio.
Groot, I, 225-226,., This seminary remainad under Jesult supervision
for 163 years. The fathers were given the supervision of a similar
ssminary at Popaydn in 1648.

45 Restrepo, 25-35. _

46 Brancisco ds Barrara, "Los Jesuitas Misionss," Boletin de Historia y
Antiquedadas, (19C2), I, 70. Dadey comrleted the grammar and dictionary|
in Muisia which recasived thes special commendation from the Presddent.
Astrain, IV, 591. -
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47

was declared a university in 1610. 3By this time it had also become the

Colegio Maximo for the newly established Province.

-

47 Ora, Reglas y Constitucidnes, 29. At the time of the expulsion of the
Society, the majority of the civil and scclesiastical asuthorities in
this region ware graduates of San Bartolom®, or the Univarsidad
Xawsriana which was the nace given the univerkbty that developed firom
San Bartolome: The fathers continued to expand their activities,
establighing a colegiv at Tuaja in 1611, at Hondo in 1620, at Pamplona
in 1622, at Povaysn in 1840, at Mampa in 1643, at Panam& in 1651 (be-
came g university in 1715), &b antioquia in 1727, at Pasto in 1713,
and at Buga in 1743. TFernindez and Granadas, 73-74, 115..




CHAPTER XI
PROBLEMS AND THE ULTiMATE ORGANIZATION

In tracing the progress of the Jesuits in various directions over the
South American scene little attention was paid to the many difficulties
against which they labored. Not the lzast of their problems cropped up
during their early years in Peru. This was the antagonism which dsvelored
between Viceroy Toledo who governed the land from 1568 until 1581, and the
Jesult authorities. Toledo had been most anxious to have ths vadras work
in his wviceroyalty. ﬂh{gsourco of friction that developed is found in the
vigeroy's failure to respact the right of the Jesult superiors to conduct
the activities of their men. Toledo had bsen sent to Peru to organize the
viceroyalty, and organize ue did. His "Codovof Government" was an attempt
to exbrace all political and ecclesiasticzl matters in a rigid uncompro-
mising systcm.l There was a serious nsed for order in the land, but Toledo's)
interference in ecclesiastical affairs was-a times & hinderance rather than
an ald towards this goal. In his attitude we find a feflex of that of
Philip II in his dealings with the Popes.

The Guarochiri missions occasioned the firet dispute between the
viceroy and the Society. Both Archbishop Loayzg and Toledo, in their(}
requssts for Jesuits, had expressed the hops that the'fathors would aﬁédr-
vise the reduction and care of ths Lunoguena and Guarochiri Indians who

2
dwelled a little south of Lima. The Guarochiri were especially aggravating.

1 Moses, Spanish Rule in America, 139-14C; Zimmerman, 252-269.
2 Oliva, 199-20C; Zimmerman, 91.
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They were not inclined to cooperate with the Spaniards, and they were
practically unorganized so that it was particularly difficult to werk among
them. They dwelled in small groups or Puseblecillos of thres or four
familises, each a league or two distant from the othar.

Portillo assigned five fathers to work smong thess natives in Novsmter
of 1570.3 Bracamonts, as superior of the group, was assisted by Fathers
Alonso ds Barcensa, Hernan Sdnchez and Sebastian Amador who cane to Peru with
Toledo, and Cristoval Séﬁchoz, the priest who had entered the Society at
Lima in 1568. MTwo coadjutors were also assigned to this field as well as
two scholastics one of whom was Blas Valera who was to distinguish himself
as & linguist and historian.

The viceroy sent Dr. Gabriel de Loarte to the Guarochiri province to
gather the natives into villages or reductions shortly before the Jesuits
arrived in this vicinity.4 In the short time given Loarte to accomplish
thie task, no more than a month, he was able to do little more than desig-
nate eight sites for the r=ductions. The actual work of inducing the
Indians to abandon their saventy seven puebleclllos to congrsgate in the
eight villages whers they could be contacted more easily was left to the
padres. Ths first task was to win ths confidence of the numerous Indian
chiefs or caciquss. This accomplished, thney were able to organize the
villages designated by the viceroy. The missionaries instructed the childrcn
in reading, writing and doctrine. They provided a house for the aged and
ill. These natives were intensely supsretitious, and the fathers found many

idols which they destroyed, at first to.tho consternation and then to the

3 Pastells, I, 88; Oliva, 200-201.
4 Levillier, Don Francisco de Toledo, 210; Zimmerman, 91,
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astonishment of the Indians. The work among the Guarochiri was strenuous.

Father Hernan Sdnchez perished in the region while Father Amador was

forced to return to the Colegio Meaximo where he died soon afterward.5
Portillo abendoned this field in 1572, two ysars after he had assigned

the first group here, when & dispute arose ragarding the supervision of

these missions. Neither Archbishopr Loayza nor Toledo approved of the

Jesuit supervision over thess resductions as missions instead of as parishes
The land of the Guarochirl was within the jurisdiction of the Archbishop of
Lima. However, it was not actually organized previocus to the time when

the Jesuits commenced their work among thsse matives although the Domini-
cans accomplished soms missionary work in this area. Portillo assumed

at the time that he assigned men to this section that the reductions would
be regarded as missions, and would be under the diract jurisdiction of the
Society . Under thisiarrangement:thetIndians would not have to pay the cust-
omary taxss. Toledo and Lgayza demanded that the reductions be absorbed
into the parochial systsme. The parochial system involved the regular
collection of fees and rents which Portillo considered would be an unjust
imposition upon these natives. It was customary also to permit encomen-
deros to impress natives of parishes into a limited swount of personal
service - a situa.tioh which would a.lienéte the Guarochiri whose confidence
the padres had gained after much effort, and would render the task of;gon-
verting them evey more difficult. Portillo was generally opposed to iho

practice of persunal servics. Then too, the Jesuits were supervised

directly by their superiors in the province with the right of appeal to

5 Jouanen, I, 27.
6 Astrain, II, 313-314; III, 155-157.
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the General at Rume. Since parishes were under the immesdiate jurisdiction
of the Archbishop, Portillo preferred to avoid a situation in whick the
padres would be supervised as regudar clergy, resulting in a confusion of
authority.

Toledo wrote his version of the dispute to the king who replied that -~
the Society was obligated to convert the natives.7 This reply offered no
solution for the roint in question was not whether the fathers should work
toward the convsrsion of the natives, but rather whether they could work in
their own mission system or whesther they would bs obliged to continue this
mission under the direct supervision of the Archbishop and the viceroy.

The matter initiated & saries of misunderstandings betwsen Toledo and the
Jocisty, and, at the same time, caused a certain amount of diszension a#zong
ths Jesulis in the province. Bracamonts was of the opinion that Portillo
had adupted a rather stubborn stand for the sake of a mers technicé,lity, an
attitude which he felt could only impeds the vrogress of ths Society., For
this reason, as well as to present cartain matters which he had discussed
with Toledo conceraing Cuzco and t0 recruit wore men for the Pémvian
Province, Bracamonte 3dught permission to journey to Spain and to Roms to
confer with the General and with the political authorities. Portille waﬁ '
aware of Bracamonte'!s criticiam. Yzt he allowed him to return to Spain in
1572 in order to avoid further disagreements with 'I'olcdo.8 Despits Braga~
monte’s protest, Portillo was commended both in Spain and in Rome for his

9
stand in the matter. Again, as has been noted, Portillo’s decision met

7 Extract from Archivo de Indlas, Seville, 7C-1-28, Cuzco, March 1, 1572,
Astrain, II, 313-314. , .

8 Ibfd., III, 155-157.

9 Torres Saldamando, Los Antiguos Jesuitas del Peru, 4.
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with the general approval of the members of the Province for at the pro-
vincial congregation of 1576 it was dscided that in the future the,Society
would avoid beconing in any way involved in the parochial system.

The fathers progressed without a definite clash with the viceroy until
1578. During this year Toledo sought to direct ths provincial, at this
tims Acosta, once again. Ic\)Tow he offered Acosta the supervision of the
University of San Marconl Toledo had reorganizsd the university in 1577,
susrending the Dominican rectorshir and placing laymen as well as clergy on
the faculty. The viceroy sponsorsd the erection of two chairs in grammar,
one in Indian languages, one in thsology, threec in law, two in canon law
and two in medicine. This was an ambitious progrem but at this time Tcledo
was able to assign only two msn to these chairs .11 Consequently he was
anxious to sacure the services of the Society in conducting the university.
Two factors influenced Accsta in rejecting the offer. Tirst of all the
Society would be obligated to assign meny members to teach in the univorsity,J
and thus the progress of the Society in its own missions and colleges vhere
men were desperately neadsd would be impeded. Then too, the supervision of
the university would involve an administrative problem similar to that the
fathers encountered in the parochial matter.

Toledo appsared to considasr Acosta's rcfusai as a personal insult. He
retaliated by forbidding laymen in Lima to attend the lectures given at

12
the Jesuit Colegic de San Pedro y San Pablo. This ban met with considerable

10 Manuel Vicente Villaran, La Universidad de Lima, Los Origines, Lima,
1938, 17.

11 Lanning, 20-21.

12 Zimmerman, 237-238.
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orposition. Among the most notable citizens of Lima to protest was an
oldor of the audiencia, Rem{rez de Cartagena, who wrote to Philip II in 1579:
About 150 young men from twelve to sixteen
years of age attended this college. They were
taught the principles of gramm&ar, Latin,
rhetoric and the arts .... Over and above this
they were instructed in commendable habits,
in confessing every fiftesn days, in praying,
in fasting and in discipline. The fruitful
results achieved in the work with these youths

was doubtlsss accomplished through a special
gracs of God. 13

The viceroy not only closed the doors of the colegio but at the same
time directed the Jesuits to abandon their newly esteblished residences at
Potos{ and Arequipa.14Toledo accused the fathers of neglecting to secure
the propar licenses for these houses. The corregidores of these towns were
reluctant to comply with the viceroy's orders, but the Jesuits were vrompt
to leave, with the prowise that they would return as soon as ths Society
could obtain the necessary licenses. Acosta arpealed to the king through
the procurator at Madrid, Father Francisco de Porrea.lsTho case was brought
to Court in 1580. Thres royal firmados, or confirmatory decrees, were
issued as a consequence, on February 22, directing the Society to proceed
with their classes at tho colzgio as they had previous to the vicersgal ban,
demamding restoration o the Ja2suit house and goods at Potosf, and granting

16 ‘
the licenses for the colegios of Arequipa and Potosi. Thase decrsss arrived

13 Letter of licentiate Ramirez de Cartagena to Philip II, April 27, 1579,
in Asteain, III, 172-173.

14 Viceregal Orders to Corregidor of Potosf, October 7, 1578, Pastells, I,
14. The license was granted by the Audiencia of Charcas to establish the
house at Potos{ but Tolsdo said this was insu”ficient. Torrss Saldamando,
Los Antiguos Jesuitas del Peru, 7.

15 Memorial of Francisco ds Porres to Council of Indies, Pastells, I, 18-19;
Petition of the Sociotg concerning Aro%uifa Colegio, Ibid., I, 10-14;
Letter of Porres quoted in Astrain, II 74~176

16 Astrain, III, 176; Zimmermen, 257-358; Torres Saldamendo, Revista

Historia de Lima, I, 452.
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lat Lima in 1581 end were executed immediztely by Toledo's successor, Don
Mart{n Enrf?;nez.l7 e
Unfortunately the antagonism between Toledo and the Society was abetted
by the tactlessness of Father Luis Ldbez. Lopez, one of the firat Jesuits
to come to Peru, had served well in the care and instruction of both negroes
and nativeas. He was, however, guilty not only of tactlessness or imprudernce,
but also of a serious misdsavenor. In 1579 he was imprisoned by the Inquisi-
torial Board on the charge that he disyuted ths authority of the Holy 0ff1c1?
However, a report sert to the Supreme Council of the Inguisition stated that
the principal reason for his imprisomnment was his imprroper relations with
& psnitent, Maria Pizarro.lgnéﬁcz, perpetually banished from Peru, was
gsentensed t0 two years meclusion at the Jssuit colegio of Trigueros in
lAndalucia, and four y2ars confinsment after this period. Some of the
Ingquisitors at the Court of Madrid suspected the chargzs were unfounded. The
Grand Inquisitor, Cardinal Quireoga, sxpressed the opinion that they were the
fabrications of the vigaroy; the Society on the other hand confirmed the
condemnation of L&pez. It is understandable howsver, thet to Quiroga and
others the judgemeat of the Inquisition in Lima against the padre apyeszred
to be the work of the viceroy sincsa Lopez Lud worked sarnestly among the

natives of Paru for slmost a decale and, at the sams time, had criticized

the tactics of the viceroy. He had accused Toledo of allowing the negroes;

17 Authooization of Enr{qusz, Levillier, Organizacién, I, 132-135.

18 M.H.8.J., Polanca, IV T11, 349,

19 Medina, Historia de la Inquisition en Lima, Santiasgo, 1890, 99-110; Tolede
to Philip II, Lima, Novamber 27, 1579, Levillisr, FPagpales de 1o Governa-
dores, VI, 221-223.

FO Agtrain, III, 178, Quirgga wrote, October 19, 1580, "En lo que toca a Iuis
Léypez, 1o que fucdo decir so gue ms dicen personas a quien debo cresr,

que es buen relligloso y muy diferents de como lo penta el Virrey, el cuval

s® ha portado con pasion cogtra la Comparifa, y es razon tener respecto a

#8to y tratar blen a Luls Ldp2? =x todo lo que se sufrisre de Justicia....”
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to mingle with the natives with the result that the Indians wers aguiring
even more vicious habits, and he chargsd the viceroy with excessivegtaxation
of the ha’civos.m‘l‘oledo admitted the first charge, but defended himself
with the explanatioa that the negross multiplied 80 rapldly that it was
imr.ogsible to segrsgate them from the Indians. Hs answered the second
charge with the stateunent that the tributes ware less than had formerly besn
required from the natives. Acosta had also complained to the king, in 1577,
that the taxses imyosed by the viceroy upon the natives were unjust.zz Subh
charges served merely to aggravate the viceroy. |

The controversy batween Toledo and the Jesuit Provineial Acosta
regarding the supervision of San Marcos hed far reaching effects. It planted
a sesd of discord between the old university and the Jesuit cclegio. In
1584 the university msde it impossible for its students to attend lectures
at San Psdro y San Patlo by stipulating that those seaking a diploma from
tLe university b: required to attend both morning aal afternoon classes %t
the university.gd'l‘he following ye2ar the rector of thes university, a member
of the Audiencia of Lima, offersd a chair in theology to the Jesuit Estébam
Dévila. Atienza allowed Tavila to accept the offer, but rivalry between
the schonls parsisted.

In 1588 the directors of the university poti'&ionad the king to ban
lectures in lenguages, science und the highsr arts at San Pedro y San Pablo.
The Council of Indies referred the matter to the viceroy, the audiencia

24
and the visitador ¢f the univa-sity, July 11, 169C. May 6, 1595, Viceroy

21 Zimmerman, 253-254. J
22 ﬁzsg%sto Philip II, Lima, March 17, 1577, Levillier, Orgenizacion, I,

23 Astrain, IV, 547.
24 Ibid., IV, 588.




Marqués de Cauhete declarsd that® 10 Latin shonld be taught in the Jesuit
college as a course offered in connection with the university; 2) ¥atin
students would matriculate at the university under the jurisdiction of the
rector of San Marcos; 3) representstions, daclamations, condlusions and
literary acts of the colegic should be forwarded to the university for
approval; 4) Jesult recommerdation should be required bsfore studsnts of
Lautin would be accepted at the university; 5) the master of Latin at the
university, Carnejo, should receive a pension but his clagses would be dis-
continued; 6) candidates for a Bachellor of Arts degrese should attend
morning and afternoon classes at the university; 7) classes in arts and
theology held in the novitiates of religious Orders, including those of the
Socisty, snould be closed tuv outside students, or, if spscial permission
were gran@ed to students tu attend, no cradit toward a degres could be
granted.szho J2suits were to be considered masters of grammar at the uni-
varsity. This made the situation difficult, for the fathers were practicaly
restricted to one field, ratin, and at the same time were subjected to a
limited emount of jJjurisdiction of the ractor 9f the university, Antonio de
Arpide y Ulloa. The arrangement was unsatisfactory for both Arpide y Ullos
and the Socisty. The fathers complained that they wers being unduly re-
stricted while the recth saw no reason for placing any department of the
univeraity under exclusive Jesuit supervision. Nevertheless both were -4
obliged to comply with ths viceregal order. Father Tsteban Ddvila was

appeinted prime master of theology at the university May 19, 1595, and upon

25 Ibid., IV, 548-549.
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bis death in 1601, the Viceroy Luis de Velasco decreed that the Soclety
should continue to hold the first chair in thecl.ogy at San Marcos.z‘?'l'ho
sslection of a man for this position was to be left to the Jesuit provincial
Jusn Pérez Menacho was apcointed to succesd Davila in 1601. At the sane
tims the Jesuit Father Francisco‘ Aguayo accepted a chair in arts at the
vnivaersity.

The fathers continued protesting against ths enforced attachmsnt to
the univarsity. On May 8, 1604, ths Council ¢of Indiss stated that the
university could impose no further obligations upon the Society, and that
the fathers would not be restricted from offering advanced lesctures in
subjects other than Latin, although studontszcould not receive credit for
attending such lectures from the university. 7'I'hc Council answered further
rrotasts Aprril 20, 1608, declaring that no more concessions would be mado?a
In 1624, during the provincialats of Frias Herran, the Jesuits discontinued
lecturing at San Marcos. They regumed the lectures in theology in 1713 when
they were given mors favorable terms by the univsrsity.

The routine tasks of administrating this vast and remots province were
not simple. TFather Jerdnimo Riiz del Portillo who brought the first group
to Peru had been given a difficult assignment, but in his judicious super-
vision he served his office well. Father Josd ds Acostg, the most notable

of the early provincials, rroved to be a capable administrator as well as

& scholar of note. Acostals successor, Father Baltasar de Pinas who was

26 Torres Saldesmando, Los Antiguos Jesuitas del Peru, 159.
27 Astrain, IV, 551.
28 Astrain, IV, 551.




| appointed provincial in 1581, lacked the btroad ability of his predscessars
in fulfilling the requirements of the position. Pifas came to Perw in 1575
with Bracamonte. In 1576 he was appointed rector of the Colegio Maximo.
The following year he went to Rome as procurator. He returned to the
province in 1581 bringing with him twenty members of the Society from Spain.
As provincial he was sirict and careful to select men for positions of
authority who would place similar emphasis upon rigid discipline. Acosta
wrote to Aquaviva that a more extensive and magnanimous spirit was to be
desired in a provincial, while even Tather Juan de Atianza, who was at the
tims rector of the Colegio Makimo, complained that Pin4s was disinclined

to consult others im any of his decisions, and Diego de Torres, rector ab
Jul{, noted that he concentrated upon the trifling economic details of the
houses to the extent that he was almost pardimonious in donations to the

29
poor. Pinas himaelf was not unaware of his deficisncies for he asked to

be relisved of this ruponsibility.,so His request was not granted until
1585, He displaysd far more ability as a teacher and preacher, and he
served admirably in the establishment of the Society at Quito and at Chile.
Father Andrés Lépez who was a; the times procurator, received the
appointment of provincial in 1585. 1He died at Panemé in April of that year
whil? travsling to Lima with a group of twenty Jesuits to be assigned to

the province. Father Juan de Atienze, rector of the Colegic Maximo, was:

29 Ibid., IV, 509-511l. Atienza tc Aquaviva, Lima, February 12, 1583, says
Pinas has "...neither the memory nor the trainin% for_ handling the bnsinesh
of the provincial....In his rassolutions he is exfremely hasty, and when

he pr?osu & consultation he amounces his determined opinion immedfataly
and 1f by chance snother father should voice a contrary :Binion, Pings
always finds it erroneous, and is extremely quarrelsome about the entire

matter." He added that Piflas clung too tightly to the silver.
30 Ibid., IV, 511.
31 Lopez came to Peru in 1573 with Acosta. He received his major orders

@t Lima. Torres Saldamando, Los Antiguos Jesuitag dal Pery 35



‘thnn namod provincial.ézTh. members of the province received the announce-
ment of his sypointment on Pentecost Sunday with marked onthnsialmﬁssﬂil
provincialate, terminating with his death in 1592 when he was but fifty
years old, is marksd by harmony within the province and by the expansion
of the Society's activities in the viceroyalty.

Atienza was succeeded as provincial, December, 1592, by Father Juan
Sevastian %’ la Parra who had acted as rsctor of Potosi and of San Psdro y
San Pablo. 4Likc Pinas, Sebastian was intensely concerned in maintaining
rigorous discipline. He was inclined to dsal harshly with people, constantly
reprehending them for their faults. Cabrddo, Sebastidn's successor in 1599,
noted in his report that the Peruvian Jesuits were divided over the gquestion
of the most effective method of handling subjects, and that Sebastian and
the older fathers were for the most part oppossd by Father Diego de Torres
and the younger men who wers convinced that more could be accomplished by
consoling the afflicted and encouraging wayward Christians and infidels to
reform than by condemning them for their trospasses.assobastiﬁn was an
excsptionally rious individual, but his plety did not endow him with the
qualities most admirable in & provincial. His fallure to visit the province
during the last three years of his term whoﬂ he was constantly anticipating
his replacement by amother has already been noted. Father Rodr{go Cabredo

38
arrived at Lima to succeed Sebasti&n in July, 15699. He was accampanied:

32 Ibid., 24-31; Sommervogel, I, 611-612.

33 Astrain, IV, 517.

34 Francisco Migueroa, "Vida del V. P. Juan Sebastidn de la Parra, Provin-
cial del Peru," Archives of Lima. Sommervogel, III, 727.

35 Astrain, IV, 621; Torres Saldamando, Los Antiguos Jesuitas del Paru,
158-157. In 1633 the process for beatification of Sebastiin wasg pro-
posed. Vargas Ugarte, lManuscritos Peruanas, I, 128,

36 Cabredo to Aquaviva, April 26, 1601, Astrain, IV, 534.
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by Father Esteban Pdesz, former Provincial of New Spain, who bhad come to
Peru as visitador. -«

By the end of the sixteenth century the impossibility of maintaining
a workable organization in the vast rrovince was the most significant
administrative problem. There was the physical impossibility of any one
provincial's visiting and inspecting the entire area in any given three
yeer period. Both Cabrédo and PAez noted the difficulties in communicating
with those residences far removed from Lima. The province overlapped many
governmental divisions end many diocesan jurisdictions. Pdez suggested in
1600 that Quito and Panamd be inclwuied in one province, while another
province be formed to the south, including Potos{ and Santa Cruz de la
Sierraf7Diago de Torres, appointed procurator in 1600, was instructed by
Cabredo and Paez to suggest this division in Rome and in Madrid.sBAquaviva
consented to the division as proposed by Torres, with a Province of Nueva
Reino de Granada having its headquarters at Quito, and a southern province
with headquarters at Santa Cruz de la Sierra.ngorreo was also given per-
mission to assign forty fivs men from the Spenish and Itelien provinces
to Psru.40

The Gensral revised his decision in the matter after receiving reports

from Tucuman concerning the progress of the padres in this region. He sent

word to Torres, who was in Valladolid, February ¢, 1604, to thes effect that

37 Ibid., IV, 573.

38 Torres Saldamando, Los Antiguos Jesuitas del Teru, 112-114.

39 Astrain, IV, 629,

40 List recruited for Peru from Catalogus in Roms. Of these sixteen were
rriests. Astrain, IV, 829-630.
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Tucuman and Paraguay whould be organized intc a province distinct from
Peru as soon as possible, while Quitc and Santa Fé de Bogotd were 40 be
inclﬁdud in the vice-province of Nuevo Reino de Granada.41

Torres arrived at Lima November 22, 1604, with forty five members
of the Socioty.42Hs rresentsd the instructions pertaining to the divisibn
and aypointing Torres VTice-Provimcial of Nuevo Deino y Quito. This
division was unexpected, for it diffsrzd from the plans of Cabredo and
Pasz., Torres was appointed ¥ice-provincial of the northern ssction imme-
diately. Instead of ssparating Peru from Paraguay and Tucumih, however,
the provincial appointed Alvarsz de Paz VicesProvincial of Santa Cruz de
la Sierra. Aquaviva, hearing of this, wrote an smphatic letter to Pész
making it quite clear that the instructions given Torres wsre to be carried
out explicitly.és

Torres assuned his duties as Wice-Brovincial of Nuevo Reino which
included tha colegios of Quito, Cartageas ad Sogotd, in 1605. When he
arrived, there warsz sixty Jesuits in the vics-province, thirty at the
colegio at Quito and the others around Cartagena and Bogota.44Ton of the
men who came with him from Spain and Rome were assignsd to Cartagena.
Torres traveled from Quito to Bogot£ in the fall »f 1606, and comuenced

45
work among the nsgroes in Cartagena and along the Darisn cosst. In 1607

41 Pastells, I, 130-132.

42 Torres Saldamando, op.cit., 115.

43 Aqusviva to Pfez, November 14, 1805, Astrain, IV, 632.

44 Report of Torres to Philip III, Jamary 28, 1806, Ibid., IV, 599.
45 Torres Saldamando, op.cit., 115.
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he was called to Lima where he was named Provincial of Paraguay. Gonzalo
de Lyra succeeded Torres as vice-provincial. In 1610 the vice-pro¥ince
was mads a province, .indcpsndent of Paru. However, Quito was reincorpcrated
intc Peru in 1616 since communication betwesn Quito and Lima was less
difficult than between Quito and Bogotd. Again in 1617 Quito was included
in the Province of Nuevo Reino. In 1696 Gensral Tirso Gonzalez divided

the nozghern province and dssignata@ a colegio méximo at Bogota/and one at
Quito.

The Province of Paraguay was finally established in 18607 when Torres
received hig appointment as provincial.n‘rhis Qroviﬁco comprised Argentina,
Paraguay and Chile wuntil 1625 whgn Chile was made a vice-province. Torres
brought thirteen members of the Socisty to Paraguay from Peru while Aqua-
viva dirscted that six fathare from Brazil he sent to Paraguay.ésln 1608
there were residences at Santiago del Tstero, Cdrdoba del Tucumén, Asuncién,
Mendoza and Santa Fo’.égThis province espscially in the famsd reductions
was the scene of intense missionary activity which has rsceived elaborate
praise. It was likewise the mcene of notable cultural foundations.

Tha reorganization of the Peruvian Province closes the first phase in
the narrative of the Jasuits in South America. It is nét sagy to summarize
the work of the Jesuits during their early yesrs in Peru. The padrss con-

trivuted rach toward the cultural and spiritual improvement of the vices

royalty. By 1805 they were sstsblished in twenty cities of the viceroyalty

46 Jouanen, I, 5. _

47 Documentos para is Historia Argertina, XIX, lxxii.
48 Ibid., XIX, 1lxxiii; Pastells, II, 223.

49 Documentos paras la Historia Arzentina, XIX, 1llxxii.
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froam Chile to Panama. They had psrmenent residsnces at Lima, Cuzco and
Arequips in Peru, at La Paz, Potosf, Jul{, Santa Crﬁz de la Sierrf, San
Lorenzo el Real, Santiago del Puerto and Chuquisaca in Bolivia, at Santiago
del Ea‘erc, Cdrdoba, Salta and Guaira in Argentina, at Asuncidén in Paraguay,
at Santiago in Chile, at Quito in Ecuador, at Bogotd and Cartagena in
Colombia, and at Panama. In addition to this, they made regular missions to
digtant localities. In all the residences elsmentary schooling was provided
for the children. More advancsd courses wers conducted regularly at the
colegios of Lima, Cuzco, Santiago, Cdrdoba, Quito, Bogot£ and Cartagena.
Thres seminaries, at Lima, at Quito and at Bogota/.; had been placed under
Jzgult supsrvision. Jasuit colegios, modeled on those of Salamanca and
Alcala where many of the padres had received their scholastic training,
provided thne youth of Peru with sxcellent educational opportunities.

Tha fathers contributed notably to the study of the history and the
languages of the land. At lesst two are still regarded with respect by
historians, Acosta and Valera, whose works have already besn cited. Acosta
also gathered important data rsgarding the flora and fauna of the lands
through which he traveled.

The grammars and dictionaries comrosed by ths fathers wers bdut inci-
dental tools to the authors who worked:them out primarily to aid in the
evangelizing and inmstruction of the natives. In themselves howaver, they
are remarkabls lingulstic achievements. The publication of ths work in
Quechua and Ayma.rg, published under Acosta's name, has already been discusseqd
While these were the languages of the Inca "empire" they were not spoken
commonly by the nativss in ths regions of Argentina, scuthwestern Bolivia,

Chile, eastern Ecuador or New Granada. Hencs the fathers who were sant to
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these remote sections found it necessary to master the varicus local tonguss
A review of their accomplishments in this regard is impressive. Ia the
vicinity of Santiago del Estero they commenced the study of Tonocote by
1586, At the same time they studied Kakana or Cacae in the Tucuman diocese.
In 1590 Anasco and Barcena composed s catechism, grammar and manuel for
confessional instructions in the language of the na.tives. of the Chaco region
The Brazilian Jzsuits were the first to master Guarani, spoken by the
rietives of the Paraguay district. In the Bolivian region, zlong the eastern
frontisr, Martinez and Brother Sanchez composed works in Golgotoque, Chano;
Capaccora and Puyano, while Samaniago was sngaged in similar sthdies in
Chiriguane. The Jesults establighed a chair in Araucenian at their colegio
in Chfle by 1595, and Valdivia's grammar and catechiem in this langusge

were printed in Lima in 18606, To the north, in Quito, ths fathers instructed

other clergy in Quechua and Aymaré, and studied the languzgs of the Cofanes
Even before the Society established a permsnent residence at Bogota, Medrano
and Figueroa began a work in Muisia which was subsequently completed by
Dadey, who held a chair in this language at San Bartoloms. By 1601 Tiruel
reported that eighty of ths 105 Jesuit priests in Peru had mestered and
were using the natlve langusges spoken in their various 1oqa,lities .5030
added that many of the brothers were also instructing the natives in the
different Indian tongues. The work of the fathers and brothers among 'qhe

natives defies an accurate svaluation, for the good they accomplished

cannot be summarized in a page of statistics, although we have, in the pre-

50 Pastells, I, 102-103.




vious chepters, attempied to estimate the number of natives whom the fathers
attended from their residencss. o

Nor should it be forgotten that ths missionsriss benefited the State
as well as the Church. The natives were the responsibility of the king
who had claimed their land. In caring for the spiritual welfare of the
Indians ard in instructing them to provide for their temporal wants, the
radres discharged the royal duty with very little aid from the royal purse.
Then too, they assisted the military and civil authoritiss in the work of
racifying the natives who resisted Spanish rule. We have seen, for sxample,
the success of the padres in this rasgerd in the reduction of the hostile
Chiriguanes of sastern Belivia whoss raids had pravicusly cost the
viceroyalty men and money. They might have repeated such success in
southern Chile had they been accorded similar coopsration thers by.tho men
of the sword.

The work in this far away land was arduous. Even the voyage to Paru
entailed hardship. By 15385 four fathiers had verished before reaching Lima,
thres of them, Alvarez, Vaena and Lopez at Panamé, and one, Sudrez, at ssa.
Travel in the viceroyalty was difficil%, end since there was a scarcity of
mules and horses the majority of the fathiers travelsd on foot over land
that defies trespassing =ven to the pressent day. Nor were the nstives
elways to be relied upon. Feathar Trres was martyrsd by the Cunchos in, .
1599 end Farrer suffered & similar faterat the hands of the Cofanes in 1811,

It is interssting to note too, that thsse fathers whb worked in
sixteenth century Peru came from various provinces of Spain and Rome, and
were for the most part, volunteers who had expressed thelr desire to werk

in the Naw World to the procurators from Peru. We.have noted that in New
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Granada the FPeruvian Jesuits were assisted by two men from New Spain in
agtablishing the Sociaty there. Similarly, in the Paraguay smd Tucuman
region Brazilian Jesults contributed their efforts, and among these there
was sven an Irishman, Tomés Filds, or Thomas Fields. Not only ware there
men from diffarent provinces working in the viceroyalty, but in addition
there were Paruvian born cresles contributing their sfforts as members of
the Society?l In this latter group are included such zealous workers as
Fathers Juan de Olivares and Hernando de Aguilera from Chile, Blas Valersz,

Pedro de Afasco, Onofré Esteban and Bartclomé de Santiago from Peru, Diego

4¢é Carpedo from Ecusdor, and many lay brothers whose valusble assistance

receives insufficient recognition in the pages of hdstory. The groundwork

for the future progress of the Society throughout colonial times until the

expulsion of the Jegults in 1767 hLal been laid by these rioneer padres.

51 Of the “irst eight arrointed to Peru, twe were from Toledo, two from
Andalucia, two from Aragon and two from Castile. Cobo, I, 245. OF the
forty who came with Torrss in 1604, 15 were from Andalucila, 8 from
Castile, 4 from Toledo, 5 from Avegon, 3 from Nzples and 4 from Milan.
Astrein, IV, 630, Portillo accepied creolzss into the Society from the
beginning., Martin Pizarro wz3 a'mittsd in 1532, Oliva, 180. Even
mestizos were not barred, Tor Santiago's mother was zn Indizn. Torrss
Saldamsndo, ov.cit., 47-48.




CRITICAL ESSAY ON AUTHORITIES
Whils ther2 are a few helpful bibliogrsphiss, no ons of them serves as
& complete guids to the material Jor this study. The greater portion of the
material used has been located through the cataloguas of the Nawberry
Library and the Bancroft Library. A helpful guide, but one that is not com-
rlete in escclrsizstical history, is A. Curtis Wilgus, History and Historiang

of Hispanic America, Naw York, 1942, Thers are two useful works pei‘taining

to Peruviwa history and historians. The first, Meriano Felipe Paz Soldan,

Biblotdce Psruane, Lima, 1879, is a rathsr thorough catalogue of the books

pertaining to Peru ur t¢ that that, while Jose de la Riva Aguero, La

Historia en el Peru, Lima, 1810, a doctoral thesis, is a more critical work

with an analysis of the studies of Peruvian historians. A schdlarly and
indispensables guide to the s+udy of mission history is Robert Strsit, Bibli-
gtaca Missioqum, Munster, 1916, 1924, 1927, (3 volumes). In the field of
Jssult history thera is the twelve volume compilation of Carlos Sommervogel,

S.J., Bibliotheéque d2 la Compegnie de Jesus, Paris, 1890, which includes

biographical data and listings of tha works of and couceraing Jesult authors

PRINTED SOURCES

Josd ds Acosta, Histdris matural y moral de los Indias, en que se'"

tratan plantas ¥y apinaizs dellos: v los ritos y carmonlss, leyes, v govi-

erno v guerra de los Indies, Seville, 1590, is considered among the foremost

authorities of early Spenish America. His work has contributed much in

the stdentific field. The study treats the early history of Peru and of

New Spain, and aleo contains comments on the flora and fauna of these lands.
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Acosta says little of the work of the Soclety in Peru, dbut hs gives a

picture of the natives in ths Peruvian and Bolivian sections through which
he traveled. Editions of this work have apteared in Syanish, Latin, Trench,
German, Italian and English. The latest was printed in Msxico in 1940.

Pablo Jos# de Arriaga, Ls sxtirracidn de la jdolatr{a en el Peru, Lima,

1920, znnoted by Horacio E. Urtsaga, with a biograrhical sketch by Carlos
A. Romera, was first printed in Lima in 1621. The author arrived at Lima
in 1585, and acted as rsctor of the Colegio Méximo for twenty years. This
work 18 & helpful study of the conditions of the Indians in Peru and of
their customs. The factual information pertaining to tha work of the
Jzsuits commences with the division of the province. Diego Barros Arana,

Colzccidén de Historiadores de Chile y Documentos Relativos g la Histéria

Nacional, Santiago de Chile, 1831-1923, (40 volumss), in:ludes the most
pertinent narratives written during the sixtesnth and seventeenth centuriss,

as well as the proceedings of the cabilds of Santiago. Ricardo Beltran

y Rospides, ad., Colecgléﬁ ds las Memorias o ralaciones gque escribieron los

virrays dsl Pesru acerca del estado en que dsjiaban las cosas generales dal

Resino, Madrid, 1921, contains the finel reports of the vicercys from 1568
throagh 1626, regerding the gensral situation of the land. Documentos

para la HistSria Argentina, Busnos Aires, editazd by the Faculty of Phil-

osophy and Letters of the Institute of Higtorical Reszarch, has two
volumes edited by Carlog Leonhardt tresting the ecclesiastical history.
XIX, 1927, XX, 1929. Both volumes contain reports of the padres to their

superiors during the sixteenth century. F.X. HernBez, Documentos Relativos

a la Iglesia de América, Brussels, 1879, is a collection of papal Bulls,
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briefs and documents referring to ths organization of the Church in America.

Serafim Leite, Novas Cartas Jesuiticas s Nibrsge a Viera, S&o Paulo, 1940,
*z

contains svidence of the interest manifestsd by the fathers of the Brazilian

province in dewsloping missions in Spanish America, particularly in the

Tucuman diocese. Roberto Levillier, od., Governantes del Peru, cartas y

papeles, siglo XVI, Madrid, 1921-1928, (14 volumes), includes letters of
the viceroys during the period when the Society was beginning its work in
Paru. A work more psrtinent to this study has also besn edited by Levillier]

Orggggzaci5h de la iglasia y ordenes religi-sas en el siglo XVI, WMadrid,

19819, (2 volumss). These documants ars for the most part from the Archivo
de Indias, the official repository for reports and information concerning
Spanish America. They contain much information regarding the work of the
Society. The Monumenta Historica Societatis Jesus is a primary source for

this study. Of special interest is Volume III of Sanctus Franciscus Borgia,

guertus gandiae dux et Societatis Jesus Praepositus Generalis Tertius,
Madrid, 1908. Juan Josd Mostajo, Juan Voto Bernales, Victor Crisdo y Tijads,
Alonso Alvares Reyna, Fernando Pzlacio, and a number of other scholars have

edited a two volums work, Monografias histdricas sobre la ciudad de Lima,

Lima, 1935, which includes saveral documents pertaining to shis studyi Among

these is the hidstory of Bernab¥s Cobo, Elstd}ia de la Fundaciéﬁ de Lima,

written during the early seventeenth century. Cobo's work is honest and
well written. Other works found in this collection, and whose titles
indicate their context, alsoc contain primary sources: Enr{que Torres

Saldamando,” El Escudo de la Ciudad de Lima, Ricardo Tszan y Bueno, El Plano

de Lima, Domingo Angulo, La M:=tropolitana de la Ciudad de los Reyes, Pablo

Patrén, Lime Antigua, Horacio H. Urrsaga, El Virrey Don Francisco de Toledo|




Anello Oliva, S.J., Libro psgmero del manuscrito original del R. P. Anello
Qliva, S.J., Historia del reino y provinciss del Psru de sus Incag reyes,

descubrimiento y conguista por los esvafioles de la corona de Castilla con

otros singularidades concarnientss a la historia, Lima, 1895, was written

in Peru by Oliva in 1598 and was published three centurbkes later by Juan T.
Pazos Varela and Luis Varela y Orbegoso. The last few chapters record the
arrival, establishment é,nd progress of the Jesults in the vicinity of Lima.

Pablo Past2lls, Historia de la Cowpaiifia de Jesis en la provincia del Para-

guay (Argentina, Paraguay, Uruguay, Psru, Bolivia y Brasil) segun los dwmcu-

mentos originales del Archivo General de Irndias, Madrid, 1912, includes

extracts of documents and sumtaries as well as the complete documents.
Volume I contains material for this study. A volums edlted by the Universi-
dad Necional de Cdrdoba, Institute de Estudies Americanistas, Rsglas y
Copstituciones, Cordova, 1940, contains many of the constitutions:and regu-
lations of the various colleges and univarsitiss of colonial Peru, including
thoge of the Seminary of San Luis in Quito. Included too, is a contributiony
by Buenavantura Ora, "Errecion de Centros de Ensefianza Superior y el Espiri-
tu Docente durante la Colonia," 1-80, which incorporates s<varal dccuments
relating to Jesuit founcations. Marcos Jiménez ds la Espada, ed., Relaci-
ones Gsogrficas és Indiss ... Psru, Mairid, 1881-1885, (4 volumes),
contains saignificent-material Sor this study in the Iirst two vclumes,i'
including the annual latter of Father Barzana and Father Sebastian in 1594,

end the report of 1596. Diego de Torres Bollo, Relatione breve circa el

frutlc che si raccogli con gli indiani de quel regno, Rome, 1603, 4is the

report made by Torres as procurztor for the province. It contains istters

-~ s -
of Tathers Jaan Romero, Gispar Cs Monroy, Andrse Ortiz, Disgo Samanisgo,
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Diege Vééquez and Francisco Vdez. Rubéh Vargas Ugarte, Manuscritos Psrusnas

en 1as Bibliotecas del Extranjero, Lima, 1935, gives documents inewhols,

. #Xfracts and summeries of documents found in the British Muessum, Biblic-
thegue Nacicnal‘of Paria, Biblioteca de la Marina (Paris), Bibliotsca
Arsenal (Paris), 3Bibliotecz de Sant Genoviva (Paris), Biblioteca Valiscona,
Bivlloveca Hacicmal Vitncerlo Bummanusle, Archivo de la Tmbajado Espanola
(Rome), Archivo del Gesu (Rome), Archivo Histérico Nacionmsl (Madrid),
Biblioteca Rzai (Mairid), and other librsries ard archivss. An ayrreciatle
rumber of these refar to the work and establishrents of the sarly Jesasuits.
Conceraing the work of the Jz2suits in Bhile, five photostats have bsen
made by the Massachusetts Historical Society in 1928, and are in the Ayer
Cellection of Nawberry Librery. These ars found under the titles, Copia ds

vna carta del padre Luys de Valdiuia para el faror Cond® de Lemos, prefi-

dents de Indias, January 4, 1607; Relacidn ds lo gqve svcedic sn la jornada

2l fenor Prefidente Alonfo ds Ribera Gournador deftes Reyno, v yo defde

Arguco a Paycaui, & concluyr las pazss d= Elicura wltima regua de Tucepsl y

las de Puersrn v la Imperial, Dscember 24, 18612; Rslacion de 1o gve svcedio

2n el Reypo de Chile defpues g sl Padre Luys de Valdiula, de la Commania de

Iegus sntro en el con fuf ocho companercs Sacerdotss de la mifma Compania,

Decenber, 1612; Relacion d2 la muerte de 103 padres sascrita por sl Padre

Valdinie 24 de Diziasmbre de mil syscientos y doze al radre Provincial de

Lima; Trafladc de 1la importacia del madio, gve el virrey propons de cortar 13

guerra de Chile, y hazerla solemente dsfenfiua, Madrid, 1810 or 1611.

SECONDARY MATERIAL

It is difficult to clessify many of thase works as secondary material
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since they frequently incorporate much primary source materisl either in
the body of the works or in the aprendicss. In general, the writgr has
used these works only where thére was sufficient documentary evidence tran-
scribed within the texts.

The first group of worke are those which treat the more general
aspects of the study. Domingo Amunategui y Solar, Los Encomiendas ds
Indijenas en Chile, Santiago, 1909, I, contains much documentary material
vertaining to the Chilean Indien situation at ths time when the Jesuits

were attermnting to check offensgive warlfsre ageinst the Araucanians. L.

Ayarraggaray, La Iglesie en América y la Dominggjdh Espanola, Buenos Airses,
1820, is concernsed primarily with 8hurch-state relations during both
colonial and republican times. Jose de Barrasa and Munez de Bustillo,

La Colonizacidn Fepafidla en América, Madrid, 1925, devotes particular
attention to the sucomienda system and to the abuses of the system in the

/
outlying areacs of the Spanish colenies. Diegdo Barros Arans, Historia

Jeneral de Chili, Santiago, 1884, II, offers a scholarly sumnary of the

military situation in Chile. Telins Barreds y Laos, Vida Intelectual del

Virreinato dal Peru, Buanos Aires,‘1937, a comprshensive yet scholarly

work, trezats the develorments of tue primery centers of lzarning in the
glcaroyalty and gives a survey of the works produced by colonial Psruvian
writers. The greater portion of this work is devoted to ths later colonial

period. Constantino Bayle, S.J., Espafia y la educacidn popular en América,

Madrid, 1934, attempts to show the endeavors of the Spanish government and
of the religious Orders to maintain high scholastic standards in the

colonial educational system. It is a carsful study, but the author is

inclined to gensralize too widely upon his evidencs. Herbert E Bolton,

—_—



The Spanish Borderlands, New Haven, 1921, is used in reference to the Floridd

rroject, and in particular, in reference to the Menendez contract.® Esteban
Caceres, Espaila en al Psru, Lima, 1923, is a gsneral study of social condi-

tions. Ricardo Capva, Estudios criticos acerca de la dominacidn espdhola en

Amsrica, Madrid, 1889-1896, III,is particularly authoratdtive in the section

trsating the conguistador 2ra. Juan de Castellanos, Historia del Nusvo

Reino de Granada, Madrid, 1886-1887, is an interszsting but not always reli-

able chronicle ¢f the esarly pariod of Colombtian history. Alonso Ferné&doz,

Historia eclesisstica de nvestros tismpos, Toledo, 1611, is more of an

sulogy then a higtory. J. M. Ferndniez and Rafael Granados, Obra Civiliza-

dors de 1a Iglesia en Colombia, Bogota, 1936, contsins a good many docu-

ments and much documsnted information pertaining to the educzationel and
xissionary pursuits of the various Orders. Juan Rodriguez Fregle, E1 Carnerd
Bogota, 1935, written in 1636, is renam.'only in the sections dealing
with the developmernts in Sante Fe de Bogota. Alsjandro Fuenzalida, Bigtoria
del Desarrolla Intslsctual en Chile, 1541-1810, Santiago des Chile, 1903,

a8 the title indicates, attemcts to show a steady evolution in thought,
culminating in the final revolution to sever ties with Spain. Such a thesis
cannot be proven, or aven argued successfully, in one brief work. Jorge A.

Garcé%, ed., Libro de Provsimientos de Tierras, cuadros, solar=ss, aguas,

stc., vor los Calbildos de la Ciudad de Quito: 1583-1598, Quito, 1941,

publighed by the Archivo Municipal, is an excellent collsction of stuliaes
concerning sixtesath century Quito. Justus Wolfran Schottelius, "Las
FTandaciones de Quito," describing the plan and constr&ction of the city,
fopnd in the aprendix of the work just mentionsd, serves well as a backegrouni

for this study. Federico Gonzflsz Susrez, Historia Eclssilstica del Fcuador
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desde los Tiempos de 1a Conquiste hasta Nuestros Dias, Quito, 1881, is a

sound, comprehensive work. The author based his study upon documewts in
the archives of Quito which he reguantly incorpérates in the work. The
study would be of far more value had the author abided consistently to the

scholarly mechanics reguired today. José Manuel Groot, Historia eulesié&tigk

y civil de Nueva Granada, Bogotd, 1889, (5 volumes), is & more useful and

aunthoratative scclesiastical than political history. Velums I containg much

of importancs to this study. Praston James, Latin Ameriéa, New York, 1942,

is invaluable as a geographical study of the land itself, but it is more
than that. It touches uvon the pertinent political, economic and social
problems throughout the history of Latin America. Roberto Lsvillier, Don

Francisco de Toledo: supremo orgsnizador del Peru, su vida, su obra, 1515~

1582, Madrid, 1535, is & careful, scholarly, well documented work written
by a man who has done much in the field of sixteenth century Peru. Another
¢f Levillier's works that is h2lpfnl, though far less extensive thanhat

cited above,is Sento Torilio Mosgrovejo, arzobispo de 1os reyes (15811678)

organizador de"la igissia sn el virreinato del Peru, Madrid, 1920. Wile

there ig 1ittls to criticize in the matter pr=sented in this work, it is
incomplet2 in as much as the a:thor omitted the various disputes Toribio

tactlessly vrovoked. John Tate Lanning, Academic Culture in the Spanish

_Colonies, New York, 194C, is a collzction of five provocative essays which
Sulpgrize a great deal of res=zarch. Two of these are pertinent to this
study, I, "Transplantation of the Scholastic Univearsity," and II, "Univer-

sity Life and Administration." Woodbury Lowery, The Spanish Ssttlements

within the Present Limits of the United States: Florida 1562-1574, New York,

1905,‘has made use of a tremendous nunber of documsnts, and has been
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referred to in the Florida charter. However, Lowery seems to ignors the
imrlications regerding Menendez' personal rezsons for pursuing hig under-

taking. Leodn M. Loza, Histdria del Obispado y de 1a Catedral de La Paz,

La Paz, 1939, is a careful and accurate study which serves as a background
for the histdry of the early work of the Jesuits in this city. Claments

R. Markhem, History of Peru, Chicago, 13905,4 generzl work, iz not too

raiisble esracially in the brie? treatment of scclesiastical matters, as

has veen noted. Markhaun's Plzarro and the Conques* and Ssttlement of Pary

and Chile, in Justin Winsor, ad., Héfrative and Critical History of America

New Ysrk, 1886, II, is far more relianle. Santisgo Martinez, Governadoras

de @reguipa Colonial, 1539-1825, Araquipa, 1930, is a useful chronclegy

citing the rrincipal events during the various govarnorshifs. A similar

study of Potas{ is found in Bartolomé Martfnez y Vela, Anales de 1a Vills

Tmparial de Potysl, La Paz, 1939, Juan de Matisnzo, Govisrno del Peru,

Puenos Airss, 1217, is & worthvhile stady of the development of important

politiczczl issues in Peru. J. Lloyd d-cham, Church and State in Latin

bmerica, Chanzl Hill, 193, is corcernsd with the colunizl period only as
& background for the latsr yrroblems during rerublican times. The asafnor
dneg not scem thofaughly informsd in regard to sarly Church organizationm;
however his study is competent in as much as he rresents a good deal of
sound factual material. Philip A. Means, Ancient Civilizations of the. -
Aid88 , New York, 1931, offers an oxcillnnt review of the native cultures.
Manuel de Mendiburu, Diccionario histdrico-biogrifia del Peru, Lima, 1874-
1890, (18 volumes), a tremendous work, is & valuable source for this

study and includes primary sources. Fernando Montesinos, Anales del Peru,

Madrid, 1906, I, II, is an suthoratdtive account of the events in Peru




during the latter part of the sixteenth century and the early seventeenth
century. The suthor came to Poru as secretary to the Bishop of Jrujillo
in 1628, and spent much of his time travelling through the land, gather-
ing geographical and historical data. Bernard Moses, Spain Oversess,
New York, 1929, surveys the colonial period in genersl. The author has
studied the field in much detail, and presents his detailed work with a
perspective that merits attention. In his Spanish Colonial Literature
in South America, New York, 1922, four‘cha.pterl dealing with Peruvian,
Chilsan and New Granadan writers &re helpful. Angel Babriel Pérez, El
petronato espafiol en el virreymo del Peru durante el siglo XVI, Tournai,
1937, presents a partinent discussion regarding the patronato espanol

as it should have worked theoretically, and points cut instances where
it impeded rather than assisted in the werk of evangelization. Javier
Prado y Ugarteche, Estado social dsl Peru dggahte la dominacidn espandls,
Lima, 1941, places particular emphasis upon the prominent positions held
by the peninsulares. The author fails to‘_distinguish betwsen the encomi-
enda system as such, and the abuses of the system. Vicente G. Quesada,
La Vida Intelectual en la Amdrica Fspshola durante los Siglos XVI, XVII,
XVIII, Buenos Aires, 1931, is a falr work, dealing generally with the
develorment of the various universities. An extremely satisfactory
economic picture of the colonial situation is found in Emilio Remero,
Histéris Fconomic y Financiera del Peru, Antiguo Peru y Virreynato, Lima,
1937. David Rublo, La Universidad de Sen Marcos de Lima durante la

Colonizacién Fepasiola, Madrid, 1933, includes in his study the attempts

to induce the Society to assume surervision of the university. Although

this 1s a general study it contains many useful statistics. Catlos Silv;l




Cotapos, Historia eclesidstica de Chile, Santiago, 1925, is primarily a
study of the policies and activities of the bishops and is relevint to this

sttdy in its tdPeatment uf the personal- service problem. Rubén Vargsas
Ugarte, 8.J., Historia del Peru Virreinato, 1551-1581, Lima, 1935, is a
survey of the various social, educational and political develovments during
these thirty years. Juan de Velasco, Historia del Reino de Quito, Quito,
1844, (3 volumes), written during the eighteenth century,deals with the
events in sixteenth century Ecuador. It may be whed where the author has
carefully transcribed documents in the body of the work, but much of its
value is doubtful for want of evidence as to sources. Manuel Vicente
Villarin, La Universided de Lima, Los Origines: 1548-1577, Lima, 1938, is
an axcellsant product of exacting research, and is pertinent to the period
when the Jesuits were avoiding the political sntanglements involved in
supervising the university. It gives a clear picture of the difficulties,
economic and political, encountered in founding the center 8f higher edu-~
cation. Augustin de Zarate, History of the Discovery and C st of P
in Robert Kerr, ed., A General History and Collection of Voyages and Traveld
1824, IV, V, written by the treasurer of Peru in 1555, gives a contemvorary
picture of the conquest. Arthur Franklin Zimmerman, Francisco de Toledo,
Fifth Viceroy of Peru, 1569-1581, Caldwell, Idaho, 1938, has cited much
documentary evidence, but in his remarks regarding the Church situatiom,
he relies almost solely uron Toledo's accounts. This biography is neither
as extensive nor as critical as Levillier's.

Three general works which serve as European background for the study

of the educational foundations in the New World are Vicente de Fuente,

Higtdria de 108 Universidades Colegios y demas ... en Espapa, Madrid, 1884-




ot

1889; Albert Hyma, The Christian Renaissance, Grand Rapids, Michigen, 1924;
Henry O3 Tailor, Thoughtaand Expression in the Sixteenth Century,‘New York,

1930.

In order to understand the work of the missionaries it has been nec-
essary to include works pertaining to the natives among whom the Jesults
worked. Clements R. Markam, Narratives of the Rites and Laws of the Tncas,
London, 1878, is a collection of accounts which vary in value. Of these
Father Molina's is among the most reliable. Fhilip A. Means, The Rise and
Fall of the Inca Empire, New York, 1932, gives a general picture of the
social and political situation of the land at the time of the conquest. One
of the most careful archeclogical studies is Erland Nordenskiold, Origin of
the Indian Civilization in South America, Goteborg, 1931. Another egually
scholarly, but less extensive work is Miles Poindsxter, The Azaf Incas, New.
York, 1930.

A less general group of works are those treating the history of the
Society. Antonio Astrain, Histdria de 1a Compafifa de Jesys en la Asistencia
de Espafa, Madrid, 1908-1928, (7 volumes), is indisrensible both for its
well documented narrative and for its numerous printed documents both in the
body of the work and in the appendices. Volumes III and IV were particular-
1y helpful in this study. José Joaquin Borda, Histdria de 1la Compdhia de
Jesus én la Nueva Granadas, Poissy, 1872, collected his material from the
Archivo Nacional, but failed to cite exact refersnces for most of his
material. D. Jos§ R. Carracido, El Padre José de Acoste y su Importancia en
la Literatura C;gmif;ca Esgaﬁ/gla, Madrid, 1899, devotes part of his work

to the narration of Acosta's work in Peru, although the grsater portion

concerns sn appraisal of Acosta as a scientist. Josd’ Cagsini, Histg’ria
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de 1a provincis de le Compafife de Jesus del Nuevo Reyno de Granada, Madrid,
1741 (Photograrhed Prom manuscript at Biblioteca Nacional, Bogota® for

Bancroft Library by James F. King, 1940) deals for the most part with the
developments of the missions following the establishment of the province,
though as background Casshni treats the beginnings in the Peruvian province.
It contains a critical analysis of the sarly Peruvian historiens and chron-
iclers. Francisco Enrich, Histéris de ls Compdn{a de Jesds en Chile,
Barcelona, 1891, I, is of some value for the suthor utilized and quotes
much source material, but unfortunately it is interspersed with lenghhly
and irrelevant comments. OGuillermo Furlong, Los Jesuftas y la Cultura
Rfoplatense, Buenos Aires, 1938, has contributed exacting ressarch to the
study of Jesuit foundations in the Argentine following the founding of the
Paraguayan province. Joaquin Garcfa, Los Jesuitas en Cérdoba, Buenos Aires,
1940, also begins his work, except for a eursory review, with the early
seventeenth century. Joss Jousnen, Histdria de 1a Compefila en la Antigua
Provincia de Quito, 1570-1874, Quito, 1941, Volume I, " La Viceprovincia

de Quito, 1570-1698," is useful in vart, where the suthor inserts primary
sources, but Jouwanen is careless in many of his statements regarding the
first years of the Jesuits in Peru. Pablo Herna'ﬁdez, E]l Fxtranamiento de
Jos Jesuftas del Rfo de 1a Plata y los Misiones del Paragusy vor decreto de
Carlos III, Madrid, 1908, describes the missions as they £1ourished in:the
in the eighteenth century. Josd Gabriel Navarro, WM
en Quito, Madrid, 1930, a careful detalled description of the 8hurch iteelf
which was constructed during the early seventesnth century, treats also

the establishment of the Jesuits from the time of their arrival at Quito.




Serafim Leite, Historis ds Companhia de Jesus no Brasil, Lisbon, 1938, I,

and Jesultas do Brasil na Fundacdd da Miss80 do Paraguay, Rome, 1337, are
products of careful, analytical research. In these works, and particularly

in the second, can be seen the beginnings of Jesuit foundations in the New
World and the impetus for expansion into Spanish America. Miguel de
Olivares, Historia de 18 Compaffa de J=sus en Chile, (1593-1736), Santiago,
1874, is useful in dealing with the early problems encountered by the
fathers in Chile. The author had access to much source material and used

it well. Diego Restrepo, Le Compadifa de Jesus en Colombia, Bogota, 1940,

gives & generzl survey plus biographical data and descriptions of the work
of the more prominent Jesuits in the province. It is a workmanlike job.

Mathis Tanner, Societas Jesus usque Ad Sanguinis ... Vitae Prusionem M;litggf

in Buropa, Africa, Asia, et Amsrica, Rome, 1665, contains brief biographies

and descriptions of the deaths of the Jesuit martyrs to about 1640. Ruben

Vargas Ugsrte, Lgs Jesuftas del Peru, (1568-1767), Lima, 1941, is an
#¥%Cellent survey account. The treatment of the initial foundations is
brief, however. Enrfque Torres Saldsmando, Los Antiguos Jesufiss del Peru:
Biografies y apuntes pers su historia, Lima, 1882, is based uron research

from the Archives of Peru, and contzins much relevant material for this
stﬁdy. The work, arranged as a series of biographies, contributes much to
the knowledge of the initial endeavors of the Society in the viceroyalty.

In regard tc the educational curriculum and standards of the founda-
tions established 1n Peru much can be learned By studying the programs of
the coile ges in Furdpe where the Peruvian fathers frequently had been

trained. In this matter T. Corcoran, Renatse Litterse, Dublin, 1927,




Bernard Duhr, Ratio S mlgm et Institutiones Sggg;a.sgicaa Societatis Jesu
per Gem;_sm olim Vigentes, Berlin 1887-1894, in !mm_a_._ie_m
Paedogogicia, (4 volumes), J. B. Herman, Pedagogie des Jesuites su XVI
Siecle, Louvain, 1914, may be consulted. A fine summary of the Jesuit
training and the educational curriculum is found in the first three chapters

of Jerome Vincent Jacobsen, Educational Foundations of the Jesuits in

Sixteenth Century New Spain, Berksley, 1938.
L. Sehmitt, Synopsis Historiae Societatis Jesu, Ratisbon, 1914, con-

tains vital statistics concerning the various provinces.

PERTODICALS

An apyrrecisble amount of primary source niaterial may be located in the
bulletins of the various archives and academys of Latin America. These
have contributed considerably to this study.

The Archivum Historicum Societatis Jesu has several articles of parti-
cular valwe. L. Lopetegue, "San Francisco de Borja y el vlan misional de
San Plo V," (1942), XI, 1-26, shows how close were the aims and methods of
Borgia and the Pope; Felix Zubillaga, "Metodos Migsionales de la Primera
Instrucéidn de San Francisco de Borja para la America Espanidla (1567),"
(1943), XII, 58-88, contains the text of the instructions and an analysis
of them. Podro Vicente Cafiste y Domfnguez, "Potosf Colonial," La Pl.z, 1939,

Biblioteca Bolivians, No. 5, GONtains a physical description of tlie city.
Three scholarly articles pertinent to this study are found in the Boletin
@B Historia y g;gtiggedadés, issued by the Society of Nztional History,
Bogota. Francisco Barrera, "Los Jesuitas Misioneros," September, 1902, I,

63-90, deals with the early missidnary expeditions and with the promimnt

'}
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missions in tie province. E. Posada, "Cronologia de Colombia,® (1909), v,
171-181, is a brief but accurate chronology. Jos& Joaquin Gesrra’ "E1
Seminario de Bogota," (1911), VII, 45-54, gives an account of the schol-
astic requirements and outstanding work eccomplished at this institution
which was under Jesuit direction. Jos%® Gabriel Navarro, "Fundacidn de
Conventos en le América Esrafiol," Boletin de la Academia Nacionsl de Histo-
ris, Quito, (June, 1943), XXIII, 5-55, is helrful in giving an a¥er all
victure of the centers of the various Orders. In this bulletin too, Julio
Tobar Donaso, "El Restablecimiento de la Audiencia de Quito," (June, 1940),
XIX, 5-12, treats the political situation as it was shortly after the
arrival of the fathers in Quito. Jerome V. Jacobsen, "Nuevos Interes por
la Histéria de 10s Jesuitas en los Estados Unidos," Estudios, Buencs Aires,
December, 1936, LV, 401-408, revisws the interest and works of the United

States historians in the fi=ld of Jesuit history. Ruben Vargas Ugarte,

"The First Jesult Mission in Florida," Historicel Record and Studies, (1935),
XXV, 59-148, is a scholarly tre:tment of the subject. Alfredo Chavero,
"Povar ... Nota sobre los PP. José Acosta y Juan de Tovar," Musso Nacional
de Arguilogia histérie y ethnogrifia Ansles, Mexico, X, 242-246, is an
interesting arrvraisal of Acosta's history in which Chavero contends that thc*
section of Acosta's work which desls with New Svain is for the most part thﬁ
work of Tovar. There is evidence which might 1cad one to susvect that: -
Tovar at least assistéd Acosta. In the Revista del Archivo Nacional,
Bogot&, III, 151-155, 18 a copy of the "Real Cedula sobre fundscicn del
Colegio de San Bartolome, 30 de diciembre de 1602." Domingo Angulo, ¥WDocu-

mentos sobre los antiguos colegios de caciques, Fundacionss, Provisiones,




Constituciones, etc., " Revista del Archivo Nacional d=1 Perun, (1920-1942)

9

I, (1920), 339-372, includes rrimary materisl on the foundation ;; the
Cuzco colegios. A chronology of the Arequira colegio is found in "Histéria
del colegio de la Gomranfa de Josus de la ciudad de Arequiéa," Revista de
archivos y bibliotecas necionales, (1900), IV, 405-423, with a summary of
the friction between Toledo and the colégio. Regnineldo de Liazarraga,

"Descripcién y poblacion de las Indias de 108 prelados eclesissticos del

reino del Peru...," Revista Historico de Lima, (1907), II, 26-39, is the
report given the viceroy, Toledo, during his tour of insrection. Enrique
Torres Saldamendo, "El Primero y el Ultimo Provincial de la Compefifa de

Jesds en el Peru," Revista Historico: Prgano del Instituto His:orico del

Pory, (1908), I, 445-465, concerns Portillo and the early foundations in
Lima commenced during his provincialate. Torres Saldamando devotes another
article in this bulletinAto the study of Renifo, one of the chief contri-
butors to the Colegio M&ximo, entitled, "Un Filamtropo," (1908), III, 307-
313. Carlos A. Romero, "E1 Padre Pablo Josevh de Arriaga," Revistas
Histdrica: Orgeno del Instituto Historico del Pern, (1918), VI, 277-284, is
& TiNe critical study qf Arriaga's history and a survey of the work of the
Father as rector at San Pedro y San Pablo. John Tate Lanning, "Los
universidades coloniales de Hispano-America en el desarrollo cultural y

politico del Nuevo Mando,” Revista de la Universidad de Cirdoba, (1931),

XVIII, 17, reviews the effect of the wmiversitiss upon the colonial culture}
Another commentsry on Acosta was iassued in the annual Bulletin of the
Nacional University of La Plata, editéd by the faculty of humanities anil

sciences: "El Valor Testimonizl de cusatro cronistas Americanos, Funes,
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Fuis Dfaz, Las Casas, y Acosta," Buenos Apires, 1929. Alfredo R. Martins,
"Caminhos historicos do Paramd," Cincocentario da Fstrada de Ferr$ do
Parang, Curitaba, 1935, discusses the jungle road lesding from Asuncion to
the coast of Brazil. A series of scholarly articles h=s besn published
regsrding the Jesuit beginnings in Brazil in Mid-America. The significance
of the Brazilian beginnings in relation to the foundations of Spanish
America has already been discussed. Included in this series afe two by
Jerome V. Jacobsen, "Jssuit Founders in Portugal and Brazil," (Januery,
1942), XXIV, 1-26, and "Nébrege of Brazil," (July, 1942), XXIV, 151-187,
and three by J. Mamuel Espinosa, "Luis da Gra, Mission Builder and Educator
of Brazil," XXIV, 188-216: "Gouveia: Jesuit Lawgiver in Brazil," (Jamuary,
1942), XXIV, 27-60; "Fernao Cardim: Jesuit Humenist of Colonial Brazil,"
(October, 1942), XXIV, 252-271. Another article found in this review
trezts the work of the Jesuits in Chib2: Beatrice Blum, "Luis de Valdivia,

Defender of the Araucanians," (1942), X¥YIV, 109-137.
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